

EVELYN MINOR-LAWRENCE Director

### **DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN RESOURCES**

2051 KAEN ROAD, STE 310 | OREGON CITY, OR 97045

**PUBLIC SERVICES BUILDING** 

March 14, 2019

Board of County Commissioners Clackamas County

Members of the Board:

# Approval of the Labor Contract Between The County of Clackamas and the <u>AFSCME Department of Transportation and Development & Business and Community Services</u> (AFSCME-DTD/BCS)

Purpose/Outcomes	Settlement of labor contract
<b>Dollar Amount and</b>	
Fiscal Impact (for the life of the contract)	\$1,976,723
Funding Source	General Fund
Duration	Upon Ratification 2019 – June 30, 2021
Previous Board	January 15, 2019 - Executive Session
Action	
Strategic Plan	Build public trust through good government.
Alignment	
Contact Person	Eric Sarha, Deputy HR Director 503-655-8292
Contract No.	N/A

### BACKGROUND:

Clackamas County and AFSCME-DTD entered into bargaining for a new contract on June 14, 2018. The County and AFSCME-DTD held ten (10) bargaining sessions and three (3) mediation sessions. On January 22, 2019, AFSCME-DTD agreed to present the County's Last, Best, Final Offer to its members for vote. On February 13, 2019, AFSCME-DTD's ratification vote successfully passed. The agreement that was ratified by the Union is attached.

The significant wage and other economic changes are outlined below:

### Cost of Living Adjustment (COLA)

In years two and three, the floor of the cost of living increase was reduced from 2% to 0%. The ceiling remains the same.

- For fiscal year 2018-19, 2.8%. In lieu of retroactive pay, employees will receive a onetime lump sum payment based on gross earnings for the period of July 1, 2018 to the first full pay period after the effective date of ratification.
- For fiscal year 2019-20, 0%-4.5% based on CPI-W: West Urban Annual Average effective July 1, 2019. For fiscal year 2019-20 (year 2) the Index has published a 3.5% cost of living increase and has been factored into the fiscal impact.
- For fiscal year 2020-21, 0%-4.5% based on CPI-W: West Urban Annual Average effective July 1, 2020. *Projected 3.0% cost of living increase for year three has been assumed and factored into the fiscal impact.*

### **Other Wage Increases**

- Ferry Operator Lead Pay (new): Employees assigned lead worker responsibilities will receive premium pay of \$1.00 per hour. (\$2080/yr.)
- Emergency Shift Pay: Increased Emergency Shift Pay from \$1.50/hr. to \$1.75/hr. (\$507/yr.)
- Shift Differential (new): Mechanics whose regularly scheduled shift begins after 3:00 p.m. will receive a shift differential of \$1.50 per hour for all hours worked during their shift. (\$9360/yr.)
- Bilingual Pay (new): When a second language is required as a condition for holding a particular position, employee will receive an additional 5% of base hourly rate to be added to employee's regular salary.

### **RECOMMENDATION:**

Staff recommends the Board approve the attached contract for AFSCME Department of Transportation and Development / Business and Community Services (AFSCME-DTD/BCS) 2015 - 2018.

Respectfully submitted,

rence

Evelyn Minor Lawrence, DES Director

# 2019 – 2021 AGREEMENT Between



# COUNTY

# and

CLACKAMAS COUNTY, OREGON PUBLIC EMPLOYEES DTD/BCS CHAPTER OF LOCAL NO. 350, AFSCME, AFL-CIO

# **Table of Contents**

PREAMBLE			
ARTICLE 1 - DEFINITIONS			
1.	EMERGENCY.		
2.	SUPERVISORY EMPLOYEE.		
3.	CONFIDENTIAL EMPLOYEE.		
4.	REGULAR EMPLOYEE.		
5.	REGULAR PART-TIME EMPLOYEE		
6.	TEMPORARY EMPLOYEE		
7.	SEASONAL EMPLOYEE.		
8.	EXEMPT EMPLOYEE.		
9.	LIMITED TERM EMPLOYEE.		
10.	SHOP STEWARDS		
	LE 2 - RECOGNITION		
	LE 3 - PRESERVATION OF PUBLIC RIGHTS		
ARTIC	LE 4 – UNION RIGHTS	10	
1.	UNION ORIENTATION	10	
2.	UNION OFFICIAL TIME.	10	
3.	BULLETIN BOARDS		
4.	VISITS BY UNION REPRESENTATIVES		
5.	NEGOTIATING SESSIONS		
6.	AGREEMENT PUBLICATION COSTS.		
7.	EDUCATION AND TRAINING		
8.	LABOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE.		
9.	ELECTRONIC MAIL & INTRANET.		
10.	TEMPORARY EMPLOYMENT WITH THE UNION LUNCH AND LEARNS		
11.	LUNCH AND LEARNS		
	LE 6 - P.E.O.P.L.E.		
	LE 7 - HOURS OF WORK		
12.	REGULAR HOURS.	15	
12.	WORK WEEK		
13. 14.	WORK DAY		
14.	WORK DAT		
16.	CONTINUOUS OPERATIONS.		
10.	SHIFT PREFERENCE.		
18.	REST PERIODS.		
19.	MEAL PERIODS		
20.	CLEANUP TIME.	18	
21.	EMERGENCY WORK SHIFT		
22.	CONTINUOUS WORK SHIFT	18	
ARTICLE 8 - HOLIDAYS			
1.	HOLIDAYS	19	
2.	HOLIDAY PAY.		
3.	WEEKEND HOLIDAYS.		
4.	HOLIDAY DURING LEAVE.	20	
5.	HOLIDAY WORK.		
ARTICLE 9 - SICK LEAVE			

1.	ACCRUAL.	
2.	IMMEDIATE FAMILY	
3.	UNUSED SICK LEAVE AT THE TIME OF RETIREMENT	21
4.	USE OF SICK LEAVE.	
5.	PHYSICIAN'S STATEMENT.	21
	LE 10 - VACATION LEAVE	22
ANTO		
1.	ACCRUAL	22
2.	ACCRUAL FOR REGULAR PART-TIME EMPLOYEES.	23
3.	VACATION TIMES	
4.	TERMINATION OR DEATH	23
ARTIC	LE 11 - OTHER LEAVES	24
1.	GENERAL PROCEDURE FOR LEAVES OF ABSENCE.	24
1. 2.	JURY DUTY.	
3.	UNION BUSINESS.	
<i>4</i> .	PARENTAL LEAVE	
5.	FAMILY MEDICAL LEAVE.	
<i>5</i> . 6.	LEAVE DONATION PROGRAM	
7.	EDUCATIONAL LEAVE.	
7. 8.	MILITARY AND OTHER SERVICE LEAVES.	
o. 9.	COMPASSIONATE LEAVE.	
ARTIC	LE 12 - HEALTH AND WELFARE	26
1.	MEDICAL-COVERAGE.	26
1. 2.	FLEXIBLE BENEFITS.	
3.	LIFE INSURANCE.	
4.	DENTAL INSURANCE.	
5.	DISABILITY INCOME INSURANCE.	
6.	POSTHUMOUS BENEFITS.	
7.	FULL-TIME EMPLOYEES.	
8.	BENEFITS FOR REGULAR PART-TIME AND JOB SHARE EMPLOYEES.	
9.	BENEFIT WAITING PERIOD	
10.	BENEFITS REVIEW COMMITTEE	27
11.	PLAN CHANGES REQUIRED BY LAW OR INSURANCE CARRIER.	28
12.	HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT ACCOUNT (HRA)	28
13.	DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN	29
ARTIC	LE 13 - WORKERS COMPENSATION	30
1.	COVERAGE	20
1. 2.	COVERAGE COMPENSATION PAYMENT	
ARTIC	LE 14 – WAGES	
1.	WAGES AND CLASSIFICATION SCHEDULE.	
2.	LONGEVITY PAYMENT.	31
3.	OUT OF CLASS WORK.	32
4.	PERS/OPSRP PAYMENT.	33
5.	PREMIUM PAY	33
6.	REPORTING TIME.	33
7.	CALL-IN TIME. (ROAD, BRIDGE, PARKS AND TRAFFIC MAINTENANCE)	
8.	CALL-IN TIME. (BUILDING CODES DIVISION)	
9.	STANDBY PAY.	
10.	SHIFT TRANSITION.	
11.	OVERTIME	
11.	EXCEPTIONS	
12.	DISTRIBUTION.	
	COMPENSATORY TIME OFF.	
14.	PAY FOR ACCUMULATED COMPENSATORY TIME	
15.		
16.	TRAVEL PAY	

17.	PORTAL TO PORTAL PAY	
18.	PAY DAY	
19.	INSPECTORS.	
20.	FERRY OPERATOR LEADWORKER PAY.	
21.	COMPUTATION OF HOURLY RATE.	
22.	EMERGENCY SHIFT PAY	
23.	SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL.	
24.	RECLASSIFICATION/PCQ REVIEW.	
25.	BILINGUAL PAY	39
ARTIC	LE 15 - JOB SHARE	40
1.	DEFINITION	40
2.	DETERMINATION.	
3.	PROBATIONARY PERIOD.	
4.	MERIT INCREASES AND PERFORMANCE APPRAISALS.	
5.	LONGEVITY.	
6.	VACATION LEAVE AND SICK LEAVE	40
7.	HOLIDAYS.	
8.	HEALTH AND WELFARE.	
9.	LAYOFF	
ARTIC	LE 16 - FERRY OPERATORS	
1.	REGULAR FULL TIME.	
2.	WORK WEEK	
3.	WORK ASSIGNMENT	
4.	OVERTIME.	
5.	FERRY WORK SHIFT.	
6.	PERMANENT PLACE OF REPORTING	42
ARTIC	LE 17 - PERSONNEL RECORDS AND INFORMATION	43
ARTIC	LE 18 - DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE	44
1.	EMPLOYEES SUBJECT TO DISCIPLINARY ACTION.	44
1. 2.	EMPLOYEES SUBJECT TO DISCIPLINARY ACTION. REPRIMANDS SUBJECT TO APPEAL.	44 44
1.	EMPLOYEES SUBJECT TO DISCIPLINARY ACTION REPRIMANDS SUBJECT TO APPEAL MANNER OF REPRIMAND	44 44 44
1. 2. 3. 4.	EMPLOYEES SUBJECT TO DISCIPLINARY ACTION. REPRIMANDS SUBJECT TO APPEAL. MANNER OF REPRIMAND. PREDISMISSAL HEARING.	44 44 44 44
1. 2. 3.	EMPLOYEES SUBJECT TO DISCIPLINARY ACTION. REPRIMANDS SUBJECT TO APPEAL. MANNER OF REPRIMAND. PREDISMISSAL HEARING. PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEE GRIEVANCE.	44 44 44 44 44
1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6.	EMPLOYEES SUBJECT TO DISCIPLINARY ACTION. REPRIMANDS SUBJECT TO APPEAL. MANNER OF REPRIMAND. PREDISMISSAL HEARING. PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEE GRIEVANCE. ELECTRONIC RECORDINGS/DATA	44 44 44 44 44 44
1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. <b>ARTIC</b>	EMPLOYEES SUBJECT TO DISCIPLINARY ACTION. REPRIMANDS SUBJECT TO APPEAL. MANNER OF REPRIMAND. PREDISMISSAL HEARING. PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEE GRIEVANCE. ELECTRONIC RECORDINGS/DATA.	44 44 44 44 44 44 46
1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. ARTIC ARTIC	EMPLOYEES SUBJECT TO DISCIPLINARY ACTION. REPRIMANDS SUBJECT TO APPEAL. MANNER OF REPRIMAND. PREDISMISSAL HEARING. PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEE GRIEVANCE. ELECTRONIC RECORDINGS/DATA LE 19 – SENIORITY	44 44 44 44 44 46 47
1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. ARTIC ARTIC	EMPLOYEES SUBJECT TO DISCIPLINARY ACTION. REPRIMANDS SUBJECT TO APPEAL. MANNER OF REPRIMAND. PREDISMISSAL HEARING. PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEE GRIEVANCE. ELECTRONIC RECORDINGS/DATA LE 19 – SENIORITY. LE 20 – RECRUITMENT LE 21 – LAYOFF.	44 44 44 44 44 44 46 47 48
1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. ARTIC ARTIC ARTIC 1.	EMPLOYEES SUBJECT TO DISCIPLINARY ACTION. REPRIMANDS SUBJECT TO APPEAL. MANNER OF REPRIMAND. PREDISMISSAL HEARING. PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEE GRIEVANCE. ELECTRONIC RECORDINGS/DATA. LE 19 – SENIORITY. LE 20 – RECRUITMENT LE 21 – LAYOFF	44 44 44 44 44 46 47 48
1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. <b>ARTIC</b> <b>ARTIC</b> <b>ARTIC</b> 1. 2.	EMPLOYEES SUBJECT TO DISCIPLINARY ACTION. REPRIMANDS SUBJECT TO APPEAL. MANNER OF REPRIMAND. PREDISMISSAL HEARING. PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEE GRIEVANCE. ELECTRONIC RECORDINGS/DATA LE 19 – SENIORITY. LE 20 – RECRUITMENT LE 21 – LAYOFF NOTIFICATION. LAYOFF ORDER AND BUMPING RIGHTS.	44 44 44 44 44 46 47 48 48 48
1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. ARTIC ARTIC ARTIC 1.	EMPLOYEES SUBJECT TO DISCIPLINARY ACTION. REPRIMANDS SUBJECT TO APPEAL. MANNER OF REPRIMAND. PREDISMISSAL HEARING. PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEE GRIEVANCE. ELECTRONIC RECORDINGS/DATA. LE 19 – SENIORITY. LE 20 – RECRUITMENT. LE 21 – LAYOFF	44 44 44 44 44 44 46 47 48 48 48
1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. <b>ARTIC</b> <b>ARTIC</b> <b>ARTIC</b> 1. 2. 3. 4.	EMPLOYEES SUBJECT TO DISCIPLINARY ACTION. REPRIMANDS SUBJECT TO APPEAL. MANNER OF REPRIMAND. PREDISMISSAL HEARING. PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEE GRIEVANCE. ELECTRONIC RECORDINGS/DATA. LE 19 – SENIORITY. LE 20 – RECRUITMENT. LE 21 – LAYOFF	44 44 44 44 44 46 46 47 48 48 48 48
1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. <b>ARTIC</b> <b>ARTIC</b> <b>ARTIC</b> 1. 2. 3. 4. 5.	EMPLOYEES SUBJECT TO DISCIPLINARY ACTION. REPRIMANDS SUBJECT TO APPEAL. MANNER OF REPRIMAND. PREDISMISSAL HEARING. PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEE GRIEVANCE. ELECTRONIC RECORDINGS/DATA LE 19 – SENIORITY. LE 20 – RECRUITMENT LE 21 – LAYOFF	44 44 44 44 44 46 46 47 48 48 48 48 48 48 48
1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. <b>ARTIC</b> <b>ARTIC</b> <b>ARTIC</b> 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6.	EMPLOYEES SUBJECT TO DISCIPLINARY ACTION. REPRIMANDS SUBJECT TO APPEAL. MANNER OF REPRIMAND. PREDISMISSAL HEARING. PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEE GRIEVANCE. ELECTRONIC RECORDINGS/DATA. LE 19 – SENIORITY. LE 20 – RECRUITMENT. LE 21 – LAYOFF. NOTIFICATION. LAYOFF ORDER AND BUMPING RIGHTS. EXCEPTION TO LAYOFF ORDER. QUALIFICATIONS FOR BUMPING. OPTIONS FOR LAID OFF EMPLOYEES. TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES.	44 44 44 44 44 46 46 47 48 48 48 48 48 48 49 49
1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. <b>ARTIC</b> <b>ARTIC</b> <b>ARTIC</b> 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. 7.	EMPLOYEES SUBJECT TO DISCIPLINARY ACTION. REPRIMANDS SUBJECT TO APPEAL. MANNER OF REPRIMAND. PREDISMISSAL HEARING. PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEE GRIEVANCE. ELECTRONIC RECORDINGS/DATA. LE 19 – SENIORITY. LE 20 – RECRUITMENT LE 21 – LAYOFF	44 44 44 44 44 46 46 48 48 48 48 48 48 48 49 49 49
1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. <b>ARTIC</b> <b>ARTIC</b> <b>ARTIC</b> 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. 7. 8.	EMPLOYEES SUBJECT TO DISCIPLINARY ACTION. REPRIMANDS SUBJECT TO APPEAL. MANNER OF REPRIMAND. PREDISMISSAL HEARING. PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEE GRIEVANCE. ELECTRONIC RECORDINGS/DATA LE 19 – SENIORITY. LE 20 – RECRUITMENT LE 21 – LAYOFF NOTIFICATION. LAYOFF ORDER AND BUMPING RIGHTS. EXCEPTION TO LAYOFF ORDER. QUALIFICATIONS FOR BUMPING. OPTIONS FOR LAID OFF EMPLOYEES. TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES. PAY RATES. LAYOFF REGISTERS.	44 44 44 44 44 44 46 48 48 48 48 48 48 48 49 49 49 49
1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. <b>ARTIC</b> <b>ARTIC</b> <b>ARTIC</b> 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. 7. 8. 9.	EMPLOYEES SUBJECT TO DISCIPLINARY ACTION. REPRIMANDS SUBJECT TO APPEAL. MANNER OF REPRIMAND. PREDISMISSAL HEARING. PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEE GRIEVANCE. ELECTRONIC RECORDINGS/DATA LE 19 – SENIORITY. LE 20 – RECRUITMENT LE 21 – LAYOFF NOTIFICATION. LAYOFF ORDER AND BUMPING RIGHTS. EXCEPTION TO LAYOFF ORDER. QUALIFICATIONS FOR BUMPING. OPTIONS FOR LAID OFF EMPLOYEES. TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES. PAY RATES. LAYOFF REGISTERS. RECALL.	44 44 44 44 44 44 46 48 48 48 48 48 48 48 49 49 49 49 49 49 49 49 49
1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. <b>ARTIC</b> <b>ARTIC</b> <b>ARTIC</b> 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. 7. 8. 9. 10.	EMPLOYEES SUBJECT TO DISCIPLINARY ACTION. REPRIMANDS SUBJECT TO APPEAL. MANNER OF REPRIMAND. PREDISMISSAL HEARING. PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEE GRIEVANCE. ELECTRONIC RECORDINGS/DATA. LE 19 – SENIORITY. LE 20 – RECRUITMENT LE 21 – LAYOFF	44 44 44 44 44 46 46 48 48 48 48 48 48 48 49 49 49 49 49 49 49 49 50
1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. <b>ARTIC</b> <b>ARTIC</b> <b>ARTIC</b> 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. 7. 8. 9. 10.	EMPLOYEES SUBJECT TO DISCIPLINARY ACTION. REPRIMANDS SUBJECT TO APPEAL. MANNER OF REPRIMAND. PREDISMISSAL HEARING. PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEE GRIEVANCE. ELECTRONIC RECORDINGS/DATA LE 19 – SENIORITY. LE 20 – RECRUITMENT LE 21 – LAYOFF NOTIFICATION. LAYOFF ORDER AND BUMPING RIGHTS. EXCEPTION TO LAYOFF ORDER. QUALIFICATIONS FOR BUMPING. OPTIONS FOR LAID OFF EMPLOYEES. TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES. PAY RATES. LAYOFF REGISTERS. RECALL.	44 44 44 44 44 46 46 48 48 48 48 48 48 48 49 49 49 49 49 49 49 49 50
1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. <b>ARTIC</b> <b>ARTIC</b> <b>ARTIC</b> 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. 7. 8. 9. 10.	EMPLOYEES SUBJECT TO DISCIPLINARY ACTION. REPRIMANDS SUBJECT TO APPEAL. MANNER OF REPRIMAND. PREDISMISSAL HEARING. PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEE GRIEVANCE. ELECTRONIC RECORDINGS/DATA <b>LE 19 – SENIORITY</b> . <b>LE 20 – RECRUITMENT</b> <b>LE 21 – LAYOFF</b> NOTIFICATION. LAYOFF ORDER AND BUMPING RIGHTS. EXCEPTION TO LAYOFF ORDER. QUALIFICATIONS FOR BUMPING. OPTIONS FOR LAID OFF EMPLOYEES. TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES. PAY RATES. LAYOFF REGISTERS. RECALL. MANAGEMENT/CONFIDENTIAL EMPLOYEES. <b>LE 22 - SETTLEMENT OF DISPUTES</b> . GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURE.	44 44 44 44 44 46 46 46 47 48 48 48 48 48 48 49 49 49 49 49 50 50 52
1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. <b>ARTIC</b> <b>ARTIC</b> <b>ARTIC</b> 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. 7. 8. 9. 10. <b>ARTIC</b>	EMPLOYEES SUBJECT TO DISCIPLINARY ACTION. REPRIMANDS SUBJECT TO APPEAL. MANNER OF REPRIMAND. PREDISMISSAL HEARING. PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEE GRIEVANCE. ELECTRONIC RECORDINGS/DATA LE 19 – SENIORITY. LE 20 – RECRUITMENT LE 21 – LAYOFF NOTIFICATION. LAYOFF ORDER AND BUMPING RIGHTS. EXCEPTION TO LAYOFF ORDER. QUALIFICATIONS FOR BUMPING. OPTIONS FOR LAID OFF EMPLOYEES. TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES. PAY RATES. LAYOFF REGISTERS. RECALL MANAGEMENT/CONFIDENTIAL EMPLOYEES. LE 22 - SETTLEMENT OF DISPUTES.	44 44 44 44 44 46 46 46 47 48 48 48 48 48 48 49 49 49 49 49 50 50 52

ARTIC	CLE 24 - GENERAL PROVISIONS	
1. 2.	NO DISCRIMINATION EXISTING CONDITIONS	
2. 3.	RULES.	
4.	PROTECTIVE CLOTHING	
5.	TOOL REPLACEMENT/ALLOWANCE	55
6.	LAUNDERING FEES.	
7.	CDL AND FERRY OPERATOR'S LICENSE – PHYSICAL EXAMINATION	
ARTICLE 25 - DRIVER/OPERATOR LICENSE SUSPENSION POLICY		
1.	LICENSE SUSPENSION POLICY.	
2.	ALCOHOL AND DRUG ABUSE ASSISTANCE POLICY	
ARTICLE 26 - SAVINGS CLAUSE		
ARTIC	LE 27 – OVER/UNDER PAYMENTS	
ARTIC	LE 28 – TRANSPORTATION MAINTENANCE SERIES	64
ARTICLE 29 – DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING POLICY		
ARTICLE 30 - TERM OF AGREEMENT		
APPENDIX A		
EXC	CEPTIONS TO THE FOUR DAY WORK WEEK	67

# AGREEMENT

### Between

### **CLACKAMAS COUNTY, OREGON**

### and

### CLACKAMAS COUNTY, OREGON, PUBLIC EMPLOYEES'

# **DTD/BCS CHAPTER OF**

### LOCAL #350-0, AFSCME, AFL-CIO

### July 1, 2018 through June 30, 2021

# PREAMBLE

This agreement is entered into by Clackamas County, Oregon, hereinafter referred to as the County, and Local #350-0, affiliated with Council 75 of the American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees, AFL-CIO, hereinafter referred to as the Union. Both parties recognize a preeminent mutual objective of providing efficient, high quality public service for the citizens of Clackamas County.

The parties agree as follows:

# **ARTICLE 1 - DEFINITIONS**

# 1. EMERGENCY.

An unforeseen circumstance or a combination of circumstances which, in the opinion of the County, calls for immediate action.

# 2. SUPERVISORY EMPLOYEE.

As defined in Oregon Revised Statute 243.650.

# 3. CONFIDENTIAL EMPLOYEE.

As defined in Oregon Revised Statute 243.650.

# 4. REGULAR EMPLOYEE.

Any employee who has a position in the classified service in accordance with the rules governing regular appointments and who has successfully completed their probationary period.

# 5. REGULAR PART-TIME EMPLOYEE.

Any regular employee who works less than full time but works 20 or more hours per week.

# 6. TEMPORARY EMPLOYEE.

Any non-regular employee appointed to a position of six (6) months duration or less. At the time of hire of any temporary employee, the County shall notify the Union of the temporary employee and the employee's beginning and ending dates of employment.

However, any temporary employee, other than a seasonal employee as defined in Section 7 below, who works greater than half time in excess of six (6) continuous months or six (6) months total in any twelve (12) month period, shall be recognized by the Union and the County as an employee with certain rights. Those rights are as set forth in this paragraph only. These rights are as follows: Accrued vacation pursuant to Article 10 (Vacation Leave), Section 2 and sick leave pursuant to Article 9 (Sick Leave), Section 1. The provisions of this definition may be amended by mutual agreement of both parties.

# 7. SEASONAL EMPLOYEE.

Any employee specifically hired to perform common labor outdoors which can be done only during periods of favorable weather. Seasonal employees work only during the period of March 1st through December 31st of any calendar year, unless otherwise mutually agreed to by the County and the Union. At the time of hire of any seasonal employee, the Union shall be notified. (Seasonal employees are employed by the Parks Department, Roads Division, Bridge Section, Maintenance Shops and Traffic Sections.)

# 8. EXEMPT EMPLOYEE.

Any employee working less than half time.

# 9. LIMITED TERM EMPLOYEE.

Any employee appointed to a position designated by mutual agreement between the County and the Union as a "limited term" position. Limited term appointments shall not exceed two years. Limited term employees are covered by all provisions of this bargaining agreement except Article 19 (Seniority) and Article 21 (Layoff). At the time of hire of any limited term employee, the County shall notify the Union of the limited term employee and the employee's beginning and ending dates of employment.

# 10. SHOP STEWARDS.

Employees selected by the Union to act as Union representatives shall be known as "stewards." The names of employees selected as stewards and the names of other Union representatives who may represent employees shall be certified in writing to the County by the Union.

# **ARTICLE 2 - RECOGNITION**

The County recognizes the Union as the sole and exclusive collective bargaining agent for the purpose of establishing salaries, wages, hours and other conditions of employment for all Local 350-0 represented employees of the County Department of Transportation and Development and Business and Community Services except temporary employees, seasonal employees, exempt employees and employees who, because of their supervisory or confidential status, do not have statutory bargaining rights.

# **ARTICLE 3 - PRESERVATION OF PUBLIC RIGHTS**

The Union recognizes that an area of responsibility must be reserved to the County if County government is to effectively serve the public. Therefore, the County shall have the full and complete right to manage and to direct its business and it is recognized that the following responsibilities of management are exclusively functions to be exercised by the County and are not subject to negotiation insofar as this right does not affect the meaning, interpretation or application of any other terms of this Agreement:

- 1. The determination of the governmental services to be rendered to the citizens of Clackamas County.
- 2. The determination of the County's financial, budgetary and account procedures.
- 3. The management and direction of the work force including, but not limited to, the right to determine the methods, processes and manner of performing work; the right to hire, promote, transfer within the same pay range and retain employees; the right to discipline or discharge for proper cause; the right to lay off for lack of funds; the right to abolish positions or reorganize the sections or divisions; the right to determine schedules of work; the right to purchase, dispose and assign equipment or supplies; and the right to contract or subcontract any work.
- 4. The right in times of financial exigency to lay off or reduce the work week with corresponding wage reduction, or furlough employees without pay after giving the Union at least 15 working days' notice of the intended action. The reduction in work week or furloughing of employees shall not result in a loss of insurance benefits provided under Article 12 (Health and Welfare) or sick and vacation leave accrual.
- 5. Vacation, sick leave, or compensatory time off may not be used outside a reduced work week or during a furlough period. The County shall be required to dismiss any temporary employee performing similar type work prior to furloughing any regular, provisional or probationary employee.

The County, in exercise of the above-mentioned functions, will not discriminate against any employee because of their membership in the Union.

# **ARTICLE 4 – UNION RIGHTS**

# 1. UNION ORIENTATION.

The County will notify the Union monthly of all new employees who are members of the bargaining unit. The Union will be allowed to hold one thirty (30) minute meeting on County paid time in total per month to orient all new Union members. One Union member will be allowed work time to lead the orientation process. This orientation meeting will be coordinated with the Department Director or designee with the intent on selecting a time and County location with the least impact on business. Attendance by the employees is voluntary and it is the Union's responsibility to notify the new employee of the meeting time and place.

### 2. UNION OFFICIAL TIME.

Union Officials and Union Stewards may investigate and process grievances during working hours within reasonable limits without loss of pay.

### 3. BULLETIN BOARDS.

The County agrees to furnish and maintain a suitable bulletin board in common areas of facilities where bargaining unit employees are based to be used by the Union. The Union shall limit its posting of notices and bulletins to such bulletin boards. The County shall make a good faith effort to post all available County job openings on or before the opening date. The bulletin board shall be official place for such postings. The "Clackamas County Job Opportunities (CCJO)" email traditionally delivered on Thursdays will serve as a proper means of notice under this Article.

All job opening will remain open not less than six (6) calendar days after they have been posted by means of an internal email to all bargaining unit employees or by the Clackamas CCJO email. Job postings may be physically posted at the McCoy building.

# 4. VISITS BY UNION REPRESENTATIVES.

The County agrees that accredited representatives of the Union, whether local Union representatives, District Council representatives, or International representatives, upon proper introduction, may have reasonable access to the premises of the County to investigate working conditions.

# 5. NEGOTIATING SESSIONS.

The Board of County Commissioners or its designee(s) shall meet at mutually convenient times with the Union negotiating committee. All negotiating sessions shall be held on the County's premises. The Union negotiating committee shall consist of not more than four (4) members selected by the Union. The Union shall make a good faith effort to provide a bargaining team that represents the various work groups within the department. Employees participating in Union County negotiation sessions shall be permitted to do so without prejudice to their compensation, subject to advance notice to the County of the nature, purpose and extent of session.

# 6. AGREEMENT PUBLICATION COSTS.

Copies of the Agreement shall be made available to the parties provided that any and all costs and expenses incurred in the publication or duplication of same shall be borne by the Union and County equally.

# 7. EDUCATION AND TRAINING.

The Union and the County will jointly develop training programs for employee training and the upgrading of employee skills.

# 8. LABOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE.

The County and the Union agree to the establishment of a joint labor/management committee. The committee shall meet at least once each quarter and, upon agreement, may meet at any other time. The committee meetings shall be held during working hours, on the County's premises, and without loss of pay. The committee is a vehicle for communication, discuss procedures for avoiding grievances, and to promote harmonious labor/management relations.

The committee shall be comprised of a maximum of six (6) members (equally divided between labor and management). In addition to these members, the Director of Human Resources (or designee) and an AFSCME staff representative may participate in the discussions and decisions. Management and the Union will appoint their respective members, hopefully, in a manner which is representative of the bargaining unit as a whole.

# 9. ELECTRONIC MAIL & INTRANET.

Union representatives may use the County email system to communicate concerning collective bargaining matters. "Collective bargaining matters" means any of the following:

- A. Official Union announcements to the Union membership (such as meeting subjects, dates and times);
- B. the meaning, interpretation or application of this Agreement;
- C. the presentation and adjustment of grievances under Article 22(Settlement of Disputes) of this Agreement; or
- D. matters directly related to the collective bargaining relationship between the County and the Union.

Union members shall have access to the County email system and may use it to contact Union representatives regarding collective bargaining matters, including any of the following purposes:

- A. To arrange a date, time and location for a meeting concerning the meaning, interpretation or application of this Agreement;
- B. to ask a question regarding meaning, interpretation, or application of this Agreement;

- C. to present a grievance regarding the meaning, interpretation or application of this Agreement;
- D. to request Union representation in matters concerning the meaning, application or interpretation of this Agreement.

It is understood that there is no expectation of confidentiality or privacy concerning communications sent over the County email system, and that the County reserves the right to access and disclose all messages sent over the County email system for any purpose.

The County email system will not be used for political purposes at any time, and this limitation shall override any of the permissible uses of the email system listed above. "Political purposes" shall include matters related to support or opposition to candidates or measures in any election (County elections, union elections, or otherwise).

Employees shall be provided access to the County intranet. The County will provide one (1) computer terminal for every ten (10) regular status employees, per Division.

# 10. TEMPORARY EMPLOYMENT WITH THE UNION.

Upon request of the Union, the County may grant a leave of absence for an employee to engage in temporary employment with the Union. The Union and the County shall enter into a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) that describes the terms and conditions of temporary employment with the Union.

# 11. LUNCH AND LEARNS.

The Employer will support brown bag lunches by the Union by providing space for such lunches, subject to room availability, and by directing supervisors to be flexible with employees' scheduled lunch breaks to allow employee attendance, as work needs allow and in compliance with Article 7 (Hours of Work), Section 2 Flexible Scheduling. Employees may attend such lunches during their non-work time.

# **ARTICLE 5 - UNION DUES**

All employees covered by the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall have the voluntary choice of whether to become members of the Union. The County agrees to deduct dues in an amount determined by the Union from the wages of each employee who chooses to become a member of the Union and provides written authorization to deduct dues. The County agrees to deposit the total amount deducted from all members into an established account designated by the Union, on a monthly basis.

Such uniform amounts as the Union Treasurer certifies to the County as the monthly dues approved by the members of the Union shall remain as the reasonable amount to be deducted hereunder.

Employees terminating with less than ten (10) working days in any calendar month will not be subject to dues deduction.

Employees who are current members of the Union at the signing of this agreement or who sign a Union membership card subsequent to the signing of this agreement shall maintain their Union membership; however there shall be a five (5) day window period each year during which the employee may drop their membership without penalty by contacting the Union. The five (5) day window period shall commence on August 1<sup>st</sup> of each year.

The County will not be held liable for checkoff errors, but will make proper adjustments with the Union for errors as soon as is practicable if notified within ten (10) days of the error. In no case shall such an adjustment extend beyond the following pay period. In order for both parties to have adequate information on dues checkoff, an updated list of eligible members of the bargaining unit will be delivered to the Union. Such list shall include all members paying dues in the previous pay period.

The Union agrees to indemnify and hold the County harmless from and against any and all claims, suits, orders or judgments brought against the County as a result of the County's compliance with the provisions of this Article and to reimburse any fees, costs or expenses incurred by the County in connection with the same.

The County shall furnish monthly to the Union an electronic list of new employees who have accepted positions represented by the Union along with anticipated start dates. The list shall contain the name, job title, employee identification number, address, phone number, department, and monthly salary.

# ARTICLE 6 - P.E.O.P.L.E.

# (PUBLIC EMPLOYEES ORGANIZED TO PROMOTE LEGISLATIVE EQUALITY)

- 1. The County agrees to make payroll deductions from the pay of those employees who request, in writing, to deduct from their earnings regular payroll deductions in such amounts authorized by the employee to be paid to the Treasurer of the National Public Employees Organized to Promote Legislative Equality (PEOPLE) Committee.
- 2. The County shall remit the aggregate deductions of all employees, together with an itemized statement showing the name and employee I.D. number of each employee from whose pay deductions have been made and the amount deducted during the period covered by the remittance, to the Treasurer of the PEOPLE Committee, AFSCME COUNCIL NO. 75, Salem, Oregon.
- 3. All PEOPLE contributions shall be voluntary and may be revoked at any time by giving written notice to the Union and the County. It is expressly understood that PEOPLE contributions are not required as a condition of employment.
- 4. The Union shall indemnify and save the County harmless against any and all claims, damages, suits or other forms of liability which may arise out of any action taken or not taken by the County for the purpose of complying with the provisions of this Article.

# ARTICLE 7 - HOURS OF WORK

# 12. REGULAR HOURS.

The regular hours of work each day shall be consecutive except for interruptions for rest periods, meal periods, and emergencies.

### 13. WORK WEEK.

The usual work week will be Monday through Friday, except when necessary for scheduling of services provided to the public or for employees in continuous operations. Each employee will have a consistent regular or alternative work schedule defined in the County timekeeping system. Employees shall have two (2) consecutive, regularly scheduled days off during each seven-day work period except during shift rotations.

# **Regular Schedule:**

Consists of five (5) consecutive eight (8) hour days, four (4) consecutive ten (10) hour days, or a 9-80 work schedule which normally is worked on a two (2) week schedule consisting during the first week of four (4) nine (9) hour days and one (1) eight (8) hour day, followed by two (2) consecutive days off, and then the second week consisting of four (4) nine (9) hour days followed by three (3) consecutive days off. For purposes of a 9-80 schedule, the work week will be defined from 12:00 p.m. on Friday to 11:59 a.m. the following Friday.

Regular schedules are assigned by the County in accordance with Article 3 (Preservation of Public Rights).

<u>Paid Holiday Value:</u> 8 [for a five (5) day work week], 10 [for a four (4) day work week], or 9 [for a 9-80 schedule].

<u>Daily OT Threshold:</u> 8 [for a five (5) day work week], 10 [for a four (4) day work week], or 9 [for a 9-80 schedule].

# Alternate Schedule:

The County and the Union recognize that in order to adequately serve the public or to meet employee personal needs, the employee and supervisor may agree to an alternative schedule, provided that: (a) the agreed upon schedule is consistent with the needs of the County; (b) the schedule does not establish a work day that is less than four (4) hours nor more than ten (10) hours; (c) the schedule has start and end times beginning on the hour or in fifteen (15) minute increments thereafter; (d) the schedule does not establish a work week in excess of 40 hours; and (e) the schedule will be in place thirty (30) days or more. Nothing in this Article shall be construed to supersede the right of management to determine schedules as provided in Article 3 (Preservation of Public Rights).

Examples include and are not limited to:

• One week of five (5) eight (8) hour days, one week of four (4) ten (10) hour days.

Four (4) consecutive days of nine (9) hours each, followed by one day of four (4) hours (40-hour work week).

# Paid Holiday Value

If employee works: 5 days, 40 hours a week, holiday is equal to 8 hours. 4 days, 40 hours a week, holiday is equal to 10 hours.

# **Overtime Threshold**

If employee works:

5 days, 40 hours a week, overtime is paid after 40 hours in a work week. 4 days, 40 hours a week, overtime is paid after 40 hours in a work week.

# Flexible Schedule:

Supervisors may request employees to flex their daily work schedule to meet workload demands. Employees may also request to flex their daily work hours for personal reasons. The purpose of this flexibility is to allow employees, with the prior approval of management, the ability to adjust hours of a work shift. Flexible scheduling must meet the following criteria:

- 1. Employee requests for flexible scheduling must be submitted in writing at least twenty-four hours in advance, unless the County waives said requirement(s).
- 2. Adjustments to hours of work must:
  - a. Not normally exceed four (4) hours;
  - b. Be mutually beneficial to the employee and the County;
  - c. Not negatively affect other employees;
  - d. Not impede customer service or normal work processes;
  - e. Not generate additional labor costs;
  - f. Occur during the same work day or FLSA work week.

Such schedule changes could be more or less than the minimum or maximum hours discussed in the regular or alternative schedules above. These changes in the schedule should be considered occasional and sporadic to meet an immediate or short term need and shall not last more than ten (10) consecutive workdays. It is understood that such agreements will not create an overtime liability for the County unless previously authorized in advance by the supervisor.

As this change to the work schedule is temporary, the value of a paid holiday and the daily overtime threshold will be the same as the employee's base regular or alternative schedule as set in the timekeeping system.

# 14. WORK DAY.

The work day shall consist of the current prevailing consecutive hours of work now scheduled. All employees shall be scheduled to work on a regular work shift, and each shift shall have regular starting and quitting times, except as may be modified by Articles 15 (Job Share) or 16 (Ferry Operators).

### 15. WORK SCHEDULES.

Work schedules showing the employee's shift, work days and hours shall be posted on all department bulletin boards at all times. Work schedules for any work shift shall not be changed unless the changes are posted for fourteen (14) calendar days prior to the change, except for emergency work described in Section 10 and flexible scheduling described in Section 2. The fourteen (14) day notification period may be waived upon mutual agreement by the County and the Union.

# 16. CONTINUOUS OPERATIONS.

Employees engaged in continuous operations are defined as being any employee or group of employees engaged in an operation for which there is regularly scheduled work, seven (7) days a week. The work week for employees engaged in continuous operations shall consist of five (5) consecutive days or four (4) consecutive days, except for split workweeks described in Section 2 above.

# **17. SHIFT PREFERENCE.**

Whenever there is more than one (1) shift within the same job classification, within a division, employees shall be granted, at their request, preference of shift according to their respective seniority within the affected classification in the division. Provided, however, that shift changes may be made only when a vacancy occurs on another shift, and provided further, that the employee is qualified to perform the duties set forth in the classification description for the position on the other shift. Disputes concerning the qualifications of an employee to select a shift may be filed as a grievance in accordance with Article 22 (Settlement of Disputes).

### 18. REST PERIODS.

All employees' work schedules shall provide for a fifteen (15) minute rest period during each one-half (1/2) shift. Rest periods shall be scheduled at the middle of each one-half (1/2) shift whenever reasonable. Employees who, for any reason, work beyond their regular quitting time into the next shift shall receive a fifteen (15) minute rest period before they start to work on the next succeeding shift, when it is anticipated the overtime is expected to extend a minimum of one and one-half (1/2) hours, except as may be modified by Article 15 (Job Share) or Article 16 (Ferry Operators).

# 19. MEAL PERIODS.

Employees whose regularly scheduled shift begins between 3:00 P.M. and 12:00 midnight shall be granted a lunch period on County time of at least one-half ( $\frac{1}{2}$ ) hour during each work shift. All other employees shall be granted a lunch period on employee time of at least one-half ( $\frac{1}{2}$ ) hour during each work shift. Whenever possible, such meal period shall be scheduled in the middle of the shift. The County shall permit any employee who is requested to and does work more than two (2) hours beyond their regular quitting time, one-half ( $\frac{1}{2}$ ) hour off for a meal. Whenever possible, this meal period shall be scheduled at or near the end of the employee's regular shift.

Ferry Operators assigned to the Ferry will have one-half (½) hour paid lunch period during each work shift. Ferry Operators assigned to the Transportation Maintenance

Program will have one-half (1/2) hour unpaid lunch period during each work shift.

# 20. CLEANUP TIME.

The County shall provide the required facilities for the employee's cleanup.

# 21. EMERGENCY WORK SHIFT.

Employees will be paid Emergency Shift pay as defined in Article 14 (Wages), Section 21 when the following conditions are met:

- 1) The County determines the need for emergency coverage; and
- 2) The Director of the Department or designee has declared an emergency with an effective date/time; and
- 3) The Incident Commander, or designee, assigns employees to perform work that aids in the County's response to the emergency; or
- 4) There is a change from the employee's regular working hours to a shift that provides for twenty-four (24) hour emergency coverage.

Overtime will be paid at the rate of time and a half (1½) of the base pay plus emergency shift pay.

# 22. CONTINUOUS WORK SHIFT.

In the event an employee's shift is continuous from one work day to a new work day, such continuous hours shall apply to the day the shift began, except in no circumstance shall an employee receive more than twenty-four (24) hours' pay for one day. Any hours in excess of twenty-four (24) shall be attributed to the following day at the overtime rate. Management will assure that employees that worked an emergency shift will have an opportunity to work a forty (40) hour week, unless such schedule would be in conflict with law or other parts of the contract.

An employee shall maintain their right to a regular shift and may be transferred to their normal shift at the end of the emergency without penalty. Employees who are on-duty for more than sixteen (16) hours will not resume their regularly scheduled shift without an eight (8) hour unpaid rest period. Employees may be called back to finish their regular shift after the eight (8) hour unpaid rest period if four (4) or more hours remain of that shift.

# **ARTICLE 8 - HOLIDAYS**

# 1. HOLIDAYS.

The following days shall be recognized and observed as paid holidays;

- New Year's Day (January 1st)
- Martin Luther King Jr. Day (Third Monday in January)
- President's Day (Third Monday in February)
- Memorial Day (Last Monday in May)
- Independence Day (July 4th)
- Labor Day (First Monday in September)
- Veteran's Day (November 11th)
- Thanksgiving Day (Fourth Thursday in November)
- Christmas Day (December 25th)
- Every day appointed by the Board of County Commissioners as a holiday,

• Floating holiday - One floating holiday of ten (10) hours shall be granted to each employee on January 1 of each year. Floating holidays may be used in hour increments. Any floating holiday, or portion thereof, that is not used by the end of the calendar year will be converted to vacation hours. Upon termination of an employee for any reason, or in the event of the death of an employee, any floating holiday, or portion thereof, that is not used shall be paid either to the employee or their heirs, whichever the case may be.

New employees, who qualify for paid holidays, are eligible for a floating holiday after ninety (90) calendar days of employment.

A holiday shall start at midnight and end at midnight of the day recognized by the County as the holiday.

# 2. HOLIDAY PAY.

Holidays will be paid as follows for regular and alternative schedules:

- 1) Employees on a 4 day/40 hour work week schedule: 10 hours.
- 2) Employees on a 5 day/40 hour work week schedule: 8 hours.
- 3) Employees on a 9-80 work week schedule: 9 hours.

Holiday pay while working a flexible schedule shall be paid as determined by the employee's regular base work week schedule.

If a holiday falls on a flex work day that is shorter than the holiday, the employee must make up the time with vacation, compensatory time or work the hours in the same week as the holiday.

If the holiday falls on a flex work day that is longer than the holiday, the employee shall work with the supervisor to flex their schedule within the work week to avoid overtime.

# 3. WEEKEND HOLIDAYS.

For employees on an eight (8) hour five (5) day work week or a 9-80 schedule, whenever a holiday shall fall on the first day off, the preceding day in the regular work week shall be observed as a holiday. Whenever a holiday shall fall on the last day off, the following day of the regularly scheduled work week shall be observed as a holiday.

For employees on a ten (10) hour four (4) day work week, whenever the holiday falls on a Friday or Saturday, the preceding Thursday shall be observed as a holiday. If the holiday falls on a Sunday, the following Monday shall be observed.

# 4. HOLIDAY DURING LEAVE.

Should an employee be on authorized leave when a holiday occurs, such holiday shall not be charged against such leave.

# 5. HOLIDAY WORK.

If an employee works on any of the holidays listed above, an employee shall, in addition to their holiday pay, be paid for all hours worked at the rate of time and one-half (11/2) an employee's regular rate of pay. For the purpose of computing overtime on holidays, a week in which a holiday occurs on any day shall be considered a thirty-two (32) hour work week for a five/eight (5/8) schedule or thirty hour (30) work week for a four/ten (4/10) schedule, and all work beyond thirty-two (32) hours (5/8 schedule) or thirty (30) hours (4/10 schedule) shall be considered overtime, based upon an employee's regular hourly rate. Should two (2) holidays occur in the same week, the work week will then be considered as twenty-four (24) hours (5/8 schedule) or twenty (20) hours (4/10 schedule), and all work beyond twenty-four (24) hours (5/8 schedule) or twenty (20) hours (4/10 schedule) shall be overtime. If Christmas Day or New Year's Day falls on a Friday, Saturday or Sunday, any employee called into work on an emergency shall be paid for a minimum of four (4) hours at double time and one-half  $(2\frac{1}{2})$  of the employee's regular rate of pay, and double time and one-half (21/2) of the employee's regular rate of pay for each hour worked in excess of four (4) hours. When computing overtime, all paid leave shall be considered as time worked.

# **ARTICLE 9 - SICK LEAVE**

# 1. ACCRUAL.

Regular full-time employees shall accrue sick leave at the rate of eight (8) hours for each full calendar month worked, to be used in the event of an employee's illness or illness of an employee's immediate family. Regular part-time employees shall accrue sick leave on a pro rata basis using a two-thousand eighty (2080) hour base. Regular full-time and part-time employees shall accrue sick leave without limit. Sick leave shall accrue during any calendar month in which the employee is in a paid status for at least 88 hours (prorated for FTE status) in the preceding month.

# 2. IMMEDIATE FAMILY.

An employee's immediate family shall be defined as spouse, domestic partner (as defined by the Benefit Review Committee), parents, children, brother, sister, grandparents, stepchildren, stepparents, father-in-law, mother-in-law, sister-in-law, brother-in-law and grandchildren. In relationships other than those set forth above, under exceptional circumstances, such leave of absence may be granted by the Department Director or their designee(s) upon request.

# 3. UNUSED SICK LEAVE AT THE TIME OF RETIREMENT.

Pursuant to ORS 237.350, the County shall report all allowable sick leave hours to PERS upon an employee's separation from County employment.

# 4. USE OF SICK LEAVE.

Employees may utilize their allowance of sick leave for any of the reasons required by State and Federal law for such period as the employee has sick leave credit.

# 5. PHYSICIAN'S STATEMENT.

If the County has reasonable suspicion of sick leave abuse or if an employee misses more than three consecutive shifts of work, the employee may be required to provide appropriate documentation of illness as deemed necessary by management. Any requests for documentation cannot be arbitrary or capricious. If the employee is under a doctor's care, a doctor's certificate shall be considered appropriate documentation.

# **ARTICLE 10 - VACATION LEAVE**

# 1. ACCRUAL.

Vacation leave with pay shall accrue at the rate shown on the first day of the month for each preceding calendar month worked in accordance with the following schedule. Vacation leave shall accrue during any calendar month in which the employee is in a paid status for at least 88 hours (prorated for FTE status) in the preceding month. It is recognized that in all cases, service shall be interpreted to mean continuous County service. Continuous service for the purpose of determining eligibility for accelerated vacation accrual rates shall be service unbroken by separation from County employment that results in a new date of hire. Vacation accrual shall not be reduced except by breaks in service occurring after July 1, 1991.

A. Basic Vacation Plan

Employees hired prior to January 1, 2001 who have elected not to participate in the Vacation Sell Back Program shall accrue vacation in the following manner:

- 1. Employees having served in the County service for six (6) consecutive full calendar months, shall be credited with fifty-two and two-tenths (52.2) hours of vacation leave.
- 2. After six (6) months, but less than five (5) years of service: one hundred four and four-tenths (104.4) hours per year accrued at the rate of eight and seven-tenths (8.7) hours per month.
- 3. Five (5) to ten (10) years, but less than ten (10) years of service: one hundred twenty-eight and four-tenths (128.4) hours per year, accrued at the rate of ten and seven-tenths (10.7) hours per month.
- 4. Ten (10) to fifteen (15) years, but less than fifteen (15) years of service: one hundred fifty-two and four-tenths (152.4) hours per year, accrued at the rate of twelve and seven-tenths (12.7) hours per month.
- 5. Fifteen (15) to twenty (20) years, but less than twenty (20) years of service: one hundred seventy-six and four-tenths (176.4) hours per year, accrued at the rate of fourteen and seven-tenths (14.7) hours per month.
- 6. After twenty (20) years of service: two hundred and four-tenths (200.4) hours per year, accrued at the rate of sixteen and seven-tenths (16.7) hours per month.
- B. Vacation Sell-Back Plan

Employees hired after January 1, 2001, shall accrue vacation in the following manner:

- 1. Employees having served in the County service for one (1) full calendar month and in a paid status for at least eighty-eight (88) hours (pro-rated for FTE status) shall be credited with twelve (12) hours of vacation leave, and thereafter, vacation leave shall be accrued at the rate of twelve (12) hours per month regardless of years of service.
- 2. Employees who have used at least forty (40) hours of vacation time in a calendar year may elect to sell up to forty (40) hours of vacation time

during that same calendar year. To receive compensation in lieu of time off, the employee must submit a completed Request to Sell Vacation form to Payroll no later than December 31st of that calendar year.

# C. Maximum Accrual

The maximum vacation accrual limits shall be two hundred fifty (250) hours. Vacation accrual may be accumulated beyond these limits during the yearly cycle of April 1st through March 31st but will be reduced to two hundred fifty (250) hours at the end of the business day on March 31st. Vacation accrual exceeding the 250 hour limit will not be compensated.

### 2. ACCRUAL FOR REGULAR PART-TIME EMPLOYEES.

Regular part-time employees shall be granted vacation leave on a pro rata basis using a two thousand eighty (2080) hour base.

### 3. VACATION TIMES.

Employees shall be permitted to choose either a split or entire vacation. Whenever possible, consistent with the needs of the County and requirements for vacation relief, employees shall have the right to determine vacation times. Vacation times shall be selected on the basis of seniority; however, each employee will be permitted to exercise their right of seniority only once. Notice of the day or days selected shall be given to the County at least twenty-four (24) hours in advance, unless the County waives said requirement. Employees may utilize their accrued vacation in 15 minute increments.

### 4. TERMINATION OR DEATH.

After six (6) months of service, upon the termination of an employee for any reason, or in the event of the death of an employee, all accumulated vacation shall be paid either to the employee or their heirs, whichever the case may be.

# **ARTICLE 11 - OTHER LEAVES**

# 1. GENERAL PROCEDURE FOR LEAVES OF ABSENCE.

Consistent with the needs of the County leaves of absence with or without pay for a limited period not to exceed ninety (90) days may be requested for any reasonable purpose. Leaves of absence shall be documented and processed in accordance with County administrative procedures and shall be subject to approval by the Department Director. A leave of absence in excess of ninety (90) days must also be approved by the Board of County Commissioners.

Seniority will continue to accrue during all approved leaves of absence with and without pay. Credit toward longevity, salary increases, sick leave and vacation will accrue only if an employee is in paid status for at least eleven (11) days, or nine (9) working days for employees on a four-day work week, in any month.

An employee who fails to return to work the following work day after the expiration of a leave of absence shall be deemed to have resigned, unless the employee, prior to the expiration of the leave of absence, has made application for and has been granted an extension of leave.

# 2. JURY DUTY.

When an employee is called for jury duty, or is subpoenaed as a witness in any litigation or administrative hearing process to which the employee is not a party, the employee will be granted absence from work and continued at full salary for the period of the required service, provided, however, the employee shall be required to give reasonable advance notice of such subpoena or other legal requirement to appear and provide the County with a copy of the subpoena or other legal document requiring the employees presence. The copy of the subpoena or legal document will be given to the County in advance of the hearing or jury duty or, if that is not possible, then the copy must be furnished within seventy-two (72) hours after the hearing or jury duty date. All money received as witness or jury fees, except for mileage payment received, must be signed over to the County unless such fees, or any portion of them, are earned on an employee's day(s) off or during other authorized leave of absence. Employees will be required to call their supervisor when less than a normal work day is required by jury or witness duty and report to work as instructed by their supervisor.

# 3. UNION BUSINESS.

In accordance with guidelines as provided for in Section 1 of this Article, an employee may request an unpaid leave of absence to participate in union activities that require them to be away from their place of employment. Not more than two (2) employees would be granted this type of leave at any one time. Employees who are granted this type of leave may use any accrued vacation or compensatory time. An employee returning from leave under this Section shall be reinstated to the employee's former position.

# 4. PARENTAL LEAVE.

Parental Leave will be granted in accordance with State and Federal law and will be administered as described in Employment Policy and Practice #10 and the

Personnel Ordinance.

# 5. FAMILY MEDICAL LEAVE.

Family Medical Leave will be granted in accordance with State and Federal law and will be administered as described in Employment Policy and Practice #10 and the Personnel Ordinance.

# 6. LEAVE DONATION PROGRAM

Accrued vacation leave may be donated to another employee in accordance with State and Federal law and will be administered as described in Employment Policy & Practice #46.

# 7. EDUCATIONAL LEAVE.

After completing three (3) years of service, an employee, upon request, may be granted a leave of absence without pay for educational purposes at an accredited school, when it is related to their employment and is consistent with the needs of the County. The period of such leave of absence shall not exceed twenty-four (24) months in any three (3) year period.

Employees may also be granted leaves of absence with or without pay for educational purposes, for reasonable lengths of time, to attend conferences, seminars, briefing sessions, or other functions of a similar nature that are intended to improve or upgrade the individual's skill or professional ability, provided it is consistent with the needs of the County.

# 8. MILITARY AND OTHER SERVICE LEAVES.

Except as provided in the following paragraph of this section, for all periods of annual active duty for training as a member of the National Guard, National Guard Reserve or of any reserve component of the Armed Forces of the United States or of the United States Public Health Service, any employee of the Department of Transportation and Development is entitled, upon application therefore, to a leave of absence from their duties for a period not exceeding fifteen (15) working days in any one federal fiscal/training year, without loss of time, pay or regular leave and without impairment of efficiency rating or other rights or benefits to which the employee is entitled.

Unless an employee has been employed by any Oregon public employer for a period of six (6) months next preceding their application, no officer or employee is entitled to receive pay for any period during which an employee is on military leave.

# 9. COMPASSIONATE LEAVE.

Exclusive of regular sick leave, an employee shall be granted not more than three (3) work days leave of absence with pay in the event of the death of an immediate family member when approved by the Department Director or their designated representative to make household adjustments or to attend funeral services. An employee shall be granted not more than three (3) hours of compassionate leave

to attend the funeral or memorial service for a current Clackamas County employee or retiree.

# ARTICLE 12 - HEALTH AND WELFARE

# 1. MEDICAL-COVERAGE.

The County agrees to contribute toward the monthly composite premium for each medical plan for eligible employees and their eligible family members, who elect coverage. Employees will become eligible on the first day of the month following the benefit-waiting period described in Section 9. The design of the medical plans and eligibility of family members shall be determined by the Benefits Review Committee as described in Section 10.

Effective January 1, 2019, the County agrees to contribute an amount equivalent to 95% of the monthly composite premium for each medical plan up to a maximum of 105% of the 2018 County contribution.

Effective January 1, 2020, the County agrees to contribute an amount equivalent to 95% of the monthly composite premium for each medical plan up to a maximum of 105% of the 2019 County contribution.

Effective January 1, 2021, the County agrees to contribute an amount equivalent to 95% of the monthly composite premium for each medical plan up to a maximum of 105% of the 2020 County contribution.

Employees will pay any remaining insurance premium cost share through payroll deduction.

Medical Insurance Opt-Out: Employees who provide proof of other medical coverage and who opt out of medical coverage provided by the County will receive a monthly opt-out payment as provided by the yearly Benefits Summary, subject to applicable withholdings. Employees may only rejoin County coverage with a qualifying status change subject to carrier rules.

# 2. FLEXIBLE BENEFITS.

The County agrees to provide a Clackamas County Flexible Benefit Program to employees who are working in a position regularly scheduled for thirty (30) hours or more per week. Bargaining unit employees agree to cooperate fully with the Benefits and Wellness Division regarding participation and administration of the program.

# 3. LIFE INSURANCE.

The County agrees to provide life insurance coverage to full-time employees, effective on the first day of the month following the benefit waiting period described in Section 9. The design of the life insurance plan shall be determined by the Benefits Review Committee as described in Section 10.

The County agrees to contribute up to the full premium amount for life insurance coverage with a face value of \$50,000.

# 4. DENTAL INSURANCE.

The County agrees to pay 100% of the dental premium for coverage agreed to by the Benefits Review Committee for full-time employees and their eligible family members, effective on the first day of the month following the benefit-waiting period described in Section 9. The design of the dental plans and eligibility of family members shall be determined by the Benefits Review Committee as described in Section 10.

Dental Insurance Opt-Out: Employees who opt out of dental coverage provided by the County will receive a monthly opt-out payment as provided by the yearly Benefits Summary, subject to applicable withholdings. Employees may only rejoin County coverage with a qualifying status change subject to carrier rules.

# 5. DISABILITY INCOME INSURANCE.

The County agrees to provide non-duty disability insurance coverage to full time employees, effective on the first day of the month following the benefit waiting period described in Section 9. The design of the disability plan shall be determined by the Benefits Review Committee as described in Section 10.

The County agrees to contribute up to the full premium amount for disability insurance coverage with a benefit of sixty percent (60%) of covered salary, including longevity, up to a maximum covered salary of \$3333 per month.

# 6. POSTHUMOUS BENEFITS.

In the event of the death of an employee, the County shall continue medical and dental coverage for surviving eligible family members for a period of six (6) calendar months.

# 7. FULL-TIME EMPLOYEES.

For the purpose of eligibility for benefits, full-time employees are those employees regularly working thirty (30) or more hours per week.

# 8. BENEFITS FOR REGULAR PART-TIME AND JOB SHARE EMPLOYEES.

Regular part-time and job share employees working at least twenty (20) hours per week shall be entitled to County-paid medical insurance as described in Section 1 and shall be entitled to purchase dental insurance as described in Section 4.

# 9. BENEFIT WAITING PERIOD.

Benefits shall become effective on the first day of the month following two (2) full calendar months of continuous employment. Two (2) full months of continuous employment shall be defined as being in a paid status on the first working day of the month and continuously thereafter for two (2) full calendar months, except that an employee may take an approved leave without pay not to exceed ten (10) working days, or eight (8) working days for employees on a four-day work week, or the prorated equivalent for part-time employees.

# **10. BENEFITS REVIEW COMMITTEE.**

A Labor-Management Benefits Review Committee shall have the responsibility for deciding the level, scope, and design of benefit plans offered to employees for medical and vision coverage, dental coverage, and for disability and life insurance. The primary emphasis in plan design shall be to provide a comprehensive, competitive benefit program at a reasonable cost.

The Committee shall be comprised of members from management and from County bargaining units. Each bargaining unit adopting the provision of the Article shall be entitled to appoint one voting member to the Committee for every two hundred (200) members in their bargaining unit with a minimum of one (1) member. It is understood that bargaining units which do not adopt the provisions of this Article will be entitled to appoint one nonvoting member to the Committee. Management membership will consist of voting members in a number equal to the voting bargaining unit membership. However, a bargaining unit or the County may appoint fewer voting members than it is entitled, but retain the same number of votes as described above. The County or the Union may invite other nonvoting members to attend meetings as needed to facilitate committee business. The Committee shall meet at least quarterly, or more frequently as required. Decisions of the committee will be made by a majority of votes.

The Committee shall make plan design decisions for medical, vision, dental, disability, and life insurance plans at least one hundred and twenty (120) days prior to the succeeding plan year, unless the County waives such requirement. Payment for and funding of benefit plans selected by the committee shall be in a proportion and manner determined through collective bargaining with each separate bargaining unit.

The County shall provide administrative coordination and support for the Committee. The Committee at its request shall be provided all financial information and related reports as may be available.

The County will make decisions on the following issues after consideration of Committee recommendations: carrier selection, third party administrator selection, employee benefits consultant selection, selection of alternate funding arrangements, and other optional benefit programs.

The County and the Union will make an assertive effort to support plan design changes through the Benefits Review Committee as may be needed to keep the total annual increase at or less than eight percent (8%) each year.

# 11. PLAN CHANGES REQUIRED BY LAW OR INSURANCE CARRIER.

The County shall act to update any mandated coverage or changes caused by Federal or State laws, rules and regulations and may make changes to take advantage of any enhancements made available by the insurance carriers. The County does not guarantee against unilateral changes in benefits initiated solely by the insurance carriers.

# 12. HEALTH REIMBURSEMENT ACCOUNT (HRA)

The County shall provide each employee covered by this agreement the opportunity to enroll in a Health Reimbursement Account (HRA).

The County shall pay the account fee up to \$1.50 per account per month for each active employee enrolled in a HRA/VEBA. The participating employee shall be responsible for the third party annualized investment fee.

Participating employees who have used at least forty (40) hours of vacation in the prior twelve (12) months shall have all vacation time up to eight (80) hours in excess of the annual cap paid into their HRA/VEBA account. The County will deposit such excess vacation leave into eligible employees' HRA/VEBA accounts on the last pay date in May or sooner if administratively practicable.

Participating employees shall have all vacation hours over the annual cap paid to their HRA/VEBA account at retirement. The County and Union shall discuss options for ongoing HRA/VEBA funding.

Participating employees who are enrolled in the HRA/VEBA plan as of December 31<sup>st</sup> of each year shall receive an annual contribution of \$50 paid into their HRA/VEBA account by the second payroll period of January each year.

### 13. DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN

Subject to applicable federal regulations, the County agrees to provide an employee-paid deferred compensation plan that provides for payment at a future date for services currently rendered by the eligible employee. Each new employee will be enrolled automatically in the County's Deferred Compensation program, at the rate of five percent (5%) of their base compensation as defined in the deferred compensation plan document, unless the employee chooses to opt out of the program or change the rate of contribution. New employees include newly hired employees, rehired employees and employees changing employment status from temporary to regular. This provision will become effective no later than sixty (60) days following the final approval of this agreement by both parties.

# **ARTICLE 13 - WORKERS COMPENSATION**

# 1. COVERAGE.

All County employees will be insured under the provisions of the Oregon State Workers Compensation Act for injuries that arise out of and occur in the course and scope of their work for the County. Both parties agree to the principle that the employee should suffer no financial disadvantage nor shall the employee have a financial advantage by being in the disability status.

# 2. COMPENSATION PAYMENT.

The County shall compensate the employee from the Risk Management Claims Fund for on-the-job injuries where the claim has been accepted in an amount to ensure the injured employee's regular pay, including any regular additional pay, such as longevity, that the employee was receiving at the time of injury and would have continued to receive had there been no injury.

- (a) The day of injury shall be considered a workday, and the employee will receive their normal salary for that day.
- (b) The waiting period as described in ORS 656.210, will be charged to sick leave.
- (c) The employee's regular pay will be subject to all standard deductions, such as income tax and employee benefits, as required or allowed under Federal and State law.
- (d) While the employee is receiving wage continuation under this provision, the employee will continue to receive all other County health and welfare benefits the employee was enrolled in at the time of injury unless prohibited by law, rule, regulation or provider contract.

# ARTICLE 14 – WAGES

# 1. WAGES AND CLASSIFICATION SCHEDULE.

After ratification by both parties, employees shall receive a 2.8% cost of living increase effective the first day of the pay period after the ratification date. In lieu of retroactive pay, employees shall receive a lump sum payment based on an employee's gross pay earnings (base pay, overtime, longevity and incentives) from July 1, 2018 to the first pay period after the effective date of ratification. The lump sum payment would appear in the paycheck three (3) full pay periods after the effective date of ratification.

Effective July 1, 2019, employees shall receive a cost of living increase equal to the percentage increase in the 2018 US Consumer Price Index, CPI-W: West Urban Annual Average, as reported by the US Department of Labor (minimum of 0% and maximum of 4.5%). Effective July 1, 2020, employees shall receive a cost of living increase equal to the percentage increase in the 2019 US Consumer Price Index, CPI-W: West Urban Annual Average, as reported by the US Department of Labor (minimum of 0% and maximum of 4.5%).

All less than half time regular part time employees and temporary employees in regular classifications in AFSCME DTD/BCS positions will be paid at the same salary schedule as the regular AFSCME DTD/BCS counterparts.

When any classification not listed on the Wages and Classification Schedule is established, the County shall designate a pay range for the position. In the event the Union does not agree that the range is proper, the Union shall have the right to submit the issue as a grievance at Step IV of the Grievance Procedure as described in Article 22 (Settlement of Disputes).

Salary grades will identify a pay range to include a minimum pay rate, midpoint pay rate, and a maximum pay rate.

If an employee receives a satisfactory or better performance evaluation or does not receive an evaluation, the employee shall receive an increase of 3.5% on each of the employee's anniversary dates until the employee has reached the top of the range.

The County agrees to conduct a classification compensation study on the following classifications. The County will use the same methodology used in the development of the Heavy Equipment Mechanic Classifications:

- Equipment Maintenance Coordinator
- Mechanic
- Mechanic, Senior
- Automotive Service Technician
- Autobody Repair Technician

# 2. LONGEVITY PAYMENT.

Employees covered by the bargaining unit will be eligible for longevity pay as a

percent of base salary for total years of continuous County service in the listed amounts upon anniversary date. Continuous service for the purpose of determining eligibility for longevity pay shall be defined as service unbroken by separation from county employment that results in a new date of hire. Longevity pay shall not be reduced except by break in service occurring after July 1, 1991.

5 years	1.0%
10 years	1.5%
15 years	2.0%
20 years	2.5%
25 years	3.5%
30+ years	4.0%

The calculation for longevity shall be based on the employee's service date minus thirty days. For example, if the service date is 5/15, for purposes of calculating longevity the date shall be 4/15.

# 3. OUT OF CLASS WORK.

Shift-out-of-classification pay shall be granted to an employee if the employee performs any work for two (2) or more hours in any shift in a classification above that in which the employee is normally classified. Prior to working out-of-classification, the supervisor will prepare a memorandum stating the need for the out-of-classification work and why the supervisor considers the employee qualified to perform such higher classification work. The Director of the Department or the designee, must authorize this action. Employees assigned to train in another classification are not eligible for temporary out-of-classification pay.

For the purposes of determining the appropriate salary rate according to promotional policy for out-of-classification work, the following shall apply:

- (a) As a minimum, the employee will be paid an additional five percent (5%) of their regular rate of pay, or at the minimum of the higher classification's salary grade, whichever is greater. The out-of-classification rate will not exceed maximum rate of higher classification's salary grade.
- (b) Following a temporary out-of-class assignment, the employee's pay rate shall be returned to the regular rate the employee would have held had they not been placed TOC. If a temporary out-of-class assignment is made prior to a promotion or reclassification, any salary rate increase given at the time of promotion or reclassification shall be made on the employee's regular pay rate. Any requests for a promotional appointment at a rate which exceeds five percent (5%) of the employee's regular pay rate, shall be considered an upper step appointment request. Any employee who is granted an upper step appointment following a TOC assignment will have their next merit eligibility date adjusted to one year following promotion.

An employee who has not been previously qualified cannot be required to work in a higher classification except during emergencies.

No out-of-classification pay will be allowed unless the employee has previously been qualified by the County and has been authorized to perform such out-of-classification work by the employee's immediate supervisor.

The County can, at its sole discretion, require employees to perform work in a classification above that which the employee is normally classified provided the employee has been qualified by the County to perform such higher class work.

Out-of-classification pay is intended to apply only to work situations where the difference between work levels and duties and responsibilities are clear. These situations are temporary in nature and not intended to provide higher level pay for an employee who gradually or through normal assignment believes they are working at a higher classified level which situation is to be addressed through the normal Department of Human Resources procedures.

# 4. PERS/OPSRP PAYMENT.

The County agrees to pay the employee's share of contribution on behalf of employees as set forth by the Oregon legislature.

In the event that during the life of this agreement, it becomes impossible for reasons of law, regulation or decisions for the County to pay the six percent (6%) employee contribution to PERS/OPSRP, the County and the Union agree to re-open this paragraph to negotiate the impact of such action. It is the intent of the parties that the employees will be made whole in terms of the six percent (6%) retirement contribution made by the County, such as having that sum contributed on behalf of the employee to a retirement benefit, such as a transition account, state retirement account, County deferred compensation plan, or other individual retirement account.

# 5. PREMIUM PAY.

Any Mechanic, Equipment Maintenance Coordinator, Welder/Fabricator or Service Technician assigned to field duties shall receive five percent (5%) above their regular rate of pay during the period they perform such duties.

# 6. REPORTING TIME.

Any employee who reports to work at the beginning of their regular scheduled shift, but where work is not available shall be excused from duty and paid at their regular straight time rate for eight (8) hours work for five (5) day work week or ten (10) hours work for four (4) day work week. Any employee who reports to work after the beginning of their scheduled shift may be excused from duty at the discretion of the County and not paid for that shift.

# 7. CALL-IN TIME. (Road, Bridge, Parks and Traffic Maintenance)

The Union shall provide the County with an Emergency Call-In list of employees in Road, Bridge, Parks, and Traffic Maintenance who are willing to be called to respond to short-term emergencies. Employees participating in the Stand-By Program (as described in Section 8) will receive priority for call out. Employees on the list but not participating in the Stand By Program are On-Call employees.

Any On-Call employee called to work outside of the employee's regular scheduled shift shall be paid for a minimum of four (4) hours at the rate of time and one-half  $(1\frac{1}{2})$  the employee's regular hourly rate of pay. The employee shall be paid only once regardless of how many times the employee is called out in the same four (4) hour period.

If any employee is called in to report to work not more than four (4) hours prior to the employee's regular work shift, the employee will be allowed to work that time in addition to the employee's regular work shift and will be eligible for overtime subject to Section 9. However, the employee may request to leave prior to the end of their regular work shift, subject to the approval of the employee's immediate supervisor or manager.

The County will not be required to equally distribute emergency call-in overtime work as is required for scheduled overtime work as described in Section 11.

### 8. CALL-IN TIME. (Building Codes Division)

Any Building Codes Division employee called in to work outside the employee's regular scheduled shift shall be paid for a minimum of four (4) hours at the rate of time and one-half (1-1/2) the employee's regular hourly rate of pay. For the purposes of this section, a 'call in' is defined as being asked to work on a day not normally scheduled or where the employee is called back to work or when an employee is called early in to work and such work is not contingent to the regularly scheduled shift. This work will be distributed using a call-in list of Building Codes Division inspection and/or plan review staff who are willing to work on Saturdays and Sundays.

If any Building codes Division employee is requested to report to work for less than or equal to four (4) hours prior to or following the employee's regular work shift, the employee will be allowed to work that time in addition to the employee's regular work shift and will be eligible for overtime subject to Section 9. However, the employee may request to flex their regular work shift for that day, subject to the approval of the employee's immediate supervisor or manager.

### 9. STANDBY PAY.

The Standby Program is intended to provide a timely response to short-term emergency situations. Employees participating in this program will be required to respond to such emergencies while on standby assignment. Any standby employee who fails to respond to a page or telephone call will be removed from the Standby Program for a period of (1) year. The County shall determine the required number and geographic location of standby workers.

Standby assignments shall be rotated on a weekly basis. While on standby assignment, standby employees shall carry a County-provided pager and/or cell telephone, drive County vehicles to and from work and ensure that the County vehicle carries the appropriate tools for an emergency response.

In the event of an emergency requiring a standby employee, C-Com/dispatcher or supervisor shall contact the employee(s) on standby assignment. If additional employees or equipment are required, the employee shall contact a supervisor who will dispatch any other employee(s) from the Emergency Call-In list and/or needed equipment. The supervisor shall maintain a record of employees contacted for each emergency.

While on Standby assignment, employees shall be compensated at a rate equivalent to (1) hour of straight time pay for each weekday, which is a day the employee is regularly scheduled to work, and at a rate equivalent to two (2) hours of straight time pay for each weekend day, which is defined as a day which an employee is regularly scheduled to be off, and each paid holiday as listed in Article 8 (Holidays), Section 1. Standby pay is not payment for hours worked and may not be converted to compensatory time.

In the event a standby employee is called into work, the employee also shall be paid for a minimum of two (2) hours at the rate of time and one-half (1  $\frac{1}{2}$ ) their regular hourly rate of pay. In the event a standby employee is called into work on Christmas Day or New Year's Day when either falls on a Saturday or Sunday, the employee shall be paid for a minimum of two (2) hours at the rate of two and one-half (2  $\frac{1}{2}$ ) times their regular rate of pay.

The employee shall be paid only once regardless of how many times the employee is called out in the same two (2) hour period.

#### **10. SHIFT TRANSITION.**

a) Shift transition is defined as regular hours that an employee is unable to work due to scheduling decisions made by the County during an emergency/on-call situation or because of a required eight (8) hour rest period between emergency shifts.

b) When an employee is sent home after the beginning of their shift in order to be able to return to work at a later time the same day to complete their shift, shift transition shall not be paid for the hours the employee did not work.

If the employee is sent home to return to work the next day and is unable to work their regular scheduled hours on the day they are sent home, shift transition will be paid for the regular hours the employee was not able to work at the direction of the County.

c) Shift transition will not be paid when the County makes work available to an employee and the employee chooses not to work for their total scheduled hours in a single day (8 or 10 hours), regardless of the actual hours worked.

d) For purposes of shift transition a day is defined as the 24 hour period from midnight to midnight.

### 11. OVERTIME.

Time and one-half (1<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>) the employee's regular hourly rate of pay shall be paid for

work under any of the following conditions, but compensation shall not be paid twice for the same hours:

For Employees on Regular Schedules:

- (a) All authorized work performed in excess of eight (8) hours, in any work day for employees on a eight (8) hour five (5) day work week; or ten (10) hours in any work day for employees on a ten (10) hour four (4) day work week;
- (b) All authorized work performed in excess of forty (40) hours, in any work week;
- (c) All authorized work performed fifteen (15) minutes before or after any scheduled work shift paid at time and one-half for actual time worked.
- (d) When computing overtime, all paid leave shall be considered hours worked.

For Employees on Alternative Schedules:

- (a) All authorized work performed in excess of forty (40) hours, in any work week;
- (b) All authorized work performed fifteen (15) minutes before or after any scheduled work shift paid at time and one-half for actual time worked;
- (c) All authorized work performed on Saturday or Sunday; except as may be modified by Articles 15 (Job Share) or 16 (Ferry Operators);
- (d) When computing overtime, all paid leave shall be considered hours worked.

### 12. EXCEPTIONS.

The overtime rate specified above for Saturday and Sunday work shall not be paid employees for whom these days are regularly scheduled days of work. These employees shall be paid time and one-half  $(1\frac{1}{2})$  for all work performed on their regular scheduled days off, except as may be modified by Article 15 (Job Share) or Article 16 (Ferry Operators).

### **13. DISTRIBUTION.**

Overtime work shall be distributed equally as is reasonable among employees with comparable skills within the same job classification who voluntarily place their name on a roster to work overtime work; provided however, that exceptions may be made subject to mutual approval by the County and the Union. If an employee whose name is on the voluntary overtime roster declines overtime work for other than valid reasons as determined by the County two separate times within a thirty (30) day period, that employee's name may be removed from the roster for ninety (90) days. If a sufficient overtime work force cannot be provided by the use of the voluntary roster, either because of a deficiency in the number of individuals on the roster or a lack of qualified individuals, then overtime will be required for all employees and distributed equally as is reasonable among employees with comparable skills within the same job classification. Failure to work required overtime may be subject to disciplinary action short of discharge.

In the event this Article or portion thereof becomes unenforceable and/or problematic due to unforeseen circumstances, either party may submit a request, in writing, and be granted a meeting in order to attempt to resolve the issue in question.

#### 14. COMPENSATORY TIME OFF.

The County may at the request of the employee approve compensatory time off equal to one and one-half (1½) hours off for each hour of overtime worked in lieu of overtime pay. Compensatory time off shall be scheduled at the discretion of and consistent with the needs of the County. Such leave shall not accrue beyond two hundred forty (240) hours.

### 15. PAY FOR ACCUMULATED COMPENSATORY TIME.

All accrued hours in excess of eighty (80) shall be used by the end of each fiscal year (June 30th) or paid in cash. Therefore, all employees will be paid automatically in July for compensatory time accrued in their name as of June 30th, over the allowable carry forward of eighty (80) hours.

Any employee who would have an accrued balance of eighty (80) hours or less after June 30<sup>th</sup> may elect to receive a payoff of any number of their compensatory hours by making a written request to payroll no later than July 1st.

Any employee with an accrued balance as of October 31<sup>st</sup> may elect to receive a payoff in November of any number of their compensatory hours by making a written request to Payroll no later than November 10<sup>th</sup>.

All compensatory time will be paid at the employee's regular rate of pay at the time of payment.

### 16. TRAVEL PAY.

Whenever an employee is required to report for work at any location other than their established place of reporting, the employee shall be paid at the current County Travel Policy rate per mile from the established reporting place for the use of their personal transportation to and from the temporary new location.

### 17. PORTAL TO PORTAL PAY.

Employees shall report to their regular place of reporting at the designated starting time of the shift and shall return to their reporting place so as to be off work by the designated quitting time.

#### 18. PAY DAY.

Employees shall be paid based on a bi-weekly pay period. Paydays will be every other Friday.

#### **19. INSPECTORS.**

Whenever an inspector or plans examiner is asked by their supervisor to work in an inspection discipline for which they are certified by the State of Oregon, but is different from that which they are currently classified, they will receive an add to pay of 5% above the hourly wage for the day(s) they are inspecting in that discipline.

### 20. FERRY OPERATOR LEADWORKER PAY.

An employee assigned lead worker responsibilities beyond their regular job duties

shall be compensated with a premium pay at a rate of \$1.00 per hour.

### 21. COMPUTATION OF HOURLY RATE.

Hourly rates are posted on the County Internet as Pay Plans.

### 22. EMERGENCY SHIFT PAY.

An employee designated to work an emergency shift as defined in Article 7 (Hours of Work), Section 10 shall be paid their regular hourly rate plus \$1.75/hour.

Overtime will be paid at the rate of time and a half (1 ½) of the regular rate of pay plus emergency shift pay.

### 23. SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL.

Mechanics whose regularly scheduled shift begins after 3:00 pm shall receive a shift differential of \$1.50 per hour additional for all hours worked during their shift. ("Regularly scheduled" is a pre-determined, pre-agreed upon standard shift determined by management.)

If any mechanic employee is requested or required to continue working at the end of their regular shift and has been receiving shift differential based on swing, the employee will continue to receive the shift differential of their regular shift until the end of the shift. This is intended to be on a case by case basis and to not become a regular occurrence. Overtime rules will still apply in accordance with FLSA.

Saturday or Sunday overtime work is not paid differential time unless it is part of the employee's regular scheduled work week.

Employees called in due to weather related emergencies would be paid under Emergency Shift Pay and not shift differential pay.

#### 24. RECLASSIFICATION/PCQ REVIEW.

If an employee is reclassified into a currently existing classification, the employee shall be reclassified effective the date the employee and/or supervisor signed the Position Classification Questionnaire (PCQ), whichever signed first, and shall receive retroactive pay, if any, to that date. The employee's merit date shall be changed to the first of the month following one year from the effective date of the reclassification.

If an employee is reclassified into a newly developed classification, the employee's reclassification date will be the date the new classification was approved by the County Administrator. The employee's merit date shall be changed to the first of the month following one year from the effective date of the reclassification. The employee may be eligible for up to six month's retroactive temporary out of classification pay (TOC) if it is determined that the employee was performing at least 75% of the new classification's duties prior to the new classification's creation.

When it is determined that an employee has been performing the work of a higher classification and the employee is not subsequently reclassified since management

decided to remove the higher level duties, the employee shall receive temporaryout-of-class (TOC) pay for the period starting from the date the employee and/or supervisor signed the PCQ, whichever came first.

If, however, there are special circumstances that affect completion of a reclassification, the Director of Human Resources may authorize retroactive (TOC) pay which exceeds the 6 months and is not limited to the current fiscal year. Such decision shall not be subject to the grievance and arbitration process.

### 25. BILINGUAL PAY.

When an employee is required to use a second (or more) language, including American Sign Language (ASL), as a condition for holding a particular position, the employee will receive an additional five percent (5%) of base hourly rate to be added to the employee's regular salary. "Required use" shall be documented by an approved Position Classification Questionnaire or "Certification of Bilingual Requirement" Form.

When an employee is authorized by their supervisor to utilize their bilingual skills in a sporadic nature, the employee will receive an additional five percent (5%) of their base hourly rate for actual time, rounded up to the nearest hour, for performing bilingual duties.

# **ARTICLE 15 - JOB SHARE**

### 1. **DEFINITION.**

"Job sharing position" means a regular full time position that may be held by two individuals on a shared time basis whereby the individuals holding the position each work 50% of the time.

## 2. DETERMINATION.

Job sharing is a voluntary program. An employee who wishes to participate in job sharing may submit a written request to the Director of the Department to be considered for job share positions. The Department Director shall determine if job sharing is appropriate for a specific position.

Determination of job sharing or the continuance of a job sharing position is the exclusive right of the Department Director.

If one job sharing partner is removed, dismissed, resigns or otherwise is separated from the job, the Department Director has the right to determine if job sharing is still appropriate for the position. If the Department Director determines that job sharing is not appropriate for the position or the Department Director is unable to recruit qualified employees for the job share position, the remaining employee shall have the right to assume the position on a regular full time basis.

### 3. PROBATIONARY PERIOD.

The probationary period for job share employees shall be the same as for a regular full time employee.

### 4. MERIT INCREASES AND PERFORMANCE APPRAISALS.

Job share employees shall be eligible to move for merit increases on the same time schedule as a regular full-time employee.

### 5. LONGEVITY.

Job share employees shall be eligible for longevity pay on the same time schedule as a regular full-time employee.

### 6. VACATION LEAVE AND SICK LEAVE.

Job sharing employees shall accrue vacation leave and sick leave on a prorated basis.

## 7. HOLIDAYS.

Job share employees will share equally in holiday compensation on a 50/50 split. However, with management's approval, employees may adjust their work schedules to accommodate a prorated holiday work week.

### 8. HEALTH AND WELFARE.

Job sharing employees shall be entitled to health and welfare benefits as described in Article 12 (Health and Welfare).

# 9. LAYOFF.

For purposes of layoff and bumping, individuals filling a job share position will be considered as separate individuals for determining service credits (merit/seniority).

Seniority for layoff and bumping purposes shall be granted similarly to regular parttime positions which is on a pro rata basis using a two thousand eighty (2080) hour base.

## ARTICLE 16 - FERRY OPERATORS

It is recognized by the County and the Union that the Ferry Operators represent a separate and unique scheduling requirement.

Their status is defined as follows:

### 1. REGULAR FULL TIME.

Ferry Operators are regular full-time employees.

#### 2. WORK WEEK.

The Ferry Operators' work week shall consist of forty (40) hours worked on consecutive days.

#### 3. WORK ASSIGNMENT.

On occasion, it may be necessary to modify work assignments in order to achieve the forty (40) hour work week obligation. Management has the right to meet that requirement by assigning Ferry Operator(s) to other duties within the Transportation Maintenance Program. During such assignments, the work schedule will be either ten and one-half (10½) hours or eight and one-half (8½) hours, depending on the schedule in place at the time. In this situation, the Ferry Operator will have an unpaid one-half (½) hour lunch.

### 4. OVERTIME.

The work shift schedule shall be developed in partnership with the Union and County. Overtime will be paid in accordance with Article 7 (Hours of Work).

#### 5. FERRY WORK SHIFT.

The Ferry Operator will receive a paid one-half (1/2) hour lunch break and two paid fifteen (15) minute rest breaks.

### 6. PERMANENT PLACE OF REPORTING.

Ferry Operator's permanent place of reporting will be the Canby Ferry site at time of ferry operation or the County Facility located at 902 Abernethy Road, Oregon City, Oregon, during time of non-operation.

## ARTICLE 17 - PERSONNEL RECORDS AND INFORMATION

- 1. The parties agree as follows in regard to personnel records and information:
  - (a) An employee or their representative, with written consent of the employee, may inspect that employee's personnel file. Upon written request, an employee or their authorized representative shall be given a copy of any materials in the employee's departmental personnel file.
  - (b) An employee shall be furnished a copy of any statement written for inclusion in the employee's personnel file concerning the employee's conduct or work performance.
  - (c) The employee shall have the opportunity to submit a written statement in opposition to all derogatory materials placed into the employee's personnel file.
  - (d) For purposes of this section, "personnel file" shall refer to the formal file or files of personnel documents maintained by the Department of Human Resources and/or by the employee's department or division.
  - (e) Material reflecting caution, consultation, warning, admonishment and reprimand placed in an employee's personnel file shall be retained for a maximum of three (3) years, unless there are repeat occurrences. No material reflecting critically on an employee shall be placed in an employee's personnel file which does not bear the signature of the employee indicating they have seen a copy of the material. The employee's signature does not necessarily indicate agreement.

### **ARTICLE 18 - DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE**

### 1. EMPLOYEES SUBJECT TO DISCIPLINARY ACTION.

Employees may, in good faith for just cause, be subject to disciplinary action by oral or written reprimand, unpaid suspension, demotion, or discharge; provided, however, in the case of regular employees, such action shall take effect only after the supervisor gives written notice of the action and cause to the employee except for cases of oral reprimand. The Union shall be notified of all discipline or proposed disciplinary action except for oral reprimand.

### 2. REPRIMANDS SUBJECT TO APPEAL.

Any regular employee in the bargaining unit who is disciplined in writing, suspended, demoted, or discharged shall have the right to appeal the action through Step IV of the Grievance Procedure, and then to Step V (Arbitration). An employee electing either Step V (Arbitration) or a hearing as defined in the Personnel Ordinance shall thereby waive a hearing and decision in the other forum. The Union shall submit any such grievance at Step I of the Grievance Procedure no later than ten (10) working days after the effective date of the disciplinary action.

### 3. MANNER OF REPRIMAND.

If the County has reason to reprimand an employee, every reasonable effort will be made to accomplish the reprimand in a manner that will not embarrass the employee before other employees or the public.

#### 4. PREDISMISSAL HEARING.

When the Employer believes there is just cause for discharge, the employee involved will be either placed on paid administrative leave or be allowed to continue work during the period of review. The employee and the Union will be notified in writing at the time the action is taken that the employee is subject to discharge. Such notification shall state the reasons for which the employee is being discharged. The Employer shall provide to the employee an opportunity to respond to the charges at an informal pre-dismissal hearing which may be recorded, with the person or persons having the authority to impose or revoke the disciplinary action. The employee shall be entitled to have a representative of their own choosing at the pre-dismissal hearing for the purpose of providing advice and counsel to the employee. The employee may be granted additional time, at the discretion of the Employer, to prepare for the pre-dismissal hearing.

### 5. PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEE GRIEVANCE.

A probationary employee shall be afforded the opportunity to grieve any alleged violation, misapplication and/or misinterpretation of this agreement; however, this shall not include any matter involving discipline and/or discharge.

#### 6. ELECTRONIC RECORDINGS/DATA

Video camera recordings, GPS data, and/or other electronic data may be accessed, reviewed and preserved by the County for business reasons. Such recordings/data will not be used for yearly performance evaluations, unless disciplinary action has been imposed from evidence derived from a specific video recording, GPS data, and/or other electronic data. In the event the County elects to review video, GPS,

or other electronic data as part of an investigation, the County shall notify the Union and provide the Union with an opportunity to view the video and/or data. The County will not randomly review video, GPS, or other electronic data for the purpose of disciplining employees. The County understands that it has the burden of proving "just cause" exists to support the discipline or discharge of any non-probationary employee.

.

## **ARTICLE 19 – SENIORITY**

1. Seniority shall be defined as meaning an employee's total length of continuous service with the County since the employee's last date of hire; if equal, the employee's total length of unbroken service within a department; if equal, the total length of service within the employee's job classification.

If all of the above elements are equal, the final determining factor will be the toss of a coin. Of those involved in the tie-breaker(s), the person whose last name begins with the letter nearest the beginning of the alphabet (and who is also involved in the particular toss) shall be the coin tosser.

2. For the purpose of computing seniority, all authorized leave shall be considered as time worked. Employees who are laid off as a result of a reduction in positions and who are subsequently reinstated shall retain full seniority except for such periods of layoff.

### **ARTICLE 20 – RECRUITMENT**

Whenever a bargaining unit position becomes available, the County will fill the position, whenever possible, by recalling names from an existing layoff register. In order to be recalled, the employee must demonstrate the required certifications, knowledge, and skills to meet the minimum qualifications of the position. If no layoff register exists, the County may fill the position from an existing eligibility register or shall open a recruitment. The County shall first attempt to fill the position by certifying the qualified DTD bargaining unit applicants to the Department plus veterans eligible for preference under state law. When there are less than four qualified bargaining unit members on the list, sufficient qualified external applicants will be certified such that the total certified equals four plus veterans eligible for preference under state law. In the event there are no bargaining unit members qualified, the County shall certify qualified external applicants plus veterans eligible for preference under state law. In the event there are no bargaining unit members qualified, the County shall certify qualified external applicants plus veterans eligible for preference under state law and qualified candidates to address affirmative action goals.

# **ARTICLE 21 – LAYOFF**

### 1. NOTIFICATION.

In the event it becomes necessary to effect a reduction in the work force in any classification or position in any work unit, the County shall notify affected employees and the Union in writing at least thirty (30) calendar days in advance of the effective date, except in emergency situations. Such notification will include a list of identified positions/classifications in which the employee may be qualified to bump. The County shall also provide the Union with a layoff list.

Those employees who wish to participate in the bumping process must notify the Department of Human Resources in writing within five (5) working days after receiving their notice. Such notification must include a complete list of the employee's qualifications, skills and abilities. Those employees who do not notify Human Resources will automatically be placed on layoff status and laid off on the specified date.

The County may make an extension when an employee is unable to submit forms within five (5) working days due to circumstances beyond the employee's control, such as illness, accident or vacation.

### 2. LAYOFF ORDER AND BUMPING RIGHTS.

Layoff order shall be established within the Department on the basis of seniority. Employees shall be laid off in reverse order of their seniority, except as modified in Section 3. Laid off employees shall have the right to bump into regular positions or to displace temporary or seasonal employees at the same or lower level as outlined in Section 5. A same level position is any position in a classification with the same maximum pay rate as the classification of the position being laid off. A lower level position is defined as any position in a classification with a lower maximum pay rate than the classification of the position being laid off.

### 3. EXCEPTION TO LAYOFF ORDER.

The Department Director may make an exception to the order of layoff when the retention of employees with needed skills or performance abilities are necessary for the efficient operation of the department. Such actions shall be taken only for articulated, job-related reasons and substantiated by written documentation. The judgment of the Department Director shall be sustained unless such judgment is shown to be arbitrary or capricious.

### 4. QUALIFICATIONS FOR BUMPING.

The qualification of an employee to bump shall depend upon that employee demonstrating current possession of the required certifications, knowledge and skill to meet the minimum qualifications of the position prior to bumping. In addition, bumping employees must demonstrate the ability to perform on the job at a satisfactory level of performance within thirty (30) calendar days.

Between the tenth (10<sup>th</sup>) and twentieth (20<sup>th</sup>) calendar day of this period, the County will provide the employee either with a written statement assessing their performance. On the 30<sup>th</sup> calendar day of this period, if the employee is not

performing satisfactorily, the employee will be given a minimum of 15 calendar days' notice of intent to terminate the employee. Any such terminated employee will retain all layoff rights related to the classification from which the employee was originally laid off.

The County will provide the employee with a reasonable orientation and guidance for the position.

### 5. OPTIONS FOR LAID OFF EMPLOYEES.

Laid off employees shall have the following options:

- (a) Accept the layoff.
- (b) Displace the employee with the lowest seniority in a position at the same or lower level classification in the department, provided the displacing employee is more senior and is qualified for the position as described in Section 4.
- (c) Displace a temporary or seasonal employee at the same or lower level classification.

### 6. TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES.

Temporary and seasonal employees will not be used to fill laid off bargaining unit positions. Within a classification identified for layoff, all temporary and seasonal employees will be terminated and probationary employees shall be laid off before any regular bargaining unit employees are laid off.

### 7. PAY RATES.

An employee who displaces an employee in a lower pay range will be paid pay rate in the lower salary range which most closely approximates their current pay rate. However, no bumping employee shall be paid at a rate that exceeds the maximum of the lower salary range. The employee may request and shall be paid for all accrued compensatory time at the rate being earned prior to layoff.

### 8. LAYOFF REGISTERS.

Any regular status employee who is laid off from a position, whether the employee accepts the layoff or bumps into another position, shall be eligible for recall to a position in the same classification for a period of three (3) years, without loss of seniority. Laid off probationary status employees will not be placed on a layoff register. Employees on layoff must keep the County informed of their current address and telephone number during the period of layoff.

A regular status employee who bumps into another position and then is subsequently laid off or bumps into another position shall be eligible for recall for a period of three (3) years to a position in the bumped classification.

A regular status employee who is laid off from the County and has no remaining bumping options shall be eligible for recall for a period of three (3) years to a position in the classification held at the time of layoff.

A regular status employee who is laid off from the County and has no remaining bumping options may request placement on a layoff register for recall for a period of three (3) years to a classification at the same or lower level. Such requests must be made in writing to the Department Director within thirty (30) days of the date the employee is laid off and are subject to the approval of the Director of Human Resources.

### 9. RECALL.

Recall shall be on the basis of seniority, with senior employees being recalled before junior employees, and before any new hires or transfers, Demonstrates possession of the required certifications, knowledge, and skill to meet the minimum qualifications of the classification. Laid off probationary and temporary employees do not have recall rights.

For purposes of recall, seniority shall be based on the date of seniority that the employee had on the day the employee received the layoff notice.

Upon recall to any positions in the Department, a recalled employee shall have restored all accruals of sick leave, vacation accrual rate and seniority in effect on the date of layoff.

If recalled to a position in the previous classification, the recalled employee will return to the same pay range, subject to any cost of living adjustments or range changes. The employee will serve no probationary period and will be eligible for a merit increase, if applicable, six (6) months after the date of recall. The employee's merit anniversary date will be adjusted to one (1) year following the date of merit increase eligibility.

If recalled to a position in a different classification, the employee will be placed in the new pay range which most closely approximates the employee's pay rate at the time of layoff, subject to any cost of living adjustments or range changes. Such employees shall be placed on probation for six (6) months and will be eligible for a merit increase, if applicable, on the first of the month following successful completion of the probation period. The employee's merit anniversary date will be adjusted to one (1) year following the date of merit increase eligibility.

No recalled employee shall be paid at a rate that exceeds the maximum of the salary range for the classification to which the employee was recalled.

## 10. MANAGEMENT/CONFIDENTIAL EMPLOYEES.

Management will notify the bargaining unit at least fifteen (15) days prior to its intent to lay off any management/confidential employee(s) who previously held positions within AFSCME 350-0, who may be eligible to exercise bumping rights into the bargaining unit.

Management/Confidential employees who are currently employed in the Department and who have previously held a position within the bargaining unit may bump into the bargaining unit with seniority limited to that accrued while employed within the bargaining unit.

Sections 1 through 3 of this Article will not apply to employees who are bumping from management or confidential positions.

Sections 4 through 10 of this Article will apply to Management/Confidential employees.

## ARTICLE 22 - SETTLEMENT OF DISPUTES

### 1. GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURE.

Any grievance or dispute which may arise between the parties involving the application, meaning, or interpretation of this Agreement shall be settled as outlined below.

STEP I. A Union representative, and the employee at the employee's option, may take up the grievance or dispute with the employee's Division Manager within ten (10) working days of the occurrence by submitting a written grievance; if at that time the representative is unaware of the grievance, the representative may take it up within ten (10) working days of the date upon which the representative knew or should have known of its occurrence. Under no circumstances may the grievance be taken up more than one hundred and twenty (120) calendar days after its actual date of occurrence. The written grievance shall identify the facts sufficient to explain the nature of the grievance, specific contract provision(s) allegedly violated, and requested remedy. The Division Manager, the Union representative, and the employee at the employee's option, shall meet at a mutually scheduled time to discuss and attempt to resolve the issue. If the issue remains unresolved, the Division Manager shall respond to the employee and the Union representative in writing within ten (10) working days. For purposes of this Article, "working day" refers to Monday through Thursday, excluding observed holidays.

<u>STEP II</u>. If the grievance still remains unadjusted, it may be presented by the Union representative or the Union Grievance Committee and the employee at the employee's option, to the Director of the Department within ten (10) working days after the Division Manager's response is due or when the response is received, whichever occurs last. The Director of the Department, the Union representative and the employee at the employee's option, shall meet at a mutually scheduled time to discuss and attempt to resolve the grievance. If the grievance remains unresolved, the Director of the Department shall respond to the employee and the Union representative or the Union Grievance Committee in writing within ten (10) working days.

<u>STEP III</u>. If the grievance still remains unadjusted, it may be presented by the Union representative or the Union Grievance Committee and the employee, to the Board of County Commissioners or to its designee(s) within ten (10) working days after the response of the Director of the Department is due or when the response is received, whichever occurs last. The Board of County Commissioners or its designee(s) shall meet at a mutually scheduled time to discuss and attempt to resolve the grievance. If the grievance remains unresolved, the Board of County Commissioners or its designee(s) shall respond in writing to the employee and the Union representative or the Union Grievance Committee within ten (10) working days.

<u>STEP IV</u>. If the grievance is still unsettled, either party may request arbitration by written notice to the other within ten (10) working days after the reply of the Board of County Commissioners or to its designee(s) is due or when the response is received, whichever occurs last. However, by mutual agreement between the Union and the County, any grievance filed under the terms of this Article may be referred to mediation prior to requesting Arbitration at Step V. Cost for mediation services shall be equally split between the Union and the County.

STEP V. ARBITRATION. If arbitration is requested, the parties shall forthwith agree upon an arbitrator who shall act as sole arbitrator of the dispute. The parties agree that any decision of the arbitrator which is within the scope of this Agreement shall be final and binding upon them. In the event that the parties fail to agree upon the selection of an arbitrator, a list of seven (7) arbitrators with an office in Oregon or Washington shall be requested from the Employment Relations Board of the State of Oregon. The list requested shall consist of an odd number of arbitrators. Each party shall, in turn, strike one arbitrator at a time from the list until one name remains. The arbitrator whose name remains shall act as the arbitrator of the dispute. The arbitrator shall not have the authority to modify, add to, alter or detract from the express provisions of this agreement. The arbitrator shall exercise all powers relating to admissibility of evidence, conduct of the hearing and arbitration procedures, provided that in doing so the arbitrator shall not contravene any provisions of this Agreement. The compensation of the arbitrator and all expenses incurred by the arbitrator shall be borne by the party against whom the arbitrator's decision is adverse.

When the Board of County Commissioners or to its designee(s) has denied a grievance and the arbitration is requested, the parties must, within one (1) year of the date the Board of County Commissioners or its designee(s) denies the grievance, select an arbitrator and either party requests a date for the arbitration hearing, or the grievance is considered closed without prejudice to the issues presented by the grievance.

### 2. CLASS ACTION GRIEVANCE.

If there is a breach of any provision of this Agreement affecting a group of employees, the Union shall have the right to take up such breach.

### **ARTICLE 23 - CONTRACT WORK**

At least twenty (20) calendar days' notice will be given to the Union before the County may contract out or subcontract, except in the case of an emergency as defined in Article 1 (Definitions). The County will provide a copy of the memorandum detailing the scope of work to effect notice.

At least ninety (90) calendar days' notice will be given to the Union before the County may contract out or subcontract, when such contracting out or subcontracting will result in the layoff of one or more regular employees. Layoffs under this process shall be conducted according to the procedures in Article 21 (Layoff).

## **ARTICLE 24 - GENERAL PROVISIONS**

### 1. NO DISCRIMINATION.

The provisions of this Agreement shall be applied equally to all employees in the bargaining unit without discrimination as to age, sex, marital status, disability, race, color, creed, national origin, or political affiliation. The Union shall share equally with the County the responsibility for applying this provision of the Agreement.

The County agrees not to interfere with the rights of employees to become members of the Union and there shall be no discrimination, interference, restraint, or coercion by the County or any County representative against any employee because of Union membership or because of any employee activity in an official capacity on behalf of the Union, or for any other cause, provided such activity or other cause does not interfere with the effectiveness and efficiency of County operations in serving and carrying out its responsibility to the public.

### 2. EXISTING CONDITIONS.

All existing benefits and conditions shall be subject to negotiation with the Union before being changed. Whenever any changes are proposed, the Union will be notified in writing and the changes shall be posted prominently on the bulletin board for a period of ten (10) consecutive work days, by the conclusion of which the rules will be deemed accepted and approved by the Union unless the Union has given notice of intent to negotiate. If notice to negotiate is given, a reasonable time therefore will be allowed prior to the rules becoming effective.

### 3. RULES.

The County agrees to notify the Union in writing and to furnish to the Union copies of all future work rules to be posted prominently on the bulletin boards for a period of ten (10) consecutive work days, by the conclusion of which the rules will be deemed accepted and approved by the Union unless the Union has given notice of intent to negotiate. If notice to negotiate is given, a reasonable time therefore will be allowed prior to the rules becoming effective.

### 4. **PROTECTIVE CLOTHING.**

If any employee is required to wear protective clothing or any type of protective device, such protective clothing or protective device, unless normally provided by the employee according to industrial practices, shall be furnished to the employee by the County. The cost of maintaining the protective clothing or device including tailoring, cleaning and laundering shall be paid by the County.

The Labor/Management Committee will determine what employees by classification should be required to wear safety boots. Exceptions may be made to this list for an employee whose individual position requires the wearing of boots while the overall classification does not. The County will provide up to \$200.00 per fiscal year for purchase or repair of such protective footwear and orthotics subject to the employee providing a receipt.

### 5. TOOL REPLACEMENT/ALLOWANCE.

The County agrees to replace "in kind" the Mechanics' tools which are worn out or broken in the performance of their assigned duties for the County. When a tool is lost and can be verified by management that the tool was lost in the course of employment and was not due to employee negligence, the tool will be eligible for replacement.

In addition, Equipment Services Mechanics shall, on an annual basis, and upon presentation of a receipt(s), be eligible for reimbursement up to an amount of five hundred and fifty dollars (\$550) for tools used in the course of employment.

Employees covered under this provision shall, on an annual basis, provide to their manager a written and photographic inventory of all personally-owned tools used in the performance of their assigned duties for the County.

### 6. LAUNDERING FEES.

The County agrees to provide daily an adequate number of clean pants, shirts, jackets, or coveralls for the following classifications and personnel:

**Traffic Operations Specialist Traffic Signal Electrician** Traffic Signal Lead Electrician Ferry Operator Integrated Vegetation Management Coordinator Transportation Maintenance Specialist I Transportation Maintenance Specialist II Transportation Maintenance Specialist III Transportation Maintenance Specialist IV Transportation Maintenance Technician. Senior **Transportation Maintenance Technician Equipment Maintenance Coordinator** Mechanic, Senior Mechanic Heavy Equipment Mechanic Heavy Equipment Mechanic, Senior Welder/Fabricator **Procurement Coordinator** Weighmaster Motor Carrier Safety Coordinator

### 7. CDL AND FERRY OPERATOR'S LICENSE – PHYSICAL EXAMINATION.

Any employee who is required to maintain a valid Commercial Driver License (CDL) as a condition of employment shall also be required to maintain a valid Medical Examiner's Certificate. Any employee who is required to maintain a valid Ferry Operator's License as a condition of employment shall also be required to maintain the equivalent of a valid Medical Examiner's Certification. For employees who choose to have the physical examination conducted by a County provided physician, the County agrees to pay the incurred cost and provide up to a maximum of two (2) hours of paid leave time during a regularly scheduled work day for such medical examination. If an employee chooses to have the physical examination and will not provide any paid leave time. In order to be eligible for the paid examination and paid

leave time, the examination must be scheduled through the Safety Coordinator's office.

# ARTICLE 25 - DRIVER/OPERATOR LICENSE SUSPENSION POLICY

Many classifications within the bargaining unit require the employee to maintain a valid driver's license. When a driver's license is suspended or revoked, the County will make reasonable efforts for the employee to continue performing their regular duties. Such efforts will be based on the percentage of driving required by the position and work availability. Decisions concerning situations shall be fact driven and based on departmental workloads and availability of productive work.

# 1. LICENSE SUSPENSION POLICY.

This policy covers all bargaining unit employees required to hold an Oregon Drivers License/Commercial Drivers License/U.S. Coast Guard Ferry Operator License to perform the essential functions of their job, and is subject to all applicable State and Federal laws.

Any revocation or suspension of license(s) is subject to the following:

# Employees requiring a "Class C" Driver License

(a) For a loss of driving privileges up to, and including, forty-five (45) calendar days, the County will assign/provide work at the employee's current pay rate that the employee can perform without the requirement of the license, if such work is available. If work is not available, the employee may utilize any accumulated vacation or comp time during this period. The employee may be subject to a "Last Chance Agreement".

(b) For the loss of driving privileges exceeding forty-five (45) calendar days, up to and including ninety (90) calendar days the County will not provide work. The employee may use any accumulated vacation or comp time during this period. The employee may return to regular duties upon acquiring the appropriate driving privilege (or license reinstatement). The employee's return to duty may be subject to a "Last Chance Agreement".

(c) If any loss of driving privileges is due to substance abuse – either alcohol, prescription drugs, or non-prescription drugs, and treatment is ordered by the court or other legal authority, the employee will provide written verification to the County, from the treatment provider, verifying that the employee has undergone the appropriate treatment.

(d) For the loss of driving privileges exceeding ninety (90) calendar days, the employee may be discharged.

# Employees requiring a "Commercial Driver License" (CDL)

(a) For any loss of driving privileges up to, and including, forty-five (45) calendar days, the County will assign/provide work at the employee's current pay rate that the employee can perform without the requirement of the license, if such work is available. The employee may be subject to a "Last Chance Agreement".

(b) For the loss of commercial driving privileges (CDL) exceeding forty-five (45) calendar days up to one (1) year, where the employee is able to utilize their class "C" driver license, the County will assign/provide work at a reduced pay rate that the employee can perform without the requirement of the CDL license. This reduced rate shall be one (1) step below their current pay step in their current classification or 3.5% below their current pay rate, in salary grades with no steps. The employee may return to regular duties, at their regular rate of pay, upon acquiring the appropriate driving privilege (or license reinstatement). The employee may be subject to a "Last Chance Agreement".

(c) For the loss of all driving privileges (CDL & class "C") exceeding forty-five (45) calendar days, up to and including ninety (90) calendar days the County will not provide work. The employee may use any accumulated vacation or comp time during this period. The employee may return to regular duties upon acquiring the appropriate driving privilege (or license reinstatement). The employee may be subject to a "Last Chance Agreement".

(d) For the loss of all driving privileges (CDL and Class C), exceeding ninety (90) calendar days, the employee may be discharged.

# Employees requiring a "U.S. Coast Guard Ferry Operator License"

(a) For any loss of ferry operating privileges up to, and including, forty-five (45) calendar days, the County may assign/provide work at the employee's current pay rate that the employee can perform without the requirement of the license, if such work is available. If work is not available, the employee may utilize any accumulated vacation or comp time during this period. The employee may be subject to a "Last Chance Agreement".

(b) For the loss of ferry operating privileges exceeding forty-five (45) calendar days the employee may be discharged.

# **Probationary Employee**

(a) Probationary employees who lose driving/ferry operating privileges shall be subject to termination.

# 2. ALCOHOL AND DRUG ABUSE ASSISTANCE POLICY.

- (a) Employees seeking treatment for drug or alcohol abuse will be encouraged and supported in doing so.
- (b) The employee may return to the employee's position upon completion of an inpatient/residential treatment program and/or may remain in their regular position while participating in an ongoing, outpatient treatment program without penalty or jeopardizing the employee's employment with the County.
- (c) Time used for purposes of assessment, evaluation, counseling, and treatment of alcohol and drug dependency may be charged against accrued and available sick leave. Use of accrued and available vacation leave for the above-stated purposes related to alcohol or drug dependency shall be in accordance with the same requirements which would apply to any other illness or injury. If no

sick leave or vacation times are available for an employee to use for these purposes, an employee may use leave without pay as long as the employee's supervisor is properly notified.

(d) A voluntary confidential support network of fellow bargaining unit employees will be available to employees with alcohol and/or drug dependency problems to be utilized in times of need.

Given the importance of having our employees aware of available help, we suggest the County provide updated information on available assistance from the Employee Assistance Program on a continuing basis.

### **ARTICLE 26 - SAVINGS CLAUSE**

Should any Article, Section or Portion thereof of this Agreement be held unlawful and unenforceable by any Court of competent jurisdiction, such decision of the Court shall apply only to the specific Article, Section or Portion thereof, directly specified in the decisions; upon the issuance of such a decision, the parties agree immediately to negotiate a substitute, if possible, for the invalidated Article, Section or Portion thereof.

# **ARTICLE 27 – OVER/UNDER PAYMENTS**

Any employee receiving unauthorized payments has the obligation to call such error to the attention of his or her supervisor.

### A. Underpayments

When an error occurs resulting in a negative impact on the employee, upon notification by the employee, in writing to the Payroll Manager, and verification by the payroll division, payment in correction of the error shall be made in the employee's paycheck for the current pay period.

### B. Payments in Error

When an employee receives payments due to a clerical, technical, or computer error, through no fault of the employee and where the employee did not and could not reasonably have known that the error occurred, the employee will only be liable for, and the County shall only recover, the overpayment for a period of one-hundred and eight (180) days preceding the date of discovery of the error. If the discovery of the error is made by the employee who notifies the Payroll Manager in writing within ten (10) working days of discovery of the error that they believe their pay is incorrect and the County does not subsequently make a correction to stop the overpayment by the next payroll period after notification, the employee will not be liable for additional overpayments that occur following the date of notification.

### C. Repayment to the County

As soon as the overpayment is known, the County will make every effort to recover overpayments by payroll deduction over a reasonable period of time.

- 1. The County Payroll Manager shall notify the employee in writing of the overpayment which will include information supporting that an overpayment exists, and the amount of wages and/or benefits to be repaid. For purposes of recovering the overpayments by payroll deduction, the following shall apply:
- 2. The employee and the County shall meet and attempt to reach mutual agreement on a repayment schedule within thirty (30) calendar days following the written notification.
- 3. If there is not mutual agreement at the end of thirty (30) calendar days, the County shall implement the repayment schedule stated in subsection (D) below.
- 4. If the overpayment amount to be repaid is more than twenty-five (\$25) dollars, the overpayment shall be recovered in amounts not to exceed twenty-five (\$25) dollars per payroll period. If an overpayment is less than twenty-five (\$25) dollars, the overpayment shall be recovered in a lump sum deduction from the employee's paycheck.
- 5. An employee who has a factual disagreement with the County's determination that the overpayment has been made to the employee may grieve the determination through the grievance procedure.
- 6. This article/section does not waive the County's right to pursue other legal procedures and processes to recoup an overpayment made to former employees.

## D. Payment Plan

Employees can elect to either establish a payment plan through payroll deductions

as described under 26(C)(4) or may elect to pay overpayment in one lump sum. In the event the employee chooses to make a lump sum payment to the County, the County will adjust the amount owed for any tax paid, and will reduce the amount of employees' wages for the year on the employee's W2 form by the amount repaid.

# **ARTICLE 28 – TRANSPORTATION MAINTENANCE SERIES**

The County and the Union worked collaboratively in replacing the Skill-Based Pay (SBP) plan with a more traditional classification system and pay plan. As a part of this process, the Road Maintenance Assistant classification was also incorporated into the new Transportation Maintenance Specialist series.

1. Effective March 1, 2018, the new Transportation Maintenance Specialist (TMS) classification series was implemented with the following salary grades:

CLASSIFICATION	SALARY GRADE
Transportation Maintenance Specialist 1	DTD 14
Transportation Maintenance Specialist 2	DTD 17
Transportation Maintenance Specialist 3	DTD 19
Transportation Maintenance Specialist 4	DTD 21

- 2. No employee will be reassigned to the TMS 4 classification. The County will determine the number of TMS 4 positions required and will run an internal/promotional recruitment for TMS employees to fill these positions following the implementation of this agreement.
- 3. Upon implementation of this agreement, employees reassigned from the Road Maintenance Assistant classification will be eligible for regular merit increases as scheduled. Employees reassigned from one of the SBP classifications will have a merit date established. This merit date will be based on the calendar month of the employee's last SBP advancement/step increase. The established merit date will be on the first of the applicable calendar month following (or on) March 1, 2018. For example, if the employee's last SBP advancement was May 6, 2015, their next merit date will be May 1, 2018. If an employee's last SBP advancement was November 19, 2014, their next merit date will be November 1, 2018. Assigned merit dates will be formally communicated to each employee when these changes are implemented.
- 4. Effective March 1, 2018, employees assigned to a TMS classification will not be eligible to receive Lead worker pay. Employees assigned to perform work in a classification above their own will receive Out of Classification pay as outlined in Article 14 (Wages), Section 3 (Out of Class Work).
- 5. Any SBP Bridge Maintenance Worker employed prior to March 1, 2018, who does not possess a Class A CDL will not be required to obtain a Class A CDL in order to be assigned to the TMS 3 classification.
- 6. Upon implementation of the TMS classification series, the SBP Road Maintenance Worker, SBP Bridge Maintenance Worker and SBP Traffic Control Worker and Road Maintenance Assistant classifications will be archived from the DTD pay plan.

### **ARTICLE 29 – DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING POLICY**

The County and the Union agree to abide by the Department-wide Drug and Alcohol Testing Policy for employees covered by the Federal Highway Administration U.S. Department of Transportation regulations. Said policy will not be unilaterally modified except to the extent such modifications are mandated by changes to the federal regulations. In that case, the County will provide the Union with advance notice of any such modifications. The Drug and Alcohol Testing Policy can be found on the Department's intranet page.

### **ARTICLE 30 - TERM OF AGREEMENT**

- 1. This Agreement shall become effective as of the 1<sup>st</sup> day of July, 2018 or upon full ratification by both the Union and the County, whichever occurs last, and shall remain in full force and effect until the 30<sup>th</sup> day of June, 2021 or the date of signing of a subsequent agreement whichever last occurs. It shall be automatically renewed on July 1, 2021 and each year thereafter unless either party shall notify the other in writing no later than March 1<sup>st</sup> that it desires to modify this Agreement. In the event notice to modify is given, negotiations shall begin no later than May 1.
- 2. This Agreement may be amended at any time by mutual agreement of the Union and County; such amendments shall be in writing and signed by both parties.

IN	WITNESS	THEREOF,	the	parties	hereto	have	set	their	hands	this	 day	of
		, 20 <sup>-</sup>	19.									

### FOR THE UNION:

FOR THE COUNTY:

Devin Patterson President AFSCME-DTD/BCS	Chair Jim Bernard Board of County Commissioners	
Brooke Zenor Bargaining Team Member	Recording Secretary	
Christina Dannerbring Bargaining Team Member	Eric Sarha Bargaining Team Member	
Ross Kiely AFSCME Council Representative	Dan Johnson Bargaining Team Member	
	Mike Bezner Bargaining Team Member	
	Randy Harmon Bargaining Team Member	
	Sherryl Childers Bargaining Team Member	
	Adam Collier Chief Negotiator	

# **APPENDIX A**

# CLACKAMAS COUNTY, OREGON PUBLIC EMPLOYEES DTD/BCS CHAPTER OF LOCAL 350, COUNCIL #75 AFSCME

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

EXCEPTIONS TO THE FOUR DAY WORK WEEK

Memorandum of Understanding By and between AFSCME DTD And Clackamas County

All requests for exception should be made to the employee's supervisor at least two (2) weeks prior to the date the employee is requesting the exception to take place. Individual employees may request exceptions to the four-day work week, as established below, for personal or business reasons by filling out the "Employee Request for Schedule Adjustment during Four-Day Workweek" form. Requests for personal exceptions, excluding ADA, medical exemptions or religious reasons, shall be made to the employee's direct supervisor

### Exceptions to the Four Day Work Week

Exceptions may apply where required for business purposes or public service reasons. Personal exceptions may be made for ADA or medical accommodations, child or family care, educational or transportation commitments, or other personal reasons or community service commitments.

Allowances for exceptions will be made consistent with the needs of the county and may include: flexible schedules as defined in Article 7 (Hours of Work), Section 4., alternative work schedules allowing work on Friday via alternative work location, telecommuting, or other creative options.

Requests for individual exceptions to the regular schedule will be prioritized by the following order of importance:

1. ADA or medical accommodations (requires application and physician documentation) or religious accommodation requests. **This category of importance will be reviewed through Human Resources**.

2. Child care or family care center hours and contractual obligations to drop off or pick up family.

3. Educational commitments (previously scheduled classes) or transportation schedules (need to catch a bus, carpool that have limited options for alternate times).

4. Other personal reasons or community service commitments.

If the request is denied, the employee may appeal the Supervisor's decision:

1) To the Department Director.

2) If an employee's personal exception request is denied by the Director, the employee may appeal the denial to the Human Resources Director, or designee, whose decision will be final and not subject to the grievance and arbitration process of the

collective bargaining agreement.

Denials of requests must be in writing and provide an explanation for the denial. Denials cannot be for arbitrary and capricious reasons

For Clackamas County

For AFSCME

37134343.1

37134343.1



Evelyn Minor-Lawrence Director

DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN RESOURCES

PUBLIC SERVICES BUILDING 2051 Kaen Road | Oregon City, OR 97045

March 14, 2019

Board of County Commissioners Clackamas County

Members of the Board:

#### Approval of the Labor Contract Between The County of Clackamas and the <u>Clackamas County Employees' Association (CCEA)</u>

Purpose/Outcomes	Settlement of labor contract
Dollar Amount and Fiscal Impact	\$ 13,605,652.40
Funding Source	General Fund
Duration	July 1, 2018 – June 30, 2021
Previous Board Action	February 7, 2019 – Executive Session
Strategic Plan Alignment	Build public trust through good government.
Contact Person	Eric Sarha, HR Deputy Director 503-655-8292
Contract No.	N/A

#### BACKGROUND:

Clackamas County and CCEA entered into bargaining for a new contract on February 6, 2018. The County and CCEA held twelve (12) bargaining sessions and three (3) mediation sessions. On February 7, 2019, the County and CCEA reached full tentative agreement on a new three (3) year contract. On March 5, 2019, CCEA's ratification vote successfully passed.

The significant wage and other economic changes are outlined below:

#### Cost of Living Adjustment (COLA)

In years two and three, the floor of the cost of living increase was reduced from 2% to 0%. The ceiling remains the same.

- For fiscal year 2018-19, 2.8%. In lieu of retroactive pay, employees will receive a one-time lump sum payment based on gross earnings for the period of July 1, 2018 to the first full pay period after the effective date of ratification.
- For fiscal year 2019-20, 0%-4.5% based on CPI-W: West Urban Annual Average effective July 1, 2019. For fiscal year 2019-20 (year 2) the Index has published a 3.5% cost of living increase and has been factored into the fiscal impact.

• For fiscal year 2020-21, 0%-4.5% based on CPI-W: West Urban Annual Average effective July 1, 2020. *Projected 3.0% cost of living increase for year three has been assumed and factored into the fiscal impact.* 

#### Other Wage Increases

 Training Pay (new): Community Correction Officers, Community Corrections Counselors, Office Specialist 2s, Human Service Assistants, Administrative Analysts, Human Services Coordinators, and Case Managers who work in Community Corrections and are assigned training duties for which they are appropriately certified will be paid a 5% increase over the employee's current base hourly wage while performing such duties.

Community Correction Officers, Community Corrections Counselors who are also assigned FTO duties are not eligible to receive the 5% increase under this provision, but will continue to receive the 10% increase under Article 10(1)(d) while performing FTO duties.

- DPSST Certification (new): Community Corrections Officers who obtain a DPSST Intermediate Certificate in corrections will be paid an additional \$25 per pay period. Community Corrections Officers who obtain a DPSST Advanced Certificate in corrections will be paid \$50 per pay period. Certification pay will commence effective the pay period following proof of certification by DPSST to the Department Director. (\$11,700/yr.)
- Association Rights (new cap to County paid time): There shall be no more than twenty-five (25) Association representatives assigned to assist with the administration of CCEA-Main and the CCEA Part-time/Temporary Agreements. An Association representative or CCEA officer may use up to eighty (80) hours of County paid time per calendar year. (\$48,940.33/yr)
- Bilingual Pay (new): When a second language is required as a condition for holding a
  particular position, employee will receive an additional 5% of base hourly rate to be added to
  employee's regular salary.

#### **RECOMMENDATION:**

Staff recommends the Board approve the attached contracts for the Clackamas County Employees' Association.

Respectfully submitted,

Evelyn Minor Lawrence, HR Director

# CLACKAMAS COUNTY EMPLOYEES' ASSOCIATION





# 2018-2021 AGREEMENT

PRE	PREAMBLE	
ART	FICLE 1 - RECOGNITION	5
ART	FICLE 2 - PRESERVATION OF PUBLIC RIGHTS (TA)	5
ART	FICLE 3 - HOURS OF WORK	6
1.	Regular Hours.	6
2.	Work Week.	6
3.	Continuous Operation.	8
4. 5.	Work Schedule Changes and Notice.	8 8
5. 6.	Rest Periods. Seniority For Shift Scheduling.	o 9
7.	Employee Reporting Expectations.	9
ART	FICLE 4 - REDUCED WORKWEEK SCHEDULE	9
ART	FICLE 5 - HOLIDAYS	
1.	Holidays.	10
3.	Holidays for Employees Working a Five-Day Work Week.	11
4.	Holiday During Leave.	11
5.	Holiday Work.	11
6.	Part-time Employee Holidays.	11
ART	FICLE 6- SICK LEAVE	
1.	Accrual.	11
2.	Bereavement Leave.	12
3.	Immediate Family.	12
4.	Conversion to Retirement Benefit.	12
5.	Hours Charged.	12
6. 7.	Parental Leave.	13
7. 8.	Vacation Option. Family Medical Leave.	13 13
ART	FICLE 7 - VACATION LEAVE	
1.	Accrual.	13
2.	Vacation Times.	14
3.	Termination or Death.	14
4.	Hours Charged.	14
ART	FICLE 8 - OTHER LEAVES	
1.	Leave of Absence.	15
2.	Jury Duty.	15
3.	Educational Leave.	15
4.	Inclement Weather.	15
ART	ГІСLЕ 9 - HEALTH AND WELFARE	
1.	Medical Coverage.	15
2.	Flexible Benefits.	16
3.	Life Insurance.	16
<i>4</i> .	Dental Insurance.	16
5. 6	Disability Income Insurance. Reinstatement From Medical Layoff	17
6. 7.	Reinstatement From Medical Layoff. Full-Time Employees.	17 17
<i>8</i> .	Benefits for Regular Part-Time Employees.	17

9. 10	Job Share.	17 18	
10. 11.	Benefit Waiting Period. Benefits Review Committee.	18 18	
11. 12.	Plan Changes Required by Law or Insurance Carrier.	10 19	
ART	ARTICLE 10 - WAGES		
1.	Wages.	20	
2.	Overtime.	21	
3.	Travel Pay.	22	
4. 5	Retirement Contributions.	22 22	
5. 6.	Longevity. Computation of Hourly Rate.	22 23	
<i>7</i> .	Shift Differential.	23	
8.	On-Call Pay.	23	
9.	Call Back Pay.	24	
10.	Bilingual Skills Pay.	24	
11.	Travel Time.	24	
ART	ICLE 13 - DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE	. 30	
ART	ICLE 14 - SETTLEMENT OF DISPUTES	. 32	
1.	Association Grievance and Arbitration Procedure.	32	
2.	County Grievance and Arbitration Process.	33	
ART	ICLE 15 - WORKERS' COMPENSATION	. 33	
ART	ICLE 16 - UNION DUES	. 34	
ART	ICLE 17 - ASSOCIATION RIGHTS	. 34	
1.	Association Representatives.	34	
2.	Access to Workers.	35	
3.	Association Negotiators.	35	
4. 5.	No Discrimination.	35 35	
	Association Business on County Paid Time.		
	ICLE 18 - LABOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE	.36	
1.	Membership.	36 37	
2. 3.	Meeting Time. Purpose.	37 37	
	ICLE 19 - PERFORMANCE EVALUATION		
	ICLE 19 - I EKFORMANCE EVALUATION		
1. 2.	Housing Authority: Intradepartmental Transfer:	37 37	
ART	ICLE 21 - RECLASSIFICATION	. 37	
ART	ICLE 22 - LAYOFF AND RECALL	. 39	
1.	Reason for Layoff / Layoff Order.	39	
2.	Notice of Layoff and Bumping Options.	39	
3.	Layoff and Bumping Process.	39	
<i>4</i> .	Qualifications Review Committee.	40	
5. 6.	Layoff Status and Recall. Seniority.	40 41	
υ.	Senioruy.	41	

ART	ICLE 23 - MISCELLANEOUS	
1.	Existing Conditions.	41
2.	Rules.	41
3.	Car as Condition of Employment.	42
4.	Employment Policies and Practices.	42
5.	Limited-Term Appointments.	42
6.	Reorganization of a Department.	42
7.	Electronic Mail.	42
8.	Interview/Testing Time.	43
ART	ICLE 24 - SAVINGS CLAUSE	
ART	ICLE 25 - CLASSIFICATION/COMPENSATION REVIEW PANEL	45
ART	ICLE 24 - TERMINATION	
OFF	ICIAL GRIEVANCE FORM	

# 2018-2021 <u>A G R E E M E N T</u>

#### between

## CLACKAMAS COUNTY, OREGON

and

#### CLACKAMAS COUNTY EMPLOYEES' ASSOCIATION

#### PREAMBLE

This agreement is entered into by Clackamas County, Oregon, hereinafter referred to as the County, and the Clackamas County Employees' Association, hereinafter referred to as the Association.

The parties agree as follows:

#### **ARTICLE 1 - RECOGNITION**

The County recognizes the Association as the exclusive bargaining agent for the purpose of establishing salaries, wages, hours and other conditions of employment for all employees except temporary employees (those hired for a period not to exceed 1502.5 hours for employees in positions normally worked 37.5 hours per week on a full time equivalent or 1600 for employees in positions normally worked 40 hours per week on a full time equivalent in a twelve (12) month period based on the County's Affordable Care Act (ACA) look back period of November 1 through October 31 and every twelve months thereafter), part-time employees (regularly working a schedule of less than 18.75 hours per week), Deputy District Attorneys, elected officials, department heads, and employees who because of the their supervisory or confidential status do not have statutory bargaining rights and employees covered by other agreements. Confidential and supervisory positions which no longer perform statutory duties that exempt the position from the bargaining unit shall be covered by the terms and conditions of this agreement effective upon the termination of such duties.

The County and the Union further agree to recognize the Association as the bargaining agent for employees not now covered by this agreement or any other agreements upon a showing of interest of fifty percent (50%) plus one of the affected group of employees, provided, however, this does not include temporary employees hired through an outside agency or craft employees hired for six (6) month's or less.

#### **ARTICLE 2 - PRESERVATION OF PUBLIC RIGHTS**

The Association recognizes that an area of responsibility must be reserved to the County if County government is to effectively serve the public. Therefore, the County shall have the full and complete right to manage and direct its business and it is recognized that the following responsibilities of management are exclusively functions to be exercised by the County and are not subject to negotiation insofar as this right does not affect the meaning, interpretation or application of any other terms of this Agreement:

1. The determination of the governmental services to be rendered to the citizens of Clackamas County.

2. The determination of the County's financial, budgetary and accounting procedures.

3. The management and direction of the work force including, but not limited to, the right to determine the methods, processes and manner of performing work; the right to hire, promote, transfer within the same pay range and retain employees; the right to discipline or discharge for proper cause; the right to lay off for lack of funds; the right to establish or abolish positions or reorganize the departments or division; the right to determine schedules of work; the right to purchase, dispose and assign equipment or supplies; and the right to contract or subcontract any work. Provided, however, that prior to entering into a contract or subcontract for services which would directly eliminate more than one full-time bargaining unit position, the Association will be given, in writing, at least thirty (30) days' notice. The Association will be afforded, at their request, an opportunity to meet and receive relevant information, an opportunity to present its position to the Board of County Commissioners prior to Board action related to such contracting or subcontracting and the right to bargain the impact. However, in a reorganization, an expenditure reduction of less than ten percent (10%) would not be considered "contracting out". The Board of County Commissioners retains full authority to let contracts as they believe to be appropriate.

4. The parties recognize that change is ongoing, rapid and accelerating and that employee involvement in formulating proposals often leads to improved decision making. The Association agrees to allow management to ask/assign its members to various task forces, work groups or committees. Recommendations that affect working conditions are subject to all the requirements of the PECBA.

The County, in exercise of the above-mentioned functions, will not discriminate against any employee because of membership in the Association.

# **ARTICLE 3 - HOURS OF WORK**

#### 1. Regular Hours.

The regular hours of work each day shall be consecutive except for interruptions for lunch period, and as may be required for emergencies.

#### 2. Work Week.

The usual work week will be Monday through Friday, except when necessary for scheduling of services provided to the public (as provided in #4 below) or for employees in Continuous Operations. Each employee will have a consistent regular or alternative work schedule defined in the County timekeeping system. Employees shall have two (2) consecutive, regularly scheduled days off during each seven-day work period except during shift rotations. For employees of the Library, Residential Services Division of Community Corrections and the Juvenile Intake and Assessment Center, during shift rotations, the work week may be greater or less than 37.5 or 40 hours.

#### Regular Schedule:

Consists of five (5) consecutive seven and one-half (7.5)-hour days or five (5) consecutive eight (8) hour days, four (4) consecutive ten (10) hour days, or three (3) consecutive 9.5 hour days plus one (1) nine (9) hour day.

#### **Paid Holiday Value**: 7.5, 8, 9.5, or 10 **Daily OT Threshold**: 7.5, 8 [for a five (5) day work week], 9.5, or 10 [for a four (4) day work week]

#### Alternate Schedule:

The County and the Association recognize that in order to adequately serve the public or to meet employee personal needs, the employee and supervisor may agree to an alternative schedule, provided that: the agreed upon schedule is consistent with the needs of the County; the schedule does not establish a work day that is less than four (4) hours nor more than ten (10) hours; the schedule has start and end times beginning on the hour or in fifteen (15) minute increments thereafter; and the schedule does not establish a work week in excess of 40 hours; and shall be in place thirty (30) days or more. Nothing in this Article shall be construed to supersede the right of management to determine schedule as provided in Article 2.

Examples include and are not limited to:

- One week of five (5) eight (8) hour days, one week of four (4) ten (10) hour days.
- Four (4) consecutive days of nine (9) hours each, followed by one day of four (4) hours (40-hour work week).
- Four (4) consecutive days of ten (10) hours each, followed by three (3) consecutive days off, followed by one (1) of ten (10) hours, one (1) day of nine (9) hours, one (1) day of eight (8) hours, one (1) day of seven (7) hours and one (1) day of six (6) hours, followed by two (2) consecutive days off (80-hour work period).
- Four (4) consecutive days of ten (10) hours each, followed by three (3) consecutive days off, followed by two (2) days of eight (8) hours each, one (1) day of nine (9) hours and one (1) day of ten (10) hours, followed by three (3) consecutive days off (75-hour work period).
- Four (4) consecutive days of nine (9) hours each, followed by three (3) consecutive days off, followed by five (5) consecutive days totaling thirty-nine (39) hours, followed by two (2) consecutive days off (a modification of the 9-75 schedule);

#### **Paid Holiday Value**

If you work:

5 days, 37.5 hours a week, holiday is equal to 7.5 hours

5 days, 40 hours a week, holiday is equal to 8 hours

4 days, 37.5 hours a week, holiday is equal to 9.5 hours

4 days, 40 hours a week, holiday is equal to 10 hours

## **OT Threshold**

If you work:

5 days, 37.5 hours a week, overtime is paid after 37.5 hours in a work week 5 days, 40 hours a week, overtime is paid after 40 hours in a work week 4 days, 37.5 hours a week, overtime is paid after 37.5 hours in a work week 4 days, 40 hours a week, overtime is paid after 40 hours in a work week

#### Flexible Schedule:

Supervisors may request employees to flex their daily work schedule to meet workload demands. Employees may also request to flex their daily work hours for personal reasons. The purpose of this flexibility is to allow employees, with the prior approval of management, the ability to adjust hours of a work shift. Such schedule changes could be more or less than the minimum or maximum hours discussed in the regular or alternative schedules above. These changes in the schedule should be considered occasional and sporadic to meet an immediate or short term need and shall not last more than ten (10) consecutive workdays. It is understood that such agreements will not create an overtime liability for the County unless previously authorized in advance by the supervisor.

As this change to the work schedule is temporary, the value of a paid holiday and the daily OT Threshold will be the same as the employee's base regular or alternative schedule as set in the time keeping system.

# 3. Continuous Operation.

Any operation that consists of sixteen (16) or more total hours (more than one shift) in a work day, and/or a work week that consists of seven consecutive days, is considered continuous operation, e.g., the Community Corrections Residential Center, Juvenile Intake and Assessment Center, and the Clackamas Mental Health Center.

# 4. Work Schedule Changes and Notice.

All employees will have a regular or alternative schedule as defined in the timekeeping system except: (1) as may be modified by this Article, (2) as may be required for emergencies and (3) for changes in scheduling of services provided to the public. Provided, however, employees will be given a minimum of 30 calendar days' notice of a workday/shift change before taking effect. The employee and supervisor may agree to effect the transfer in less than 30 calendar days by mutual agreement. Employees that have a legitimate hardship as a result of a contemplated shift change will be given additional time to resolve the conflict. The amount of additional time is subject to approval by the supervisor and department director.

# 5. Rest Periods.

A minimum of a one-half-hour lunch break shall be taken at the approximate mid-point of the shift. Two fifteen (15)-minute breaks shall be provided for each regular shift. One fifteen (15)-minute break shall be taken at the approximate midpoint of both the first half and the second half of the shift.

Working through the lunch period requires prior approval from a supervisor. If an employee works through the lunch period, such time shall be paid at their regular rate of pay unless it meets the requirement for overtime as set forth in Article 3(2) or Article 10(2).

Community Corrections Officers, Community Corrections Counselors, Community Corrections Technicians, and Community Corrections Aides in the Residential Services Division of Community Corrections shall receive a thirty (30) minute paid lunch period with the expectation that the employees are available for work during that time.

## 6. Seniority For Shift Scheduling.

Management will consider seniority as well as other job related factors when determining shift assignments.

## 7. Employee Reporting Expectations.

During a disaster it is important for Clackamas County to know employees are safe, and to assist with any needs they have. It is also critical to resume vital county services to residents. The County anticipates needing every available employee to effectively respond to the impact of a declared major emergency or disaster, whether it strikes during normal work hours, at night, on a weekend or a holiday. In a major emergency or disaster, employees should be prepared to report for work at any time and can expect to work non-regular extended hours under challenging conditions. Employees may be asked to temporarily perform work that is not normally in their regular classification; provided however employees will not be required to perform work that they believe is outside their area of experience, beyond their capabilities or that they consider unsafe.

<u>If the major emergency or disaster occurs during non-work hours</u>, employees are expected to ensure the safety and welfare of their families. If the employees are available for work, they should make every effort to contact their supervisor for reporting instructions or follow their Department internal communication plan for a major emergency or disaster. Employees can also check the Employee Hotline at 503.655.8468. If unable to establish contact with a department representative, employees should make reasonable effort to report to the Public Service Building (PSB) or other reporting station as identified on the Employee Hotline as soon as practical.

<u>If the major emergency or disaster occurs during work hours</u>, employees are expected to remain on the job unless specifically released by their supervisor. The County will assist the employee, if requested, in checking on the status of immediate family members of on-duty-employees and report that status to the employee.

Employees will be compensated for hours worked as provided in Article 10 Wages, and in addition will also be paid for all hours worked on emergency/disaster.

## **ARTICLE 4 - REDUCED WORKWEEK SCHEDULE**

The parties agree that where it is in the interest of both the employer and the Association and possible to eliminate the necessity for layoff by the implementation of a reduced workweek, such a plan may be used. Discussions regarding the reduced workweek in any department or work unit may be initiated by either the employer or the Employees' Association. The County retains the final authority to determine whether a reduced workweek will be implemented; however, any reduced workweek plan shall encompass the following conditions:

1. Where practicable and equitable, the reduced workweek will be uniform to all employees in the unit affected.

2. That such reduced workweek shall be for a specific period of time, which shall be determined at the time of establishing the reduced workweek.

3. Fringe benefits will continue for employees on reduced workweek within contractual limits of this agreement and contracts with insurers. Part-time limitations will apply when appropriate.

## **ARTICLE 5 - HOLIDAYS**

#### 1. Holidays.

The following days shall be recognized and observed as paid holidays:

New Year's Day (January 1st) Martin Luther King's Birthday (Third Monday in January) President's Day (Third Monday in February) Memorial Day (Last Monday in May) Independence Day (July 4th) Labor Day (First Monday in September) Veterans' Day (November 11th) Thanksgiving Day (Fourth Thursday in November) Christmas Day (December 25th) One floating holiday shall be granted to each employee each calendar year. However, if not used by December 31, the holiday will be lost.

The scheduling of such holidays shall be consistent with staffing needs as determined by the County. New employees, who qualify for paid holidays, are eligible for a floating holiday after 90 days of employment. Unbroken service in the same position for the County immediately before the employee receives regular status shall count toward the 90 day requirement. The holiday shall be the day recognized by the County as the holiday and shall be from Midnight to Midnight on that day.

Every day appointed by the Board of County Commissioners as a holiday.

Holidays will be paid as follows for regular and alternative schedules:

- 1) Employees on a 4 day 40 hour work week: 10 hours
- 2) Employees on a 4 day 37.5 hour work week: 9.5 hours
- 3) Employees on a 5 day 40 hour work week: 8 hours
- 4) Employees on a 5 day 37.5 hour work week: 7.5 hours

Holiday pay while working a flexible schedule shall be paid as determined by the employee's regular base work week schedule.

If a holiday falls on a flex work day that is shorter than the holiday, the employee must make up the time with vacation, compensatory time or work the hours in the same week as the holiday.

If the holiday falls on a flex work day that is longer than the holiday, the employee shall work with the supervisor to flex their schedule within the work week to avoid overtime.

## 2. Holidays for Employees Working a Four-Day Work Week.

For employees in non-continuous operations, whenever a holiday falls on the first of the three (3) days not included in the employee's regularly scheduled work week, the preceding day in their regular work week shall be observed as a holiday. Whenever a holiday falls on the second or third of the three (3) days not included in the employee/s regularly scheduled work week, the following day in the

employee's regular work week shall be observed as a holiday. For employees in continuous operations, holidays will be compensated in accordance with Article 5, subsection 5.

# 3. Holidays for Employees Working a Five-Day Work Week.

For employees on a five day work week, if any such holiday falls on a Sunday, the succeeding Monday shall be deemed to be the holiday that year. If any such holiday falls on a Saturday, the preceding Friday shall be deemed to be the holiday that year. This shall apply for all bargaining unit members except continuous operations employees, who will observe weekend holidays on the day in which the holiday is defined in Section 1 of this Article.

#### 4. Holiday During Leave.

Should an employee be on authorized sick or vacation leave when a holiday occurs, no sick or vacation hours will be charged for that day.

#### 5. Holiday Work.

If an employee works on any of the holidays listed above, they shall, in addition to their holiday pay, be paid for all hours worked at the rate of time and one-half their regular rate of pay. Employees on shifts that cross over days will be paid the overtime rate only on hours that occur on the actual holiday (the holiday starts and ends at midnight). Hours that occur on a non-holiday will be paid at straight time. The employee may have the option, with the approval of their supervisor, of accruing compensatory leave, on a straight hour for hour basis, in lieu of the holiday pay, but shall still be paid at the rate of time and one-half their regular rate of pay for all hours worked. If any such holiday falls on a continuous operations employee's regular day off, they may be given the option, with the approval of their supervisor, of receiving one (1) extra day's pay or one (1) additional day of compensatory leave.

## 6. Part-time Employee Holidays.

Regular status part-time employees working half-time (18.75 hours per week) or greater will be paid holidays on a prorated basis in the month in which the holiday occurs without regard to the work schedule.

## **ARTICLE 6- SICK LEAVE**

## 1. Accrual.

Each employee shall accrue unlimited sick leave at the rate of eight (8) hours for each month worked, to be used in the event of illness or to care for a member of the employee's immediate family who is ill.

Absence due to sickness in excess of three (3) days must be verified by a physician's certificate at the request of the County. Appropriate documentation may be required for absence of less than three (3) days if the County has reasonable suspicion that misuse or abuse of sick leave exists.

Employees shall make a reasonable effort to schedule doctor's appointments occurring during their work shift at times that will minimize their time away from the office.

If an employee in continuous operations is ill and will not be able to report to work, the employee will notify the "On Duty Supervisor" no sooner than five (5) hours and no later than two (2) hours before their shift is to begin.

Employees who exhaust their sick leave and are on extended leave due to an illness, will receive one additional month of benefit coverage after their benefits would normally terminate. After the one-month extension, appropriate COBRA rights would apply.

Employees in a paid status for any month as outlined below will accrue sick leave for the next month, on the first of that month:

- 1) 88 hours(prorated for FTE status) for a work day of 8 hours or more in a 40 hour work week; or
- 2) 82.5 hours (prorated for FTE status) for a work day of 7.5 hours or more in a 37.5 hour work week.

## 2. Bereavement Leave.

Exclusive of regular sick leave, an employee shall be granted not more than three (3) work days leave of absence with full pay in event of the death of a member of the employee's immediate family, including stepchildren and stepparents residing outside of the household, for the purpose of making household adjustments and/or to attend the funeral. The use of bereavement leave must be used within three months of the death of the family member, unless approved otherwise by the Department Director or designee. A request to use bereavement leave for the death of an individual outside of the immediate family is subject to approval by the Department Director or designee.

Consistent with the needs of the County and as approved by the Department Director, an employee shall be granted not more than three (3) hours of bereavement leave to attend the funeral or memorial services for a current County employee or retiree.

## 3. Immediate Family.

An employee's immediate family shall be defined as spouse, domestic partner (as defined by the Benefit Review Committee), parents, spouse's parents, domestic partner parents, children, brother, sister, grandparents (of either employee or spouse), grandchildren, sister-in-law and brother-in-law. Stepchildren, stepparents, or children of domestic partner residing with the employee, shall be included in the definition of immediate family. Sick leave may also be used as approved by the Department Director or designee, in the event of an illness of a member of the employee's household who lives in the actual home of the employee but who is not included in the relationships outlined above.

## 4. Conversion to Retirement Benefit.

Pursuant to ORS 237.350, the County shall report all allowable sick leave hours to PERS upon separation from County employment.

## 5. Hours Charged.

Employees shall be charged for sick leave in an amount equal to the time they are absent from work.

## 6. Parental Leave.

Parental leave will be granted in accordance with current Clackamas County Employment Policy and Practice No. 10.

#### 7. Vacation Option.

Employees who are absent on sick leave for a period in excess of their accrued sick leave shall use their accrued vacation time to cover such time off. At the option of the employee on approved FMLA/OFLA, the employee may retain up to 40 hours of vacation time prior to being placed on leave without pay. If an employee is approved to receive donated leave pursuant to current Employment Policy and Practice No. 46, all accumulated leave including vacation, floating holiday, compensatory, personal leave and sick leave shall be used first.

#### 8. Family Medical Leave.

Family Medical leave will be granted in accordance with current Employment Policy and Practice No. 10.

## ARTICLE 7 - VACATION LEAVE

#### 1. Accrual.

A. Employees hired prior to January 1, 2001 who have elected not to participate in the Vacation Sell-Back Program shall accrue vacation in Section A. below:

Employees having served in the County service for six (6) consecutive full-calendar months, shall be credited with 52.2 hours of vacation leave, and thereafter, vacation leave shall be accrued in accordance with the following:

- 1. Less than five (5) years of continuous service, 104.4 hours per year, accrued at the rate of 8.7 hours per month. Vacation leave not to accumulate beyond 250 hours.
- 2. Five (5) to ten (10) years, but less than ten (10) years of continuous service, 128.4 hours per year, accrued at the rate of 10.7 hours per month. Vacation leave not to accumulate beyond 250 hours.
- 3. Ten (10) years to fifteen (15) years, but less than fifteen (15) years of continuous service, 152.4 hours per year, accrued at the rate of 12.7 hours per month. Vacation leave not to accumulate beyond 250 hours.
- 4. Fifteen (15) to twenty (20) years, but less than twenty (20) years of continuous service, 176.4 hours per year, accrued at the rate of 14.7 hours per month. Vacation leave not to accumulate beyond 250 hours.
- 5. After twenty (20) years of continuous service, 200.4 hours per year, accrued at the rate of 16.7 hours per month. Vacation leave not to accumulate beyond 250 hours.

Continuous service for the purpose of determining eligibility for accelerated vacation accrual rates shall be service unbroken by separation from County employment that results in a new date of hire. The effective hire date, as of 7-1-92, will not be modified for breaks in service except for those occurring after that date.

B. All employees hired on or after January 1, 2001 or employees hired prior to January 1, 2001 who have elected to enroll in the Vacation Sell Back program accrue vacation in the following manner:

- 1. Employees having served in the County service for one (1) full-calendar month consistent with subsection C. below shall be credited, with twelve (12) hours of vacation leave, and thereafter, vacation leave shall be accrued at the rate of twelve (12) hours vacation leave per month regardless of years of service. Vacation leave not to accumulate beyond 250 hours.
- 2. Employees who have used at least forty (40) hours of vacation time in a calendar year may elect to sell back 40 hours vacation during that same calendar year. To receive compensation in lieu of time off, the employee must submit a completed Request to Sell Vacation form to Payroll no later than December 31<sup>st</sup> of that calendar year.
- 3. Employees hired prior to January 1, 2001 may make a one-time election to enroll in the vacation sell back program by submitting a written request to Payroll no later than February 1, 2001. Once enrolled in this program, an employee may not return to the employee's previous accrual schedule.

C. Employees in a paid status for any month as outlined below will accrue vacation leave for the next month, on the first of that month:

- 1. 88 hours(prorated for FTE status) for a work day of 8 hours or more in a 40 hour work week; or
- 2. 82.5 hours (prorated for FTE status) for a work day of 7.5 hours or more in a 37.5 hour work week.

# 2. Vacation Times.

Employees shall be permitted to choose either a split or entire vacation. Whenever possible, consistent with the needs of the County and requirement for vacation relief, employees shall have the right to determine vacation times, but vacation times shall be selected on the basis of seniority; however, each employee shall be permitted to exercise their right of seniority only once per calendar year. Employees may be allowed to use vacation or floating holiday with short term notice such as attending school functions of a child, with twenty-four (24) hours advance notice and approval of the employee's supervisor. In the event where twenty-four (24) hours advance notice is not practicable, such as an emergency, employees may be allowed to use vacation or floating holiday with approval of the employee's supervisor.

# 3. Termination or Death.

After six (6) months of service, upon the termination of any employee for any reason, or in the event of the death of an employee, all accumulated vacation shall be paid either to the employee or his heirs, whichever the case may be.

# 4. Hours Charged.

Employees shall be charged for vacation leave in an amount equal to the time they are absent from work.

# **ARTICLE 8 - OTHER LEAVES**

#### 1. Leave of Absence.

Leaves-of-absence without pay for a limited period, not to exceed ninety (90) days, may be granted for any reasonable purpose, consistent with the needs of the County, and such leaves may be renewed or extended for any reasonable period. Leaves of absence shall be subject to approval by the employee's department director. Leaves of absence in excess of ninety (90) days must be approved by the Board of County Commissioners. No leave will be granted to an employee to accept employment in any other capacity. Request of the day or days selected shall be made to the County at least seven (7) days in advance, except in the case of an emergency or the County waives said requirement.

## 2. Jury Duty.

When an employee with regular or probationary status is called for jury duty or subpoenaed as a witness by proper authority for cases in which the employee is not a party, the employee shall be granted a leave of absence with pay. All jury duty and witness fees, other than mileage reimbursement, shall be surrendered to Clackamas County. Employees who are excused from jury service or court appearance before the end of their work day shall immediately report their availability for assignment to their supervisor. Employees scheduled to work on shifts other than day shift shall be considered on day shift for the duration of jury duty.

## 3. Educational Leave.

After completing three (3) years of service, an employee upon request and approval from the Department Director may be granted a leave-of-absence without pay for educational purposes at an accredited school, when it is related to the employee's employment. The period of such leave-of-absence shall not exceed one (1) year, but it may be renewed or extended at the request of the employee upon approval from the Department Director, when necessary.

One (1) year leaves-of-absences, with any requested extension, for education purposes, may not be provided more than once in any three (3) year period.

Employees may also be granted leaves-of-absence with or without pay for educational purposes upon approval from the Department Director, for additional lengths of time, to attend conferences, seminars, briefing sessions, or other functions of a similar nature that are intended to improve or upgrade the individual's skill or professional ability, provided it does not interfere with the operation of the County.

#### 4. Inclement Weather.

When an employee is excused by their supervisor from reporting to work because of inclement weather, the employee will have the option of either making up the missed time with the approval of the supervisor (provided there is no overtime obligation to the County), or using vacation, compensatory time, or leave without pay.

## **ARTICLE 9 - HEALTH AND WELFARE**

#### 1. Medical Coverage.

The County agrees to contribute toward the monthly composite premium for each medical plan for eligible employees and their eligible family members, who elect coverage. Employees will become eligible on the first day of the month following the benefit-waiting period described in Section 10. The

design of the medical plans and eligibility of family members shall be determined by the Benefits Review Committee as described in Section 11.

Effective January 1, 2019, the County agrees to contribute an amount equivalent to 95% of the monthly composite premium for each medical plan up to a maximum of 105% of the 2018 County contribution.

Effective January 1, 2020, the County agrees to contribute an amount equivalent to 95% of the monthly composite premium for each medical plan up to a maximum of 105% of the 2019 County contribution.

Effective January 1, 2021, the County agrees to contribute an amount equivalent to 95% of the monthly composite premium for each medical plan up to a maximum of 105% of the 2020 County contribution.

Employees will pay any remaining insurance premium cost share through payroll deduction.

Medical Insurance Opt-Out: Employees who provide proof of other medical coverage and who opt out of medical coverage provided by the County will receive cash back on a monthly basis as provided by the yearly Benefits Summary, subject to applicable withholdings. Employees may only rejoin County coverage with qualifying status change subject to carrier rules.

The County and the Union will make an assertive effort to make plan design changes through the Benefits Review Committee as may be needed to keep the total annual renewal increase at or below eight percent (8%) each year or less.

# 2. Flexible Benefits.

The County agrees to provide a Clackamas County "Full" Flexible Benefit program to employees who are working in a position regularly scheduled for 30 hours or more per week. Bargaining unit employees agree to cooperate fully with the Benefits and Wellness Division regarding participation and administration of the program.

# 3. Life Insurance.

The County agrees to provide life insurance coverage to full-time employees, effective on the first day of the month following the benefit waiting period described in Section 10. The design of the life insurance plan shall be determined by the Benefits Review Committee as described in Section 11.

The County agrees to contribute up to the full premium amount for life insurance coverage with a face value of \$50,000.

# 4. Dental Insurance.

The County agrees to pay 100% of the dental premium for coverage agreed to by the Benefits Review Committee for eligible employees and their eligible family members, effective on the first day of the month following the benefit waiting period described in Section 10. The design of the dental plans and eligibility of family members shall be determined by the Benefits Review Committee as described in Section 11.

Dental Insurance Opt-Out: Employees who opt out of coverage or opt down to a less expensive plan provided by the County will receive cash back on a monthly basis as provided by the yearly Benefits Summary, subject to applicable withholdings. Employees may only rejoin County coverage with qualifying status change subject to carrier rules.

# 5. Disability Income Insurance.

The County agrees to provide non-duty disability insurance coverage to full-time employees, effective on the first day of the month following the benefit waiting period described in Section 10. The design of the disability plan shall be determined by the Benefits Review Committee as described in Section 11.

The County agrees to contribute up to the full premium amount for disability insurance coverage with a benefit of 60 percent of up to \$3,333 in monthly salary after an elimination period of the first 30 days of each period of total disability or the exhaustion of accumulated sick leave, whichever occurs later.

## 6. Reinstatement From Medical Layoff.

An employee who is reinstated to employment within six months from medical layoff will have the benefit waiting period waived. An employee who has continuously participated in COBRA during a medical layoff will have the benefit waiting period waived for up to eighteen (18) months.

# 7. Full-Time Employees.

For the purpose of eligibility for benefits, full-time employees are those employees regularly working thirty (30) or more hours per week.

# 8. Benefits for Regular Part-Time Employees.

Regular part-time employees working at least 20 hours per week shall be entitled to County-paid medical insurance as described in Section 1 and shall be entitled to purchase dental insurance as described in Section 4.

## 9. Job Share.

(a) "Job sharing position" means a full-time position that may be held by two individuals on a shared time basis whereby the individuals holding the position work less than full time.

(b) Job sharing is a voluntary program. An employee who wishes to participate in job sharing may submit a written request to the Appointing Authority to be considered for job share positions. The Appointing Authority shall determine if job sharing is appropriate for a specific position. Determination of job sharing in a new position is the exclusive right of the Appointing Authority.

(c) Job sharing employees shall accrue vacation leave and sick leave on a prorated share of the normal accrual rate for a full-time position.

(d) Job sharing employees shall be entitled to share the benefit dollars associated with one fulltime position. Job share employees must work a minimum of 18.75 hours per week (half-time) to be eligible for medical, dental and life insurance.

The employer contribution for each job share employee shall be equivalent to one-half of the amount for medical, dental, and life insurance coverage as stated in Sections 1, 3, and 4 of this Article. Medical and dental insurance employer contribution shall be provided for the employee only. The life insurance benefit shall be equivalent to one-half the face value of the life insurance provided to a full

time employee. Each job share employee has the right to obtain medical, dental and life insurance for their eligible dependents by paying the difference of the employer contribution and the applicable premium through payroll deduction. The County shall allow payroll deductions on a before tax basis for medical and dental insurance only. Job share employees shall receive holiday pay prorated based on the full time equivalency status. Job share employees shall receive sick and vacation accruals on a prorated basis with regard to the hours worked per month; subject to waiting periods defined in Article 6 and Article 7.

(e) For purposes of layoff, individuals filling a job share position which totals a full-time equivalent shall be considered as one full-time equivalent. Service credits shall be determined by averaging the two individual scores and the two individuals treated as one.

(f) If one job sharing partner is removed, dismissed, resigns or otherwise is separated from the job, the Appointing Authority has the right to determine if job sharing is still appropriate for the position. If the Appointing Authority determines that job sharing is not appropriate for the position or the Appointing Authority is unable to recruit qualified employees for the job share position, the remaining employee shall have the right to assume the position on a full-time basis.

## 10. Benefit Waiting Period.

Benefits shall become effective on the first day of the calendar month following two (2) full calendar months of continuous employment. Two (2) full calendar months of continuous employment shall be defined as being in a paid status on the first working day of the month and continuously thereafter for two full calendar months, except that an employee may take an approved leave without pay not to exceed ten (10) working days, or eight (8) working days for employees on a four-day work week, or the prorated equivalent for part-time employees.

## 11. Benefits Review Committee.

A Labor-Management Benefits Review Committee shall have the responsibility for deciding the level, scope, and design of benefit plans offered to employees for medical and vision coverage, dental coverage, and for disability and life insurance. The primary emphasis in plan design shall be to provide a comprehensive, competitive benefit program at a reasonable cost.

The Committee shall be comprised of members from management and from County bargaining units. Each bargaining unit adopting the provision of the Article shall be entitled to appoint one voting member to the Committee for every two hundred (200) members in their bargaining unit with a minimum of one (1) member. It is understood that bargaining units which do not adopt the provisions of this Article will be entitled to appoint one nonvoting member to the Committee. Management membership will consist of voting members in a number equal to the voting bargaining unit membership. However, a bargaining unit or the County may appoint fewer members than it is entitled but retain the same number of votes as described above. The Committee shall meet at least quarterly, or more frequently as required. Decisions of the Committee will be made by a majority of votes.

The Committee shall make plan design decisions for medical, vision, dental, disability, and life insurance plans at least 120 days prior to the beginning of the following plan year, unless the County waives such requirement.

Payment for and funding of benefit plans selected by the Committee shall be in a proportion and manner determined through collective bargaining with each separate bargaining unit.

The County shall provide administrative coordination and support for the Committee. The Committee at its request shall be provided all financial information and related reports as may be available.

The County will make decisions on the following issues after consideration of committee recommendations: carrier selection, third party administrator selection, employee benefits consultant selection, selection of alternate funding arrangements, and other optional benefit programs.

Problems with benefit coverage will be brought up at the Benefits Review Committee meeting for resolution.

# 12. Plan Changes Required by Law or Insurance Carrier.

The County shall act to update any mandated coverage or changes caused by Federal or State laws, rules and regulations or required of the insurance carriers. The County does not guarantee against unilateral changes in benefits initiated solely by the insurance carriers.

# 13. Health Reimbursement Account (HRA)

The County shall provide each employee covered by this agreement who participate in the County's medical plans the opportunity to enroll in a Health Reimbursement Account (HRA).

The County shall pay the account fee up to \$1.50 per account per month for each active employee enrolled in a HRA/VEBA. The participating employee shall be responsible for the third party annualized investment fee.

Participating employees who have used at least forty (40) hours of vacation in the prior twelve (12) months shall have all vacation time up to eighty (80) hours in excess of the annual cap of 250 hours paid into their HRA/VEBA account.

Participating employees shall have all vacation hours over the annual cap paid to their HRA/VEBA account at retirement.

Participating employees who are enrolled in the HRA/VEBA plan as of December 31 of each year shall receive an annual contribution of \$50 paid into their HRA/VEBA account by the second payroll period of January each year.

# 14. Deferred Compensation Plan

Subject to applicable federal regulations, the County agrees to provide an employee-paid deferred compensation plan that provides for payment at a future date for services currently rendered by the eligible employee. Each new employee will be enrolled automatically in the County's Deferred Compensation program, at the rate of five percent (5%) of their base compensation as defined in the deferred compensation plan document, unless he or she chooses to opt out of the program or change the rate of contribution. New employees include newly hired employees, rehired employees and employees changing employment status from temporary to regular. This provision will become effective no later than 60 days following the final approval of this agreement by both parties.

#### **ARTICLE 10 - WAGES**

#### 1. Wages.

(a) After ratification by both parties, employees shall receive a 2.8% cost of living increase effective the first day of the pay period after the ratification date. In lieu of retroactive pay, employees shall receive a lump sum payment based on an employee's gross pay earnings (base pay, overtime, longevity, and incentives) from July 1, 2018. The lump sum payment would appear in the paycheck 3 full pay periods after the effective date of the cost of living.

Effective July 1, 2019, employees shall receive a cost of living increase equal to the percentage increase in the US Consumer Price Index, CPI-W: West Urban Annual Average, as reported by the U.S. Department of Labor, with a minimum of 0% and a maximum of 4.5%.

Effective July 1, 2020, employees shall receive a cost of living increase equal to the percentage increase in the US Consumer Price Index, CPI-W: West Urban Annual Average, as reported by the U.S. Department of Labor, with a minimum of 0% and a maximum of 4.5%.

(b) When any classification not listed on the Wage Schedule, which shall be published on the Department of Human Resources website, is established, the County shall designate a pay range for the classification and notify the Association. In the event the Association does not agree that the rate is proper, the Association shall have the right to submit the issue to a Classification/Compensation Review Panel (CCRP) as provided in Article 25.

(c) Whenever an employee is assigned in writing by their supervisor the duties of a higher paid classification for more than ten (10) consecutive working days, the employee shall be placed in a Temporary Out of Classification (TOC) assignment via a Personnel Action Form and be paid for all hours an additional 5% of base hourly rate or at the beginning of the range of the higher paid classification, whichever is higher.

For employees assigned duties of a higher paid classification that is sporadic in nature (two or more hours) or includes non-consecutive working days, the employee shall be paid for those hours an additional 5% of base hourly rate or at the beginning of the range of the higher paid classification, whichever is higher, via the payroll system. For these "Shift-out-of-Class" situations, the employee's supervisor will prepare a memorandum stating the need for such out-of-class work, how the employee is qualified to perform such higher classification work and that authorization has been received from the department director.

In no case shall the TOC rate exceed the maximum rate of the higher classification's salary range.

(d) Community Corrections Officers and Community Corrections Counselors assigned Field Training Officer (FTO) duties will be paid a 10% increase over the employee's current base hourly rate while performing such duties.

(e) Community Correction Officers, Community Corrections Counselors, Office Specialist 2s, Human Service Assistants, Administrative Analysts, Human Services Coordinators, and Case

Managers who work in Community Corrections and are assigned training duties for which they are appropriately certified will be paid a 5% increase over the employee's current base hourly wage while performing such duties.

Community Correction Officers, Community Corrections Counselors who are also assigned FTO duties are not eligible to receive the 5% increase under this provision, but will continue to receive the 10% increase under Article 10(1)(d) while performing FTO duties.

(f) Prior to July 1, 2013, if an employee receives a satisfactory or better performance evaluation or does not receive an evaluation, the employee shall receive a merit increase on each of the employee's anniversary dates until the employee has reached the top of the range.

Effective July 1, 2013, if an employee receives a satisfactory or better performance evaluation or does not receive an evaluation, the employee shall receive a merit increase of 3.5% on each of the employee's anniversary dates until the employee has reached the top of the range.

(g) Effective July 1, 2013, salary grades will no longer identify steps/pay rates. Salary grades will identify a pay range to include a minimum pay rate (previously Step 1), midpoint pay rate, and a maximum pay rate (previously Step 6). Employee's classifications, salary grades, and pay rates will not change.

#### 2. Overtime.

Overtime must have prior approval of a supervisor. Management has the right to assign overtime based on business needs. One and one-half (1.5) times the employee's regular hourly rate of pay shall be paid for work under the following conditions, but compensation shall not be paid twice for the same hours:

(a) Regular Schedule:

Overtime is payable for all hours worked beyond the employee's defined daily overtime threshold as defined in Article 3, Work Hours.

(b) Alternative Schedule:

Overtime is payable for all hours worked beyond the employee's defined weekly overtime threshold as defined in Article 3, Work Hours.

(c) Flexible Schedule:

The overtime threshold will be the same as the employee's regular or alternative schedule as set in the timekeeping system.

(d) All authorized work performed on a regularly scheduled day off, or, in the case of employees in continuous operations, on the three-day weekend, except as may be modified by Article 3, except for regular part-time employees covered by this agreement who shall be paid overtime after working forty (40) hours in a week.

Authorized work includes regular hours performing job related duties, compensatory time paid and call-in/stand-by pay.

If agreed to by an employee and the employee's department or division head, compensatory leave in the amount of time and one-half may be accrued in lieu of pay for overtime. Such leave shall not accrue beyond 40 hours.

Employees in the classification of Dentist, Psychiatrist and Public Health Physician would be exempt from all overtime payments per Fair Labor Standards Act regulations. However, these employees will receive straight hour-for-hour pay for hours worked.

# 3. Travel Pay.

An employee shall be paid at the current County Travel Policy rate per mile for reimbursement of personal auto expense where required in an employee's regular work.

## 4. Retirement Contributions.

PERS eligibility is subject to ORS 238.015. The County agrees to pay employee's share of contribution on behalf of employees as set by Oregon legislature.

In the event that during the life of this agreement it becomes impossible for reasons of law, regulation or decisions for the County to pay the six percent (6%) employee contribution to PERS, then that sum shall be contributed on behalf of the employee to a retirement benefit, such as a transition account, state retirement account, County deferred compensation plan, or other individual retirement account. The intent of the parties is that the employees will be made whole in terms of the six percent (6%) retirement contribution by the County.

# 5. Longevity.

Beginning October 1, 1984, employees covered by the bargaining unit shall be eligible for longevity pay as a percentage of gross salary for number of continuous years of regular status County service in the following amounts based upon accumulation of the established time employed in a paid status.

Percent	
1.0	
1.5	
2.0	
2.5	
3.5	
4.0	

Continuous service for the purpose of determining eligibility for longevity accrual rates shall be service unbroken by separation from County employment that results in a new date of hire. The effective hire date, as of 7-1-92, will not be modified for breaks in service except for those occurring after that date.

The calculation for longevity shall be based on the employee's service date minus thirty days. For example, if the service date is 5/15, for purposes of calculating longevity the date shall be 4/15.

## 6. Computation of Hourly Rate.

The computation of the hourly rate included in the Salary Range Schedule and used to compensate part-time employees working at a particular range and step shall be computed upon the following equation:

Yearly salary assigned	d to full-time position	= dollars
Number of hours nor	mally worked yearly in positio	n per hour
37.5 hours per week	<ul> <li><u>Yearly salary</u></li> <li>1950 hours per year</li> </ul>	= dollars per hour
Continuous operation	s = <u>Yearly salary</u> 2080 hours per year	= dollars per hour

## 7. Shift Differential.

Employees who work the majority of their regular scheduled work hours after 4:00 p.m. shall receive a shift differential of \$.75 per hour for all hours worked during their shift. Employees, except Community Corrections Officers, who work the majority of their regular scheduled work hours after 11:00 p.m. shall receive a shift differential of \$1.00 per hour for all hours worked during their shift. Community Corrections Officers who work a majority of their regular scheduled work hours after 11:00 p.m. shall receive a shift differential of \$2.00 per hour for all hours worked during their shift. If an employee is requested or required to continue working at the end of their regular shift and has been receiving shift differential based on swing or night shift, the employee will either continue to receive the shift differential of their regular shift, or receive an increase in shift differential for the additional hours worked into the new shift, whichever is higher. When an employee works additional hours into the "new shift", any hours worked after a swing shift or night shift begins will be paid in accordance with that shift. Example: Employee is regularly scheduled to work 1 pm to 9 pm and receives 8 hours of shift differential at the swing shift rate. Employee agrees to continue working from 9 pm to 5 am. Employee will continue to receive swing shift differential rate from 9 pm to 11 pm and will receive night shift differential for hours worked between 11 pm and 5 am.

Employees in the Clackamas County Public Health Division, Behavioral Health Division and Social Services Division, scheduled to work Saturdays or Sundays shall receive a "shift differential" of \$.55 per hour for any Saturday or Sunday work. Saturday or Sunday overtime work is not paid differential time unless it is part of the employee's regular scheduled work week.

# 8. On-Call Pay.

Employees, except Community Corrections Officers, who are designated in writing by their supervisor to be on-call after regular work hours, in which they will be required to carry and respond to a pager, cellular phone, or phone calls during designated shifts, will receive two (2) hours straight time pay per shift for time spent on-call. An on-call shift shall consist of the same amount of hours in the employee's regular work day during non-work hours.

Community Corrections Officers shall receive one-hundred and fifty dollars (\$150) per week when assigned on-call duties.

Employees in Technical Services, Library Network, and Facilities who are designated in writing to be on call for After Hours Support shall be paid at the rate of 0.10 hour for every hour on-call.

When an employee is assigned duties of a higher classification according to the procedures in Article 10, Section 1(c) and is receiving Temporary Out of Classification (TOC) pay and is also assigned oncall duties, on-call hours will be paid at the higher TOC rate.

# 9. Call Back Pay.

Employees who are called to physically report to a worksite outside of their regular shift shall be paid for actual time worked, with a minimum of two (2) hours call-back, at the overtime rate. If call-back overlaps with regular work hours compensation shall not be paid twice for the same hours. Actual time worked shall be in minimum increments of fifteen minutes.

Employees who answer work-related phone calls after work hours at home or through cellular phone or pager but are otherwise not designated by their supervisor to be on-call are not eligible for on-call compensation. Employees who respond to work related incidents via electronic remote response (e.g. computer) are eligible for compensation for actual time worked but not for a minimum two (2) hour response given to employees who physically report to the workplace. These provisions do not include on-call or after hours pay for Mental Health Emergency Services which is provided in Article 10, Section 8.

# 10. Bilingual Skills Pay.

A. When an employee is required to use a second (or more) language, including American Sign Language (ASL), as a condition for holding a particular position, the employee will receive an additional 5% of base hourly rate to be added to the employee's regular salary. "Required use" shall be documented by an approved Position Classification Questionnaire or "Certification of Bilingual Requirement" Form.

B. It is not the intent of the parties that the re-designation of a position to "bilingual required" would be done for the sole purpose of superseding the layoff provisions of this agreement.

C. When an employee is authorized by their supervisor to utilize their bilingual skills in a sporadic nature, the employee will receive an additional 5% of their base hourly rate for actual time, rounded up to the nearest hour, for performing bilingual duties.

## 11. Travel Time.

Employees called to work before or after normal work hours and which requires the employee to travel to and from work in addition to their normal daily travel, will be paid for such travel time as work hours.

A. "Hours worked" includes the following travel time:

• Time spent traveling during regular work hours on a scheduled work day.

- Travel time occurring during regular hours on an employee's scheduled day off (i.e., travel occurring between 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. on Saturday/Sunday for an employee who works 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. Monday through Friday).
- Travel time outside of regular work hours if the employee is driving an automobile, boat, plane, etc., or is required to act as an assistant or helper while being a passenger, or is performing work related activities while being a passenger.

B. "Hours worked" does not include:

- Normal travel between home and work.
- Travel time as a passenger outside of regular work hours (if no work is being performed).
- Regular exclusions for meals.
- Sleep time.
- Commute time to and from the airport, bus station, etc., except if travel to the station of departure exceeds the employee's normal commute time to work.
- Excess time spent driving a car if the employee had been offered public conveyance and chose to drive instead (can exclude only time exceeding the time which would have qualified as hours worked on public conveyance).

#### C. Training Time

Attendance at lectures, meetings, training programs and similar activities must be counted as hours worked <u>unless all the following criteria are met:</u>

- Attendance is outside of the employee's regular working hours.
- Attendance is truly voluntary.
- Training is not directly related to the employee's job (exception for employees taking courses on their own initiative outside of work hours such as college or trade school courses).
- The employee does not perform any productive work during such attendance.

Within continuous operations departments, including Community Corrections and the Juvenile Intake and Assessment Center, when employees are required to attend scheduled meetings or training during hours that fall outside their regular work hours or on their days off, the County will pay or provide compensatory time in the amount of forty-five (45) minutes total for travel time at the regular rate. In addition, actual hours in attendance will be paid at the regular overtime rate.

#### 12. DPSST Certification.

Community Corrections Officers who obtain a DPSST Intermediate Certificate in corrections will be paid additional compensation in the amount of \$25 per pay period.

Community Corrections Officers who obtain a DPSST Advanced Certificate in corrections will be paid \$50 per pay period.

Certification pay will commence effective the pay period following proof of certification by DPSST to the Department Director.

This incentive pay is not cumulative and members are eligible for one level only.

## ARTICLE 11 – AFTERHOURS MOBILE CRISIS SERVICES FOR BEHAVIORAL HEALTH CRISIS PROGRAM

Clackamas County is required by Oregon Administrative Rule (OAR) to provide 24-hour Mobile Crisis Services to the residents of Clackamas County. OAR 309-019-0100 defines Mobile Crisis Services as: "mental health services for individuals in crisis provided by mental health practitioners who respond to behavioral health crises onsite at the location in the community where the crisis arises and who provide a face-to-face therapeutic response" with the goal of avoiding "unnecessary hospitalization, inpatient psychiatric treatment, involuntary commitment, and arrest or incarceration. OAR 309-019-0151 and 309-019-0152 outline response time, service provision, and reporting requirements. Mobile Crisis Services may be provided by a QMHP [Qualified Mental Health Professional as defined in OAR 309-019-0125 (9)] or a QMHA [Qualified Mental Health Associate as defined in OAR 309-019-0125 (8)] under the supervision of a Qualified Mental Health Professional.

The provisions of this Section apply to on-call status and work performed while on-call <u>after</u> the employee's regular workday shift ends, including holidays and weekends. It is acknowledged that this is in addition to their regular workday's responsibilities and employees designated on an on-call shift are required to answer any calls/pages. It is recognized that the County may contract with other than County employees for any such shifts.

Qualified Behavioral Health Division employees may volunteer for these shifts. The Mental Health Program Manager will choose the most qualified clinicians from the volunteer pool. Assignments from the volunteer pool will be based on the Manager's discretion, not on seniority. It is recognized that management has the right to assign on-call duties to qualified Behavioral Health Division staff.

## A. <u>SHIFTS:</u>

1. THE WEEKDAY SHIFT begins at 6:30 p.m. Sunday through Thursday and ends at 8:30 a.m. of the following day.

2. THE WEEKEND FRIDAY shift begins on Friday at 6:30 p.m. and ends at 6:30 p.m. on Saturday.

3. THE WEEKEND SATURDAY shift begins on Saturday at 6:30 p.m. and ends at 6:30 p.m. on Sunday.

Employees may split this weekend shift among themselves with the approval of their supervisor, provided that the total cost of the weekend shift cannot exceed what it would cost for one employee to take the shift.

4. A HOLIDAY SHIFT will begin at 6:30 pm on the evening before any holiday recognized in Article 5 and end at 6:30 pm the following day, whether or not that day is the employee's observed Holiday. For the purpose of After-Hours Mobile Crisis coverage, the following shall be considered Holiday shifts:

- New Year's Day (the shift beginning at 6:30 pm on December 31<sup>st</sup>)
- Martin Luther King's birthday (the shift beginning at 6:30 pm on the third Sunday of January)
- President's Day (the shift beginning at 6:30 pm on the third Sunday in February)
- Memorial Day (the shift beginning at 6:30 pm on the last Sunday in May)
- Independence Day (the shift beginning at 6:30 pm on July 3<sup>rd</sup>)
- Labor Day (the shift beginning at 6:30 pm on the first Sunday in September)
- Veteran's Day (the shift beginning at 6:30 pm on November 10<sup>th</sup>)
- Thanksgiving Day (the shift beginning at 6:30 pm on the fourth Wednesday in November)
- Christmas Day (the shift beginning at 6:30 pm on December 24th)

5. A HOLIDAY CLOSING SHIFT begins at 6:30 pm the evening of any holiday recognized in Article 5 and ends at 8:30 am the following day, whether or not that day is the employee's observed Holiday. For the purpose of After-Hours Mobile Crisis coverage, the following shall be considered Holiday closing shifts:

- New Year's Day (the shift beginning at 6:30 pm on January 1st)
- Martin Luther King's birthday (the shift beginning at 6:30 pm on the third Monday of January)
- President's Day (the shift beginning at 6:30 pm on the third Monday in February)
- Memorial Day (the shift beginning at 6:30 pm on the last Monday in May)
- Independence Day (the shift beginning at  $6:30 \text{ pm on July } 4^{\text{rd}}$ )
- Labor Day (the shift beginning at 6:30 pm on the first Monday in September)
- Veteran's Day (the shift beginning at 6:30 pm on November 11<sup>th</sup>)
- Thanksgiving Day (the shift beginning at 6:30 pm on the fourth Thursday in November)
- Christmas Day (the shift beginning at 6:30 pm on December 25th)

B. <u>COMPENSATION:</u> After Hours assignments will be paid as follows:

- 1. Weekday Shift: Three (3) hours of straight time for carrying a phone/pager and/or laptop for the shift. In addition, time and one-half for any hours actually worked triaging or conducting a mobile crisis response in the community.
- 2. Holiday Shift: Eight (8) hours straight time pay for carrying a phone/pager and/or laptop. In addition, time and one-half for any hours actually worked triaging or conducting a mobile crisis response in the community.
- 3. Holiday Closing Shift: Eight (8) hours of straight time for carrying a phone/pager and/or laptop. In addition, time and one-half for any hours actually worked triaging or conducting a mobile crisis response in the community.

- 4. Weekend Shifts (Fridays and Saturdays): Five (5) hours straight time for carrying a phone/pager and/or laptop. In addition, time and one-half half for any hours actually worked triaging or conducting a mobile crisis response in the community.
- 5. A QMHP classified as a Case Manager in their regular county position and who performs After Hours Mobile Crisis Services, will be placed Temporarily Out of Class as a Mental Health Specialist 1. Compensation during the Temporary Out of Class period shall include 5% of base salary added to the employee's regular rate or the beginning of the range for Mental Health Specialist 1, whichever is higher.
- 6. Mileage will be paid at the current County Travel Policy rate per mile for reimbursement of personal auto expense where required in an employee's regular work.

Time spent carrying a phone/pager and/or laptop when not actually responding to a call shall be considered on-call time, and shall not be considered time worked. Time spent responding to client emergencies, whether on the phone or while providing mobile crisis response, and travel time to such sites shall be considered time worked. Employees whose regular shifts overlap with their on-call shift will be paid as a regular employee until their regular shift ends in the evening, or when their shift begins in the morning. After-hours mobile crisis response but must be able to retrieve the county car and respond to the crisis within the response time requirement.

#### C. <u>RESPONSE TIME REQUIREMENTS:</u>

- 1. On-call staff are expected to respond to phone requests for mobile crisis service within 10 minutes of being paged.
- 2. On-call staff are expected to prioritize requests for mobile crisis over non-emergent personal schedule conflicts and to respond to requests for mobile crisis as soon as is practical.
- 3. On-call staff are expected to respond on-site with a mobile crisis response within timelines consistent with OAR 309-019-0151, if not sooner. If unable to respond as outlined in statue, an explanation for the barrier in meeting that response time will be provided to the appropriate supervisor by the following day.

# **ARTICLE 12 – SCHOOL-BASED HEALTH CENTERS**

The provisions in this Section apply to those employees assigned to the School-Based Health Centers (SBHC). Employees assigned to SBHCs work during the school year (generally expected to occur from late August through mid-June).

(a) Employees will be salaried and paid biweekly over an interval of 52 weeks from August through July.

(b) The biweekly salary shall be based on the employee's classification, salary grade and step as of August 1 of each year, calculated at 80% of the regular annual salary for a full-time position equivalent, divided by 26 pay periods.

(c) Employees assigned to SBHCs will be eligible for overtime for hours worked greater than 40 in a workweek.

(d) Any cost-of-living adjustment shall be applied at the beginning of the school year (August) except that no cost-of-living adjustment shall be applied retroactively.

(e) Employees will be considered full-time employees working more than 30 hours per week for the purpose of receiving employee benefits in accordance with Article 9 – Health and Welfare of the Agreement, during the same 52-week interval noted in Paragraph 1.

(f) The regular work week during the school year normally shall consist of forty (40) hours per week with five (5) eight-hour days, Monday through Friday. Employees are expected to accurately record their actual hours worked on their timesheets and comply with department and county requirements for submitting timesheets and working outside their normal schedule.

(g) Employees will report two days in advance of the first student opening day at the beginning of each school year and remain on site one day after students are dismissed for the summer recess. On other days throughout the standard school year, employees will be expected to report to work on all days when the school is open for school administrators, teachers or other personnel, even if students are not present.

(h) Employees assigned to the Oregon Trail and Oregon City school districts will not be expected to report to work when the school is closed for holidays, winter or spring break, or during the summer recess. Management has the right to assign up to 40 hours of work during each summer recess, with thirty (30) calendar days' advance notice, to support school functions, such as sport physicals and school registration. This work will be paid at the affected employee's base straight time rate (80% of the regular annual salary for a full-time position) plus twenty percent (20%).

(i) Employees assigned to the North Clackamas school district will not be expected to report to work when the school is closed for holidays and during winter or spring break; however, these employees will be expected to work two-days per week during the summer recess. Regularly scheduled work during the summer recess will be paid at the affected employee's base straight time rate (80% of the regular annual salary for a full-time position) plus twenty percent (20%). Management has the right to assign up to 40 hours of additional work during each summer recess, with thirty (30) calendar days' advance notice, to support school functions, such as sport physicals and school registration. This work will be paid at the affected employee's base straight time rate (80% of the regular annual salary for a full-time position).

(j) Employees will not receive additional pay for holidays. If the school is closed for inclement weather or other unforeseen reason, and at least one County Health Center is open for business, the employees will either report to an assigned County Health Center for work, or take leave without pay if they are unable to arrange for transportation to the assigned Center. The County will provide each

SBHC employee with a general orientation of their assigned County Health Center's electronic medical records system and other related protocols.

(k) In the event the school district adds additional days to the school calendar to make-up days due to inclement weather or unforeseen closures, the employees will be required to work the make-up days and will be paid at the affected employee's base straight time rate (80% of the regular annual salary for a full-time position) plus twenty percent (20%).

(l) Employees will accrue unlimited sick leave at the rate of six and four-tenths (6.4) hours per month. Employee will not accrue vacation leave or floating holidays nor be entitled to any other paid leave. Employees will not be allowed any vacation time other than what is part of the school schedule.

(m) If a regular or probationary County employee transfers to a school-based position, any accrued vacation and floating holiday(s) shall be paid to the employee in a lump sum.

(n) If an employee resigns, retires, or is dismissed before receiving the entire number of biweekly payments described in Section a and Section b, the County shall pay in one lump sum at the time of separation all earned but unpaid salary. Earned but unpaid salary is calculated at 20% of the regular annual salary for a full-time position divided by 52 weeks times the percentage of weeks worked by the employee during the school year. County-paid benefits as described in Section e will end on the last day of the month in which the employee receives their final paycheck.

**EXAMPLE:** During the school year, the employee will be working 40 hours per week and being paid for 32 hours (80% of the work week). The remaining 8 hours of pay (20% of the work week) is banked as earned but unpaid salary.

Assume an employee with a regular annual salary of 60,000 resigns after 20 weeks, has earned 23,076.92 (60,000 / 52 Weeks x 20 Weeks Worked), but has only been paid 18,461.54 (60,000 / 52 Weeks x 20 Weeks Worked x 80%). The earned but unpaid salary is 4,615.38 (60,000 / 52 Weeks x 20 Weeks Worked x 20%). The earned but unpaid salary will be paid in a lump sum at the employee's regular biweekly salary until the balance owed is zero.

# **ARTICLE 13 - DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE**

Regular employees may, in good faith for just cause, be subject to disciplinary action by oral reprimand, written reprimand, unpaid suspension, demotion or discharge. Such action shall take effect only after the supervisor gives prior written notice of the action and cause to the regular employee, except in the case of oral or written reprimand. Oral or written reprimands may be given at the initial meeting with the employee regarding discipline, if the County has already determined such discipline is warranted after the investigation.

An employee has the right to have union representation at any investigatory interview of the employee which the employee reasonably believes could lead to disciplinary action against the employee. The role of the union representative shall be limited to those outlined by the Employment Relations Board in Washington County Peace Officers Association vs. Washington County, which are:

1) Inquire about the purpose and subject of the meeting;

- 2) Asking clarifying questions;
- 3) Ask clarifying questions at the end of the interview; and
- 4) Suggest any other witnesses; describe other practices or mitigating factors.

Performance improvement plans, work plans, or other similar performance management tools are not discipline. An employee does not have the right to have a union representative present during meetings regarding a performance improvement plan, work plan, or other similar performance management related tool. Performance improvement plans shall not be kept in the employee's personnel file.

Any regular employee who is disciplined (except for oral reprimands) will receive a written statement of the charges and allegations that the County will rely on to support the decision to discipline. The Association shall be notified that the regular employee has been disciplined and sent a copy of the charge at the time the regular employee is notified unless the regular employee objects. Notification to the Association shall include sending copies of all such notices to the Association President and Service Representative.

Any regular employee in the bargaining unit who is disciplined in writing, demoted, suspended, or discharged shall have the right to appeal the action through the Grievance Procedure. Oral reprimands are not subject to grievance. The Association shall submit such grievance at Step 1 of the procedure not later than ten (10) working days after the effective date of the disciplinary action. Working days for the grievance procedure shall be defined as Monday through Thursday, excluding holidays recognized and observed by the County. The Grievance Procedure shall be the sole and exclusive procedure for resolution of discipline and discharge disputes. The Association requests the County inform employees who are subject to discipline or discharge of their contract rights to the grievance procedure.

If the County has reason to counsel, reprimand or discuss a regular employee's need to correct deficiencies, every reasonable effort will be made to accomplish this in a manner that will not embarrass the regular employee before other employees or the public.

When the employer believes there is just cause for discharge, the regular employee and the Association will be notified in writing at the time the action is taken that the regular employee is subject to discharge. In instances of proposed discharge, the employee should be given ten (10) calendar days advanced notice of the discharge date as required by County Code. Such notification shall state the reasons for which the regular employee is being discharged. The employer shall provide the regular employee with an opportunity to respond to the charges at an informal pre-dismissal hearing which may be recorded, with the person or persons having the authority to impose or revoke the disciplinary action.

The regular employee may be granted additional time, at the discretion of the employer, to prepare for the pre-dismissal hearing.

#### **ARTICLE 14 - SETTLEMENT OF DISPUTES**

#### 1. Association Grievance and Arbitration Procedure.

Any grievance or dispute which may arise between the parties involving the application, meaning or interpretation of this Agreement, except oral reprimands, shall be settled in the following manner:

STEP 1. An Association representative, with or without the employee, may take up the grievance or dispute with the employee's department head or designee within ten (10) working days of its occurrence. The department head or designee, an Association representative, and the employee, shall meet within 7 (seven) working days of the appeal to Step 1 to discuss the grievance. If the grievance remains unresolved, the department head or designee shall respond to the representative within ten (10) working days of such meeting.

STEP 2. If the grievance still remains unadjusted, it may be presented by the Association representative, or the Association grievance committee, to the Board of County Commissioners, or its designee(s) within seven (7) working days after the response of the department head is due. The Board of County Commissioners or its designee(s), an Association representative, and the employee, shall meet within 7 (seven) working days of the appeal to Step 2 to discuss the grievance. If the grievance remains unresolved, the Board of County Commissioners or its designee shall respond in writing to the representative or grievance committee within ten (10) working days.

STEP 3. If the grievance is still unsettled, either party may within thirty (30) calendar days after the reply of the Board of County Commissioners is due, by written notice to the other, request arbitration, except when the issue at hand is in conflict with the County's Personnel Ordinance, in which case the bargaining agreement shall prevail.

STEP 4. <u>Arbitration</u>. If arbitration is requested, the parties shall forthwith agree upon an arbitrator who shall act as sole arbitrator of the dispute. The parties agree that any decision of the arbitrator which is within the scope of this Agreement shall be final and binding upon them. In the event that the parties fail to agree upon the selection of an arbitrator, a list of seven (7) arbitrators who charge from the Oregon border or only for travel within Oregon, which includes Oregon arbitrators as well as arbitrators who are not Oregon residents and charge from the Oregon border shall be requested from the Employment Relations Board of the State of Oregon. After the flip of a coin has determined which party shall strike first, each party shall, in turn, strike one arbitrator at a time from the list until one name remains. The arbitrator whose name remains shall act as the arbitrator of the dispute. The arbitrator shall exercise all powers relating to admissibility of evidence, conduct of the hearing and arbitration procedures, provided that in so doing, the arbitrator shall not contravene any provisions of this Agreement. The compensation of the arbitrator and all expenses incurred by the arbitrator shall be borne by the party against whom the arbitrator's decision is adverse.

a. "Working days" for purposes of this article shall be defined as Monday through Thursday, excluding holidays recognized and observed by the County.

b. Step 1 may be skipped by mutual agreement.

c. The grievance shall be submitted on the Official Grievance Form as contained in Appendix A. In the grievance process and arbitration, the Association is limited to the facts and contract violations as stated in the grievance.

d. When the Board of County Commissioners has denied a grievance and arbitration is requested, the parties must, within one year of the date the Board of County Commissioners denies the grievance, select an arbitrator and request a date for the arbitration hearing, or the grievance is considered closed without prejudice to the issues presented by the grievance.

e. The time limits as described herein may be waived by mutual agreement of the parties.

f. The Association President, a Grievance Committee member, or an Association office representative, shall be allowed reasonable time and opportunity to assist an employee to pursue a grievance or dispute through the steps of the grievance procedure as outlined in Section 1 above. Such time away from work, if on County paid time, shall be in compliance with the rules governing conducting association business as contained in Article 17 – Association Rights.

g. When an employee voluntarily separates from County employment, all pending grievances filed on behalf of such employee shall be considered withdrawn with prejudice.

# 2. County Grievance and Arbitration Process.

The County shall have the right to file a grievance with the Association Executive Board, or designee, over the application, meaning or interpretation of this agreement. The Association Board or designee shall have ten (10) calendar days to respond. If the grievance is unsettled, either party may within ten (10) days after the reply of the Association Board by written notice to the other, request arbitration.

<u>Arbitration</u>. If arbitration is requested, the parties shall forthwith agree upon an arbitrator who shall act as sole arbitrator of the dispute. The parties agree that any decision of the arbitrator which is within the scope of this Agreement shall be final and binding upon them. In the event that the parties fail to agree upon the selection of an arbitrator, a list of seven (7) arbitrators who charge from the Oregon border or only for travel within Oregon, which includes Oregon arbitrators as well as arbitrators who are not Oregon residents and charge from the Oregon border shall be requested from the Employment Relations Board of the State of Oregon. After the flip of a coin has determined which party shall strike first, each party shall, in turn, strike one arbitrator at a time from the list until one name remains. The arbitrator whose name remains shall act as the arbitrator of the dispute. The arbitrator shall not have the authority to modify, add to, alter or detract from the provisions of this Agreement. The arbitrator shall exercise all powers relating to admissibility of evidence, conduct of the hearing and arbitration procedures, provided that in so doing, he shall not contravene any provisions of this Agreement. The compensation of the arbitrator and all expenses incurred by him shall be borne by the party against whom the arbitrator's decision is adverse.

# **ARTICLE 15 - WORKERS' COMPENSATION**

1. All County employees will be insured under the provisions of the Oregon State Workers' Compensation Act for injuries and illnesses as defined in the Act. Both parties agree to the principle that the employee shall suffer no financial disadvantage, nor shall the employee have a financial advantage by being in disability status. 2. The County shall compensate the employee from the County's Risk Management Claims Fund for on-the-job injuries where the claim has been accepted in an amount equal to the injured employee's regular pay, including any regular additional pay, such as longevity, that the employee was receiving at the time of the injury and would have continued to receive had there been no injury. This wage continuation provision is subject to the following conditions:

(a) The day of injury shall be considered a work day, and the employee will receive their normal salary for that day.

(b) In most instances, the waiting period, as described in ORS 656.210, will be charged to sick leave unless total temporary disability exceeds 14 days. Then, Workers' Compensation covers from the first day.

(c) The employee's regular pay will be subject to all standard deductions, such as income tax and employee benefits, as required or allowed under Federal and State law.

(d) While the employee is receiving wage continuation under this provision, the employee will continue to receive all other County health and welfare benefits the employee was enrolled in at the time of the injury unless prohibited by law, rule, regulation or provider contract.

# **ARTICLE 16 - UNION DUES**

1. All employees covered by the terms and conditions of this Agreement may become members of the Association. The County agrees to deduct dues in the amount determined by the Association from the wages of each employee who chooses to become a member of the Association and provides the County with written authorization to deduct dues. The County agrees to deposit the total amount deducted from all members into an established account designated by the Association, on a monthly basis.

2. The County will not be held liable for errors but will make proper adjustments with the Association for errors as soon as is practicable if notified within ten (10) days of the error. In no case shall such an adjustment extend beyond the following pay period. In order for both parties to have adequate information on dues check off, an updated list of eligible members who have union dues deducted from their pay will be delivered to the Association.

3. Association representatives shall be provided with a reasonable opportunity and fifteen (15) minutes of County paid time to inform new employees about the Association and to provide the new employee with a signature card in order to register for membership in the Association.

# **ARTICLE 17 - ASSOCIATION RIGHTS**

## 1. Association Representatives.

The Association may designate CCEA-represented employees of the County to serve as Association representatives.

There shall be no more than twenty-five (25) Association representatives assigned to assist with the administration of this agreement and the CCEA Part-time/Temporary Agreement. It is the Association's responsibility to select Association representatives.

The Association shall advise the County in writing of all the names of employees who are serving as Association representatives. The County shall recognize only employees designated as Association representatives, CCEA officers, and the CCEA Service Representative as official representatives in the administration of this agreement. Said list shall be updated as necessary.

# 2. Access to Workers.

Authorized representatives of the Association may visit the work locations of employees covered by this agreement at reasonable times, provided that such visitations will not interfere with the work of the employees.

### 3. Association Negotiators.

Employees selected by the Association to act as Association representatives for the purpose of negotiating amendments or modifications to this agreement shall be known as the Clackamas County Employees Association Negotiating Committee. The names of employees so designated shall be certified in writing to the County by the Association. The Negotiating Committee shall consist of four members and a Chief Negotiator. All negotiation meetings with the Board of County Commissioners or its representatives shall be held during working hours, on the County's premises without loss of pay.

### 4. No Discrimination.

The provisions of this Agreement shall be applied equally to all employees in the bargaining unit without discrimination as to age, sex, disability, marital status, race, color, creed, national origin, or political affiliation. The Association shall share equally with the County, the responsibility for applying this provision of the Agreement. The County agrees not to interfere with the rights of employees to become members of the Association, and there shall be no discrimination, interference, restraint, or coercion by the County, or any County representative, against any employee because of Association membership or because of any employee activity in an official capacity on behalf of the Association, or for any other cause. Nothing in this section shall be construed to limit the County's right to effectively and efficiently run the County's operations.

# 5. Association Business on County Paid Time.

An Association representative or CCEA officer may use up to eighty (80) hours of County paid time per calendar year to assist with the following matters:

- 1. Representing an employee in an investigatory interview/meeting which may result in the employee receiving discipline (unless the employee objects);
- 2. Representing an employee in a pre-disciplinary meeting (unless the employee objects);
- 3. Providing an employee with reasonable assistance with a grievance or dispute pursuant to Article 14 of the collective bargaining agreement.

County paid time spent by Association representatives and CCEA officers under this provision will be designated as union business and recorded on their department's timekeeping system and reported to the immediate supervisor by the Association representative or CCEA officer as the time is incurred with the exception of time spent less than fifteen (15) minutes, approved vacation or compensatory

time and with the exception of lunch or breaks, depending on department policy. If the Association fails to provide current Association representative or CCEA officer names, no County paid time shall be granted for unnamed Association representatives or CCEA officers. Association representatives and first-level managers are encouraged to resolve problems before the problem becomes a grievance.

Time spent by Association representatives and CCEA officers participating in Union Presidents' Meetings with County management staff; participating in a labor-management meeting with County labor relations staff; participating in a meeting with management at management's request; attending layoff/bumping/placement meetings and the Qualifications Review Committee meetings; attending arbitration hearings; or providing new hire Association membership orientation as defined in Article 16, Section 3, shall be on County paid time, and not county toward the eighty (80) hours of County paid time described in this provision.

Association hours will be non-transferable. Once the time is exhausted, no additional County paid time will be provided in the remainder of the calendar year. Any hours remaining at the end of the calendar year will be lost and will not roll over to the subsequent calendar year.

These guidelines do not relieve the Association representative or CCEA officer from the responsibility of arranging for the time away from work with their supervisor, including notifying the supervisor when they are leaving and when they return. The time away cannot unreasonably interfere with the employee's work duties. Arranging time away from work may be done through a request in a discussion with the supervisor or by requesting time away from their duties through the time keeping system.

If the Association representative wishes to engage in other Association business during paid County time, other than what is listed above, they should arrange to take vacation or compensatory time with their supervisor consistent with the procedures in the collective bargaining agreement and for the department.

The Association is entitled to have one county employee representative to attend investigatory meetings with employees which may result in that employee receiving discipline; and during predisciplinary meetings. On occasion, the Association Service Representative may attend such meetings in addition to the county employee representative or in lieu of the Association representative.

# **ARTICLE 18 - LABOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE**

### 1. Membership.

The parties agree to the establishment of a joint labor management committee. The committee will be comprised of two members and one alternate representing the Association and two representatives and one alternate representing the County.

### 2. Meeting Time.

The committee shall meet at least once each quarter if there are agenda items and upon agreement may meet at any other time. Each party will submit items for the agenda at least three days prior to the scheduled date of the meeting.

# 3. Purpose.

The committee is a vehicle for communication and will have as its purpose, the promotion of harmonious labor/management relations.

# **ARTICLE 19 - PERFORMANCE EVALUATION**

At least once a year, the department head shall review and rate the work performance of each employee using established performance evaluation forms as a basis for the rating. The Human Resources Director or designee(s) shall receive a copy of the evaluation, which shall be jointly completed by the employee and the employee's immediate supervisor.

The parties agree that performance evaluation is not a disciplinary process. Therefore, discussions and/or administration of discipline for performance related issues shall not occur during a performance evaluation meeting. However, any delay or denial of a merit increase is not discipline.

Performance evaluations become a part of the employee's work history and are kept in the employee personnel file. If substantial disagreement exists between the employee and the supervisor's evaluation of the employee's work performance, the employee may submit a statement in writing to the department head stating the reasons for the disagreement in as specific detail as possible. A copy of the statement by the employee must be filed with the Human Resources Department. When signing the evaluation form, the employee may add "in disagreement" next to the employee's signature.

Each month the Human Resources Director or designee(s) shall notify department heads of employees whose anniversary date is upcoming. It is the responsibility of the department head to insure that the supervisors administer performance evaluations to all of their immediate subordinates within one month of each employee's anniversary date.

# **ARTICLE 20 – TRANSFERS**

### 1. Housing Authority:

Any Housing Authority employee that transfers into a regular position in the CCEA shall retain full credit for service in the Housing Authority in accordance with the Personnel Ordinance.

#### 2. Intradepartmental Transfer:

An intradepartmental transfer may be either voluntary or involuntary. An appointing authority may transfer employees within their department without the employees' consent, but must give the employees ten (10) working days' notice of this action.

# **ARTICLE 21 - RECLASSIFICATION**

1. When an employee believes that there has been a significant change in duties and responsibilities of their position, they may submit a Position Classification Questionnaire (PCQ) to request a position

review to determine proper classification placement. The PCQ shall first go to the employee's immediate supervisor and then Division and the Department management for review and comment. The Department shall forward the completed PCQ to the Department of Human Resources within 30 days of the initial request. If the Department does not forward the request within 30 days, the employee may submit the request directly to the Department of Human Resources. The Department of Human Resources will notify the employee within 14 working days of the disposition of the request as provided under County Code.

2. When a position is reclassified to a classification that carries a higher salary grade, if in the opinion of the Department of Human Resources, the incumbent employee has been performing the duties of the higher level classification at least 75% of the time for a period of six months or more, the incumbent employee shall be reclassified to the higher classification. When reclassified to a higher classification, employees receive a five percent (5%) increase over their current salary or to the minimum of the new grade, whichever is greater. A reclassification increase will not exceed the maximum of the higher classification's salary grade.

The eligibility for salary increases changes to the first of the month following six (6) full months from the date of reclassification and thereafter every twelve (12) months of continuous service until reaching maximum of salary grade. If the employee has been working out-of-class for a period of 6 months or more and not paid temporary out-of-class pay (TOC), the determination and reclassification shall justify retroactive TOC pay for six (6) months. If an employee is reclassified and has not been in a TOC status during the reclassification study, the employee shall serve a six (6) month probationary period beginning on the effective date of reclassification. Employees who are reclassified and have been in a TOC status for six (6) months prior to reclassification shall not serve a probationary period. In cases of reclassification where an employee had been in a TOC status during the reclassification where an employee had been in a TOC status during the reclassification where an employee had been in a TOC status during the reclassification is the maximum of their classification's salary grade (topped out), the employee shall receive retroactive TOC adjustments (increases). Such an employee's reclassification increase can be higher than the standard amount (approximately 5%). These TOC adjustments will follow these criteria:

- awarded on the employee's base merit month,
- increases of 5% increments,
- TOC rate will not exceed maximum rate of higher classification's salary grade,
- No TOC adjustment within the first six (6) months of TOC status.

If there are special circumstances that affect completion of a reclassification, the Director of Human Resources may authorize retroactive (TOC) pay which exceeds 6 months and is not limited to the current fiscal year.

Under special circumstances, with the approval of the Department Director, the Director of Human Resources may adjust the effective date of reclassification and may waive all or part of the probationary period.

If an employee disagrees with the a Position Classification Recommendation, the employee may appeal such disagreement as described in Article 25.

# **ARTICLE 22 - LAYOFF AND RECALL**

# 1. Reason for Layoff / Layoff Order.

In case of a reduction in force, or the elimination of a function, employees shall be laid off within a department in accordance with qualifications to perform the remaining required work without further training. When qualifications, skills and abilities to perform the duties of the position(s) remaining are equal, seniority will prevail.

A department director may request an exception to the order of layoff in writing to the Human Resources Director when the retention of employees with needed skills or performance abilities are necessary for the efficient operation of the department. Such actions shall be taken only for articulated, job-related reasons and substantiated by written documentation. A position that has been identified as an exception to layoff cannot be subject to bumping unless an employee can demonstrate they possess the needed skills or performance abilities of the specific excepted position. If an employee believes they are qualified to bump into a position on their bumping list that has been excepted, they may request a review of their skills and experience in writing to the Human Resources Director. The judgment of the Human Resources Director shall be final unless such judgment is shown to be arbitrary or capricious.

The Human Resources Director shall inform the Association in writing when an exception has been requested and will provide a copy of the documentation supporting the request. The Association may timely present any additional information it would like the Human Resources Director to consider.

# 2. Notice of Layoff and Bumping Options.

Employees and Association president shall be given in writing a minimum of 14 calendar days' notice of layoff. Those employees who wish to participate in the bumping process must notify the County in writing by 5:00 p.m. of the 7th calendar day after receiving their notice. Those employees who do not notify the County will automatically be placed on layoff status. Within a classification and department, temporary, probationary and other employees who do not have regular status will be laid off before employees with regular status. Employees who have never attained regular status with the County and who are laid off, will not be placed on layoff registers and do not have displacement rights.

### 3. Layoff and Bumping Process.

If an employee elects to participate in the bumping process, then the employee has seven (7) calendar days from the employee's initial notification of layoff to submit a complete list of their qualifications, skills and abilities to the County. If the employee exercises their right to bump, the County will:

- (1) Provide the employee with a list of <u>all</u> positions in the department at or below the employee's current pay grade with the same or lower seniority date.
- (2) A current seniority list will be provided to the Association president at time of action for all affected classes by the Human Resources Department.
- (3) The employee would, through consultation with the employee's supervisor and/or the Human Resources Department, identify those positions that the employee believes they are fully qualified to perform.
- (4) The list of positions so identified will be submitted to the department and forwarded to the Human Resources Department for bumping consideration. If the Human Resources

Department and the department finds that the employee is qualified to bump into a position at the employee's current grade, that position will be offered to the employee. The bumping process will then end, and the Qualifications Review Committee (QRC) will not be involved.

- (5) If the department believes the employee is not qualified to bump into a position at the employee's current grade, the employee will be offered a position (if qualified) in the next lower grade that the employee is qualified to work. The employee does have a right to appeal disagreement about placement at a lower grade to the QRC.
- (6) If an employee bumps into a classification with a lower salary range, the employee's salary will remain the same if it falls within the lower range. If the employee's salary exceeds the top of the lower range the employee will be placed at the top step of the lower range.

# 4. Qualifications Review Committee.

The QRC will be formed only when an appeal is made. The QRC will be appointed at that time for a particular employee or employees if appropriate. The QRC will not be appointed as a standing committee.

(a) Upon request, the QRC shall then determine the employee's ability to "bump". The QRC may call upon the supervisor of the position in question or any other person they feel would be appropriate to assist them in understanding the required duties. After the QRC has received the list of qualifications, skills, and abilities from the bumping employee, it shall review positions in the same job area that are less senior and equal to or below the grade level of the bumping employee.

(b) The QRC shall be a five member committee made up of two Association members recommended by the Association president, two management employees recommended by the Human Resources Director, and a mutually appointed fifth member selected from current County employees. The QRC's decisions shall be based on comparisons with the job description, established qualification, and the ability of the individual to perform the remaining required work without further training. It is understood that the QRC must make their determination on the assumption that the "bumping" employee will be able to perform the duties of the position within ten (10) working days. The QRC's decision shall be final and binding unless a supervisor can demonstrate to the QRC that after fifteen (15) working days the "bumping" employee shall be returned to their original position.

(c) Any decisions regarding layoff and recall made by the QRC shall be final and not be subject to arbitration.

### 5. Layoff Status and Recall.

Employees on layoff must notify the Human Resources Department in writing as to their present address and telephone number. This notice shall be updated quarterly or when there is any change, whichever is sooner. In addition, the employee shall advise the County when they are no longer available for recall. Failure to notify terminates any and all relationships with the County. Layoff status will automatically terminate after two (2) years.

(a) Employees shall be recalled to work in accordance with skills and ability to perform the required work as determined by the County without loss of seniority or benefits, subject to contract limitations.

(b) The employee does have a right to appeal disagreement over recall to the QRC.

(c) Employees shall be recalled from layoff according to their length of service (more senior first, etc.). No new employees shall be hired by the County until all employees on layoff status

desiring to return to work have been recalled or there are no qualified laid off employees who can fill the position.

(d) Failure to report within ten (10) working days will terminate any and all relationships with the County.

# 6. Seniority.

(a) Seniority shall be defined as meaning an employee's total length of continuous service with the County since the employee's last date of hire; if equal, the employee's total length of unbroken service within a department; if equal, the total length of service within the employee's job classification. If all of the above elements are equal, the final determining factor will be the employee's documented work performance.

(b) Seniority shall be prorated for periods of part-time employment based on the employee's FTE (full-time equivalency).

(c) If an employee leaves a bargaining unit position for another non-bargaining unit position in the County, and then returns to a bargaining unit position, their seniority will only include time spent in a bargaining unit (including time in any County bargaining unit). It will not be the responsibility of the County to track this information. Should the Association believe that a particular employee has "non-bargaining unit" work time, the County will calculate the employee's bargaining unit seniority only when requested to do so in writing by the Association. Once a calculation is made, then the Association and the employee for which the calculation is made will be notified of the employee's bargaining unit time, which will then be used for determining the employee's layoff and recall seniority.

(d) Seniority will be terminated when the employee quits employment or is dismissed.

(e) For the purpose of computing seniority, all authorized leave shall be considered as time worked. Unauthorized leave includes absences without proper approval and time off suspensions for disciplinary reasons.

(f) For purposes of bumping into the bargaining unit, seniority is defined as continuous service in the bargaining unit. If an employee has no time in the bargaining unit, the employee cannot bump into the bargaining unit. For all other purposes, including layoff and bumping within the bargaining unit, seniority is defined subject to Section 6(a), (b), (c), (d) and (e) above.

# **ARTICLE 23 - MISCELLANEOUS**

# 1. Existing Conditions.

Matters of employment relations including but not limited to: direct or indirect monetary benefits, hours, vacations, sick leave, grievance procedures and other conditions of employment shall be continued at not less than the level in effect at the time of the signing of this Agreement. The County agrees to furnish to the Association President copies of all proposed changes in work rules and benefits and matters of employment relations. Any changes in existing employment relations shall first be negotiated with the Association.

# 2. Rules.

The County agrees to furnish each employee in the bargaining unit with a copy of the contract. New employees shall be provided a copy of the contract at the time of new hire orientation.

Employees shall comply with all existing rules which are not in conflict with the terms of this Agreement, provided the rules are uniformly applied and uniformly enforced. Any unresolved complaints as to the reasonableness of any new rules or any complaint involving discrimination in the application of new or existing rules shall be resolved through the grievance procedure.

# 3. Car as Condition of Employment.

No employee who works at grade 10 or below will be required to have a car as a condition of employment.

# 4. Employment Policies and Practices.

The Association will have a chance to review and input on Employment Policies and Practices (EPPs) referenced in the Employees' Association contract prior to implementation.

# 5. Limited-Term Appointments.

Limited-term appointments shall not exceed one consecutive two year period in the same position. Limited-term employees are covered by all provisions of this bargaining agreement except Article22, Layoff and Recall. The County shall provide the Union notification of limited term positions.

A current employee may apply for a limited term position. If the employee is selected to fill such position the employee shall be entitled to return to the employee's former position and classification when the term expires at an equivalent rate of pay or a step that causes the least reduction in pay within their previous salary grade. The position vacated by the employee shall be backfilled by a limited term position of equivalent time.

# 6. Reorganization of a Department.

The County will provide the Association with advance notification of the reorganization of a department. The Association will be offered an opportunity for input, and if necessary, negotiations on the impact to affected employees. The Association will advise the County if it desires to negotiate the impact of such changes, subject to the normal Employment Relations Board test (permissive vs. mandatory) as to whether the issue is negotiable. Should the Association want input into the department change, it shall present a timely presentation of concerns to the County.

# 7. Electronic Mail.

1. Association representatives (those persons holding positions as officers within the Association) may use the County email system to communicate concerning collective bargaining matters.

- 2. "Collective bargaining matters" means any of the following:
  - (a) official Association announcements to the Association membership (such as meeting subjects, dates and times);
  - (b) the meaning, interpretation or application of this Agreement;
  - (c) the presentation and adjustment of grievances to management under Article 12 of this Agreement;
  - (d) matters directly related to the collective bargaining relationship between the County and the Association.

3. Association members may use the County email system to contact Association representatives regarding collective bargaining matters, including any of the following purposes:

- (a) to arrange a date, time and location for a meeting concerning the meaning, interpretation or application of this Agreement;
- (b) to ask a question regarding the meaning, interpretation, or application of this Agreement;
- (c) to present a grievance regarding the meaning, interpretation or application of this Agreement;
- (d) to request Association representation in matters concerning the meaning, application or interpretation of this Agreement.

4. It is understood that there is no expectation of confidentiality or privacy concerning communications sent over the County email system, and that the County reserves the right to access and disclose all messages sent over the County email system for any purpose.

5. The County email system will not be used for political purposes at any time, and this limitation shall override any of the permissible uses of the email system listed above. "Political purposes" shall include matters related to support or opposition to candidates or measures in any election (County elections, union candidate elections, or otherwise).

### 8. Interview/Testing Time.

The County supports advancement and new job opportunities for employees and will allow three (3) hours on a calendar year basis test or to attend job interviews for a different county position than currently held by an employee, if such test occurs during a time the employee is working. This does not entitle an employee to additional pay.

### 9. Over/Under Payments.

Any employee receiving unauthorized payments has the obligation to call such error to the attention of their supervisor.

A. Underpayments

When an error occurs resulting in a negative impact on the employee, upon notification by the employee, in writing to the Payroll Manager, and verification by the payroll division, payment in correction of the error shall be made in the employee's paycheck for the current pay period.

B. Payments in Error

When an employee receives payments due to a clerical, technical, or computer error, through no fault of the employee and where the employee did not and could not reasonably have known that the error occurred, the employee will only be liable for, and the County shall only recover, the overpayment for a period of one-hundred and eight (180) days preceding the date of discovery of the error. If the discovery of the error is made by the employee who notifies the Payroll Manager in writing within ten (10) working days of discovery of the error that they believe their pay is incorrect and the County does not subsequently make a correction to stop the overpayment by the next payroll period after notification, the employee will not be liable for additional overpayments that occur following the date of notification.

C. Repayment to the County

As soon as the overpayment is known, the County will make every effort to recover overpayments by payroll deduction over a reasonable period of time.

- 1. The County Payroll Manager shall notify the employee in writing of the overpayment which will include information supporting that an overpayment exists, and the amount of wages and/or benefits to be repaid. For purposes of recovering the overpayments by payroll deduction, the following shall apply:
- 2. The employee and the County shall meet and attempt to reach mutual agreement on a repayment schedule within thirty (30) calendar days following the written notification.
- 3. If there is not mutual agreement at the end of thirty (30) calendar days, the County shall implement the repayment schedule stated in subsection (7) below.
- 4. If the overpayment amount to be repaid is more than twenty-five (\$25) dollars, the overpayment shall be recovered in amounts not to exceed twenty-five (\$25) dollars per payroll period. The employee may elect a higher repayment amount. If an overpayment is less than twenty-five (\$25) dollars, the overpayment shall be recovered in a lump sum deduction from the employee's paycheck.
- 5. An employee who has a factual disagreement with the County's determination that the overpayment has been made to the employee may grieve the determination through the grievance procedure.
- 6. This article/section does not waive the County's right to pursue other legal procedures and processes to recoup an overpayment made to former employees.
- 7. Employees can elect to either establish a payment plan through payroll deductions as described under 23(C)(4) or may elect to pay overpayment in one lump sum. In the event the employee chooses to make a lump sum payment to the County, the County will adjust the amount owed for any tax paid, and will reduce the amount of employees' wages for the year on the employee's W-2 form by the amount repaid.

#### 10. Video Cameras and GPS Data.

- A. Video camera recordings and/or GPS data may be accessed, reviewed and preserved by the County for business reasons. Video recordings and GPS data will not be used for yearly performance evaluations, unless disciplinary action has been imposed from evidence derived from a specific video recording and/or GPS data. In the event the County elects to review video and/or GPS data as part of an investigation, the County shall notify the Association and provide the Association with an opportunity to view the video and/or GPS data.
- B. In the event information revealed on video camera and/or GPS data raises concerns regarding employee conduct, the County will retain the video recording and/or GPS data and agrees to provide a copy of the video recording and/or GPS data to the Association and the employee in advance of any pre-disciplinary meetings.

#### **ARTICLE 24 - SAVINGS CLAUSE**

Should any Article, Section, or portion thereof, of this Agreement be held unlawful and unenforceable by any Court of competent jurisdiction, such decision of the Court shall apply only to the specific Article, Section or portion thereof, directly specified in the decisions; upon the issuance of such a decision, the parties agree immediately to negotiate a substitute, if possible, for the invalidated Article, Section or portion thereof.

#### **ARTICLE 25 - CLASSIFICATION/COMPENSATION REVIEW PANEL**

The Classification/Compensation Review Panel (CCRP) shall be made up of three members. One member shall be selected by the Employees Association, one member shall be selected by the Human Resources Director, and the third member shall be mutually appointed from current County or Housing Authority employees, either from management or the bargaining unit. Within ten (10) calendar days from the date the written notice referred to in Article 10(1)(b) or notice from the Human Resources Director denying an appeal on a classification recommendation, is received, the Association will submit a written request to the Human Resources Director to have the matter forwarded to the CCRP. The Association and Human Resources staff may present information to the panel in support of their respective positions. The meeting shall take place during regularly scheduled business hours but shall be limited to three (3) hours (two (2) hours for presentation of information and one hour for the panel to deliberate). The CCRP shall review the reasons for the classification allocation and/or the salary range recommendation and may ask questions of the parties presenting information. Following the collection of information, the panel shall discuss their opinions with the Human Resources Director. The Director shall consider the opinions of the CCRP when recommending the final salary range recommendation to the Board of County Commissioners. The Director shall include in this recommendation a summary of issues raised during the request for review process and the opinions of the panel. The Board of County Commissioners, or designee, shall have the final authority for all salary range determinations.

#### **ARTICLE 24 - TERMINATION**

1. This Agreement shall become effective July 1, 2018 or upon execution, whichever occurs later, except as otherwise agreed, and shall remain in full force and effect through June 30, 2021, or the date of signing a subsequent Agreement, whichever last occurs. This agreement shall be automatically renewed on July 1, 2021, and each year thereafter unless either party shall notify the other in writing no later than January 1<sup>st</sup> that it desires to either terminate or modify this Agreement. In the event notice to modify is given, negotiations shall begin no later than February 1<sup>st</sup>. In the event that notification of termination is given, it shall become effective thirty (30) days after the date of notice is received.

2. This Agreement may be amended at any time by mutual agreement of the Association and County; such amendments shall be in writing and signed by both parties.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have set their hands

this \_\_\_\_\_ day of \_\_\_\_\_, 2019.

#### FOR THE ASSOCIATION:

Bob Escudero, President

Kevin Keaney, Chief Negotiator

Karen Hedden, Negotiating Team Member

FOR THE COUNTY:

Chair, Board of County Commissioners

Eric Sarha, Chief Negotiator

Deborah Cockrell, Negotiating Team Member

Johanna Johnson, Negotiating Team Member

Maria Magallon, Negotiating Team Member

Vicky Anderson, Negotiating Team Member

Brian Imdieke, Negotiating Team Member

Krista Weatherford, Negotiating Team Member

Gary Schmidt, Negotiating Team Member

# **Official Grievance Form**

CLACKAN	IAS COUNTY & IAS COUNTY EMPLO' GRIEVNACE FORM	YEES ASSOCIAT	FION	
Name of E	Employee (s):	De	epartment/Divisi	on:
Classificat	ion (if applicable):	Wo	ork Location:	
Superviso	r/Manager:			
	of Grievance: Articles Allegedly Violate	ed:		
Facts /Circ	cumstances that lead to	alleged violation	:	
	e pages as necessary) leged Violation:			
Requested	d Remedy:			
	e pages as necessary) of Employee/Union:			
Level	Date Presented to Management	Management Representative	Date Response Due	Disposition
Step 1				
Step 2				
Step 3 Step 4				
010p 4				

Step 5

#### ADDENDUM 1

While the County is on the Four Day Work Week the terms of the October 2008 Four Day Work Week MOU shall remain in effect.

For Employees Association

For Clackamas County



Evelyn Minor-Lawrence Director

DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN RESOURCES

PUBLIC SERVICES BUILDING 2051 Kaen Road | Oregon City, OR 97045

March 14, 2019

Board of County Commissioners Clackamas County

Members of the Board:

Approval of the Labor Contract Between The County of Clackamas and the Clackamas County Employees' Association – Housing Authority (CCEA-HA)

Purpose/Outcomes	Settlement of labor contract
Dollar Amount and Fiscal Impact	\$ 439,071.31
Funding Source	General Fund
Duration	July 1, 2018 – June 30, 2021
Previous Board Action	February 7, 2019 – Executive Session
Strategic Plan Alignment	Build public trust through good government.
Contact Person	Eric Sarha, HR Deputy Director 503-655-8292
Contract No.	N/A

#### BACKGROUND:

Housing Authority of Clackamas County and Clackamas County Employees' Association Housing Authority entered into bargaining for a new contract on February 6, 2018. The County and CCEA-HA held twelve (12) bargaining sessions and four (4) mediation sessions. On February 7, 2019, the County and CCEA-HA reached full tentative agreement on a new three (3) year contract. On March 5, 2019, CCEA-HA's ratification vote successfully passed.

The significant wage and other economic changes are outlined below:

#### Cost of Living Adjustment (COLA)

In years two and three, the floor of the cost of living increase was reduced from 2% to 0%. The ceiling remains the same.

- For fiscal year 2018-19, 2.8%. In lieu of retroactive pay, employees will receive a one-time lump sum payment based on gross earnings for the period of July 1, 2018 to the first full pay period after the effective date of ratification.
- For fiscal year 2019-20, 0%-4.5% based on CPI-W: West Urban Annual Average effective July 1, 2019. For fiscal year 2019-20 (year 2) the Index has published a 3.5% cost of living increase and has been factored into the fiscal impact.

• For fiscal year 2020-21, 0%-4.5% based on CPI-W: West Urban Annual Average effective July 1, 2020. *Projected 3.0% cost of living increase for year three has been assumed and factored into the fiscal impact.* 

#### Other Wage Increases

- Bilingual Pay (new): When a second language is required as a condition for holding a
  particular position, employee will receive an additional 5% of base hourly rate to be added to
  employee's regular salary.
- Association Rights (new cap to County paid time): There shall be no more than twenty-five (25) Association representatives assigned to assist with the administration of CCEA-Main and the CCEA Part-time/Temporary Agreements. An Association representative or CCEA officer may use up to eighty (80) hours of County paid time per calendar year. (\$3,915.23/yr.)
- Uniforms: Increased annual work clothing reimbursement from \$200.00 to \$250.00 for Maintenance employees. (\$550.00/yr.)

#### **RECOMMENDATION:**

Staff recommends the Board approve the attached contracts for the Clackamas County Employees' Association.

Respectfully submitted,

Evelyn Minor Lawrence, HR Director

# 2018-2021 AGREEMENT BETWEEN



and

# CLACKAMAS COUNTY EMPLOYEES' ASSOCIATION

PREAMBLE	5
ARTICLE 1 - RECOGNITION	5
ARTICLE 2 - PRESERVATION OF PUBLIC RIGHTS	5
ARTICLE 3 - MERIT SYSTEM	6
<ol> <li> Probationary Period.</li> <li> Merit Raises.</li> <li> Promotions.</li> <li> Exceptional Increase.</li> </ol>	6 7 7 7
ARTICLE 4 - HOURS OF WORK	
<ol> <li> Regular Hours.</li> <li> Work Week.</li> <li> Rest Periods.</li> <li> On-Call Duty/Maintenance.</li> <li> Regular Duties Outside Normal Workday/Weeks.</li> <li> Outside Employment.</li> <li> Training Hours.</li> <li>Employee Reporting Expectations.</li> </ol>	8 9 10 11 11 11
ARTICLE 5 - HOLIDAYS	12
<ol> <li> Holidays.</li> <li>Holidays for Employees working a Four-Day Work Week.</li> <li> Holidays for Employees Working a Five-Day Work Week.</li> <li> Holiday During Leave.</li> <li> Holiday Work.</li> <li> Less than Full Time Employees Holiday.</li> </ol>	12 13 13 13 13 13 14
ARTICLE 6 - SICK LEAVE	14
<ol> <li> Accrual.</li> <li> Conversion to Retirement Benefit.</li> <li> Vacation Option.</li> <li> Hours Charged.</li> <li> Less than Full Time Employees.</li> </ol>	14 14 14 14 15
ARTICLE 7 - VACATION LEAVE	15
<ol> <li>Mccrual.</li> <li>Wacation Times.</li> <li>Termination or Death.</li> <li>Hours Charged.</li> <li>Less Than Full Time Employees.</li> </ol>	15 16 16 16 17
ARTICLE 8 - OTHER LEAVES	17
<ol> <li>Leave of Absence.</li> <li>Jury Duty.</li> <li>Educational Leave.</li> <li>Inclement Weather.</li> <li>Military Leave.</li> <li>Parental Leave.</li> <li>Maternity Leave.</li> <li>Compassionate Leave.</li> </ol>	17 17 17 17 17 18 18 18

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

9 Family/Medical Leave. 10 Immediate Family Defined.	18 18
ARTICLE 9 - HEALTH AND WELFARE	
<ol> <li>Medical Coverage.</li> <li>Flexible Benefits.</li> <li>Life Insurance.</li> <li>Dental Insurance.</li> <li>Disability Income Insurance.</li> <li>Reinstatement from Medical Layoff.</li> <li>Workers' Compensation.</li> <li>Full-Time Employees.</li> <li>Insurance After Termination.</li> <li>Insurance After Termination.</li> <li>Benefits Review Committee.</li> <li>Job Share.</li> <li>Plan Changes Required by Law or Insurance Carrier.</li> <li>Health Reimbursement Account</li> <li>Deferred Compensation Plan.</li> </ol>	19 19 20 20 20 20 21 21 21 21 21 21 21 21 22 23 23 23 23
ARTICLE 10 - WAGES	
<ol> <li> Wages and Classification Schedule.</li> <li> Overtime.</li> <li> Longevity.</li> <li> Bilingual Skills Pay.</li> <li> Retirement Contributions.</li> <li> U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD)</li> </ol>	24 25 25 26 26 27
ARTICLE 11 - SETTLEMENT OF DISPUTES	
1. Grievance and Arbitration Procedure.	27
ARTICLE 12 - DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE	
ARTICLE 13 - UNION DUES	
ARTICLE 14 - ASSOCIATION RIGHTS	
<ol> <li> Association Representatives.</li> <li> Access to Workers.</li> <li> Association Negotiators.</li> <li> No Discrimination.</li> <li> Association Business on Authority Paid Time.</li> </ol>	30 30 31 31 31
ARTICLE 15 - LAYOFF AND RECALL	
<ol> <li> Reason for Layoff / Layoff Order.</li> <li> Notice of Layoff and Bumping Options.</li> <li> Layoff and Bumping Process.</li> <li> Qualifications Review Committee.</li> <li> Layoff Status.</li> <li> Seniority.</li> </ol>	32 33 33 34 34 35
ARTICLE 16 - RECLASSIFICATION	
1 Request for Reclassification. 2 Classification/Compensation Review Panel.	35 36

ARTICLE 17 - HEALTH AND SAFETY		
ARTICLE 18 - STAFF DEVELOPMENT	37	
ARTICLE 19 - MISCELLANEOUS	38	
1Uniforms.	38	
2 Change in Working Conditions.	38	
3 Travel Pay.	38	
4 Use of Authority-Owned Motor Vehicles.	38	
5. Workload.	39	
6 Employment Policies and Practices.	39	
7 Limited-Term Appointments.	39	
8 Personnel Files. 9 Electronic Mail	39 40	
10 Interview/Testing Time	40 40	
11 Over/Under Payments	40 40	
12 New Hires	42	
ARTICLE 20 - TRANSFERS	42	
1 Interdepartmental Transfers:	42	
2 Intradepartmental Transfers:	42	
ARTICLE 21 – PERFORMANCE EVALUATION	42	
ARTICLE 22 - SAVINGS CLAUSE	43	
ARTICLE 23 - TERMINATION	43	

#### <u>2018-2021 A G R E E M E N T</u>

#### between

#### THE HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE COUNTY OF CLACKAMAS

and

#### CLACKAMAS COUNTY EMPLOYEES' ASSOCIATION

#### PREAMBLE

This agreement is entered into by the Housing Authority of the County of Clackamas, Oregon, hereinafter referred to as the Authority, and the Employees' Association of Clackamas County, hereinafter referred to as the Association.

The parties agree as follows:

#### **ARTICLE 1 - RECOGNITION**

The Authority recognizes the Association as the exclusive bargaining agent for the purpose of establishing salaries, wages, hours and other conditions of employment for all employees except temporary employees (those hired for a period not to exceed 1502.5 hours for employees in positions normally worked 37.5 hours per week on a full time equivalent or 1600 for employees in positions normally worked 40 hours per week on a full time equivalent in a twelve month period based on the County's Affordable Care Act (ACA) look back period of November 1 through October 31 and every twelve months thereafter, part-time employees (regularly working a schedule of less than 18.75 hours a week for 37.5-hour schedules and 19.75 hours a week for 40-hour schedules), department heads, employees who are covered by other collective bargaining agreements, and employees who because of their supervisory or confidential status do not have statutory bargaining rights. Confidential and supervisory positions which no longer perform statutory duties that exempt the position from the bargaining unit shall be covered by the terms and conditions of this agreement effective upon the termination of such duties.

The Authority and the Association further agree to recognize the Association as the bargaining agent for employees not now covered by this agreement or any other agreements upon a showing of interest of fifty percent (50%) plus one of the affected group of employees, provided, however, this does not include temporary employees hired through an agency, craft employees hired for six (6) month's or less or resident manager positions in the Housing Authority.

### **ARTICLE 2 - PRESERVATION OF PUBLIC RIGHTS**

The Association recognizes that an area of responsibility must be reserved to the Authority if the Authority management is to effectively serve the public. Therefore, the Authority shall have the full and complete right to manage and direct its business and it is recognized that

the following responsibilities of management are exclusively functions to be exercised by the Authority and are not subject to negotiations insofar as this right does not affect the meaning, interpretation or application of any other terms of this Agreement:

- 1. The determination of the services to be rendered to the citizens of the County.
- 2. The determination of the Authority's financial, budgetary and accounting procedures.
- 3. The management and direction of the work force, including but not limited to, the right to determine the methods, processes and manner of performing work; the right to hire, promote, transfer within the same pay range and retain employees; the right to discipline or discharge for proper cause; the right to lay off for lack of funds; the right to establish or abolish positions or reorganize the departments or division; the right to determine schedules of work; the right to contract or subcontract any work, provided, however, that prior to entering into a contract or subcontract for service which would directly eliminate more than one full-time bargaining unit position, the Association will be given, in writing, at least sixty (60) days' notice. The Association will be afforded, at their request, an opportunity to meet and receive relevant information, an opportunity to present its position to the Housing Authority Board of Directors prior to Board action related to such contracting or subcontracting and the right to bargain the impact, not the decision. However, in a reorganization, an expenditure reduction of less than ten percent (10%) would not be considered "contracting out". However, the Board of Housing Authority Commissioners retains full authority to let contracts as they believe to be appropriate. The Authority, in exercise of the above mentioned functions, will not discriminate against any employee because of his membership in the Association.
- 4. The right to implement health and safety rules which affect the clients and employees.
- 5. The parties recognize that change is ongoing, rapid and accelerating and that employee involvement in formulating proposals often leads to improved decision-making. The Association agrees to allow management to ask/assign its members to various task forces, work groups or committees. Recommendations that affect working conditions are subject to all the requirements of the PECBA.

### **ARTICLE 3 - MERIT SYSTEM**

#### 1. Probationary Period.

All employees covered by this Agreement shall serve a probationary period of one year.

During the probationary period, an employee may be dismissed for any reason deemed appropriate by the Executive Director, or designee, without right of appeal. Notification of such dismissal, in writing, shall be served on the probationary employee and a copy filed in the personnel file. An employee serving a probationary period after a promotion may be returned to the employee's former position if the Executive Director, or designee, feels the employee is incapable of or unsuitable for, fulfilling the new duties after a reasonable period of time and the position is still vacant. If the employee's former position is no longer vacant, the employee will be laid off from Authority employment and provided recall to their former classification subject to Article 15, subsection 6.

# 2. Merit Raises.

(a) Prior to July 1, 2013 employees who are in ranges with multiple steps, who have successfully completed a full six months of employment and receive a satisfactory or better performance evaluation shall receive an increase to the next step, which most closely approximates a five percent (5%) increase, on the first day of the month following the end of the full six-month employment period. Subsequent merit increases shall be granted yearly thereafter until the employee has reached the top of the salary range, unless the employee receives an unsatisfactory work performance evaluation.

After July 1, 2013, employees who have successfully completed a full six months of employment and receive a satisfactory or better performance evaluation shall receive an increase of 3.5%, on the first day of the month following the end of the full sixmonth employment period. Subsequent merit increases shall be granted yearly thereafter until the employee has reached the top of the salary range, unless the employee receives an unsatisfactory work performance evaluation.

(b) Prior to July 1, 2013, employees shall be eligible for subsequent merit increases annually on the employee's merit anniversary date until the employee has reached the top of the salary range. If an employee receives a satisfactory or better performance evaluation or does not receive an evaluation within two (2) months of their annual evaluation date, the employee shall receive a merit increase to the next step, retroactive to the employee's merit date.

After July 1, 2013, employees shall be eligible for subsequent merit increases of 3.5% annually on the employee's merit anniversary date until the employee has reached the top of the salary range. If an employee receives a satisfactory or better performance evaluation or does not receive an evaluation within two (2) months of their annual evaluation date, the employee shall receive a merit increase to the next step, retroactive to the employee's merit date.

(c) Effective July 1, 2013, salary grades will no longer identify steps/pay rates. Salary grades will identify a pay range to include a minimum pay rate, (previously Step 1), midpoint pay rate and a maximum pay rate (previously Step 6.) Employees' classification, salary grades, and pay rates will not change.

# 3. Promotions.

It is the policy of the Housing Authority to provide promotional opportunities whenever possible to qualified personnel of the Housing Authority. The hiring and promotion of personnel shall be based on knowledge, skills and abilities.

### 4. Exceptional Increase.

The Authority may grant an exceptional increase for an employee when:

- (a) The employee's performance is outstanding in relation to other employees in the same department.
- (b) The employee's outstanding performance is documented according to an approved appraisal program.
- (c) Funds for such "special" increases are budgeted.
- (d) At least six (6) months have passed since the last increase or promotion.

# **ARTICLE 4 - HOURS OF WORK**

#### 1. Regular Hours.

The regular hours of work each day shall be consecutive except for interruptions for the lunch period, and as may be required for emergencies.

#### 2. Work Week.

Each employee will have consistent regular or alternative work schedule defined in the timekeeping system. Employees shall have two (2) consecutive, regularly scheduled days off during each seven-day work period except during shift rotations.

#### Regular Schedule:

Consists of five (5) consecutive seven and one-half (7.5)-hour days or five (5) consecutive eight (8) hour days, four (4) consecutive ten (10) hour days, or three (3) consecutive 9.5 hour days plus one (1) nine (9) hour day.

#### Paid Holiday Value: 7.5, 8, 9.5, or 10

**Daily OT Threshold:** 7.5, 8 [for a five (5) day work week], 9.5, or 10 [for a four (4) day work week]

#### Alternative Schedule:

The Authority and the Association recognize that in order to adequately serve the public or to meet employee personal needs, the employee and supervisor may agree to an alternative schedule, provided that: the agreed upon schedule is consistent with the needs of the Authority; the schedule does not establish a work day that is less than four (4) hours nor more than (10) hours; the schedule has start and end times beginning on the hour or in fifteen (15) minute increments thereafter; and the schedule does not establish a work week in excess of 40 hours and be in place thirty (30) days or more. Nothing in this Article shall be construed to supersede the right of management to determine schedules as provided in Article 2.

Examples include and are not limited to:

- One week of five (5) eight (8) hour days, one week of four (4) ten (10) hour days.
- Four (4) consecutive days of nine (9) hours each, followed by one day of four (4) hours (40-hour work week).
- Four (4) consecutive days of ten (10) hours each, followed by three (3) consecutive days off, followed by one (1) day of ten (10) hours, one (1) day of

nine (9) hours, one (1) day of eight (8) hours, one (1) day of seven (7) hours and one (1) day of six (6) hours, followed by two (2) consecutive days off (80-hour work period).

- Four (4) consecutive days of ten (10) hours each, followed by three (3) consecutive days off, followed by two (2) days of eight (8) hours each, one (1) day of nine (9) hours and one (1) day of ten (10) hours, followed by three (3) consecutive days off (75-hour work period).
- Four (4) consecutive days of nine (9) hours each, followed by three (3) consecutive days off, followed by five (5) consecutive days totaling thirty-nine (39) hours, followed by two (2) consecutive days off (a modification of the 9-75 schedule);

# Paid Holiday Value

If you work:

5 days, 37.5 hours a week, holiday is equal to 7.5 hours

5 days, 40 hours a week, holiday is equal to 8 hours

4 days, 37.5 hours a week, holiday is equal to 9.5 hours

4 days, 40 hours a week, holiday is equal to 10 hours

# OT Threshold:

If you work:

5 days, 37.5 hours a week, overtime is paid after 37.5 hours in a work week 5 days, 40 hours a week, overtime is paid after 40 hours in a work week 4 days, 37.5 hours a week, overtime is paid after 37.5 hours in a work week 4 days, 40 hours a week, overtime is paid after 40 hours in a work week

### Flexible Schedule:

Supervisors may request employees to flex their daily work schedule to meet workload demands. Employees may also request to flex their daily work hours for personal reasons. The purpose of this flexibility is to allow employees, with the prior approval of management, the ability to adjust hours of a work shift. Such schedule changes could be more or less than the minimum or maximum hours discussed in the regular or alternative schedules above. These changes in schedule should be considered occasional and sporadic to meet an immediate and short term need and shall not last more than ten (10) consecutive work days. It is understood that such agreements will not create an overtime liability for the County unless previously authorized in advance by the supervisor.

As this change to the work schedule is temporary, the value of a paid holiday and the daily OT Threshold will be the same as the employee's base regular or alternative schedule as set in the time keeping system.

### 3. Rest Periods.

All employees' work schedules shall provide for a rest period of fifteen (15) minutes during the midpoint of each one-half (1/2) of the work shift. A minimum of one-half (1/2) hour or a maximum of one (1) hour lunch break shall be taken at the approximate mid-point of the shift.

Working through the lunch period requires prior approval from a supervisor. If an employee works through the lunch period, such time shall be paid at their regular rate of pay unless its meets the requirement of overtime as set forth in Article 4 (2) and Article 10 (2).

# 4. On-Call Duty/Maintenance.

- (a) The parties agree to the following on-call duty requirements for maintenance employees:
  - 1. The use of an answering service to receive and screen all after-hours calls for service.
  - 2. There shall be a maintained labor pool of a minimum of three (3) employees for on-call purposes. Such pool shall be voluntary and employees will not receive any compensation for volunteering to be in the labor pool.
  - 3. When an employee is called out to perform duties after work hours, the employee shall receive a minimum of two hours' pay at time and one-half. When a Maintenance Assistant is performing Maintenance Specialist or higher work during a call out, the employee will be paid at the classification level for the work that is being performed.

In the event that an employee receives a call which the employee takes responsibility to handle for the Authority which does not result in a call-out, the employee will receive one hour straight time pay for such calls. Should the employee receive an additional call within the hour that does not necessitate a call-out, the employee would not be eligible for an additional one-hour stipend.

In the event that an employee receives a call that does result in a call-out, the two-hour provision would apply, and the one-hour provision above would not apply.

If there is a change in call status during the call, the appropriate one or two-hour provision would apply, and the time spent dealing with the call(s) would be included in the total time calculation.

In the event the employee receives a non call-out call and then, within the hour, receives a separate unrelated call which results in a call-out, the employee would then be entitled to a one-hour stipend for the non call-out call plus a two hour stipend for the call-out.

- (b) Should the on-call maintenance labor pool arrangement from section 4(a) fail to provide adequate customer service from the Maintenance Pool within twelve (12) hours of the emergency call, the Asset Manager, at their discretion, may activate the following procedure:
  - 1. A Maintenance Pool consisting of all qualified personnel will be formed.
  - 2. The roster will indicate which employee is responsible for each week of the year.
  - 3. Rostered personnel shall not perform on-call more than one week in a row.
  - 4. The maintenance pool is to update this plan on a quarterly basis (minimum).

- 5. The assigned employee on-call shall receive three (3) hours straight time for time spent on-call during the week and three (3) hours straight timed for time spent on-call during the weekend.
- 6. Time and one-half will be paid for any service calls performed after their scheduled shift.
- 7. Employees called to work before or after normal work hours and which requires the employee to travel to and from work in addition to their normal daily travel, will be paid for such travel time as hours worked. Employees called out to work will also receive mileage reimbursement at the current Authority reimbursement rate for travel from the employee's home to work and return to home.

# 5. Regular Duties Outside Normal Workday/Weeks.

If an employee's job description specifically or implicitly requires attendance at activities evening or weekends, such attendance shall be deemed normal working hours. Such flexible scheduling shall be done by the employee with supervisory approval. To accomplish this, hours in excess of seven and one-half (7.5) per workday may be approved. The work week will start Saturday at 12:01 a.m. and will cease Friday at midnight.

# 6. Outside Employment.

An employee may not engage in any outside employment which presents a conflict of interest with the business of the Housing Authority. Additionally, no outside employment can be conducted while on paid work time, including, but not limited to, receiving or returning phone calls or emails on personal devices or Authority-owned equipment. "Outside employment" means any activity that constitutes a payment or trade for goods or services provided or received by an employee.

# 7. Training Hours.

If an employee has elected to attend a training session or conference and has received approval from the supervisor, only the work hours normally scheduled will be compensated. Overtime will not accrue. Training required by the supervisor will be eligible for overtime compensation, including travel time. If the employee can return to work with two (2) hours or more remaining, the employee is required to report to duty.

# 8. Employee Reporting Expectations.

During a disaster it is important for the Authority to know employees are safe, and to assist with any needs they have. It is also critical to resume vital county services to residents. The Authority anticipates needing every available employee to effectively respond to the impact of a declared major emergency or disaster, whether it strikes during normal work hours, at night, on a weekend or a holiday. In a major emergency or disaster, employees should be prepared to report for work at any time and can expect to work non-regular extended hours under challenging conditions. Employees may be asked to temporarily perform work that is not normally in their regular classification; provided however employees will not be required to perform work that they believe is outside their area of experience, beyond their capabilities or that they consider unsafe. If the major emergency or disaster occurs during non-work hours, employees are expected to ensure the safety and welfare of their families. If the employees are available for work, they should make every effort to contact their supervisor for reporting instructions or follow their Department internal communication plan for a major emergency or disaster. Employees can also check the Employee Hotline at 503.655.8468. If unable to establish contact with a department representative, employees should make reasonable effort to report to the Public Service Building (PSB) or other reporting station as identified on the Employee Hotline as soon as practical.

<u>If the major emergency or disaster occurs during work hours</u>, employees are expected to remain on the job unless specifically released by their supervisor. The Authority will assist the employee, if requested, in checking on the status of immediate family members of on-duty-employees and report that status to the employee.

Employees will be compensated for hours worked as provided in Article 10 Wages, and in addition will also be paid for all hours worked on emergency/disaster.

# **ARTICLE 5 - HOLIDAYS**

#### 1. Holidays.

The following days shall be recognized and observed as paid holidays:

New Year's Day (January 1st) Martin Luther King's Birthday (Third Monday in January) President's Day (Third Monday in February) Memorial Day (Last Monday in May) Independence Day (July 4th) Labor Day (First Monday in September) Veterans' Day (November 11th) Thanksgiving Day (Fourth Thursday in November) Christmas Day (December 25th)

Every day designated by the Board of Housing Authority Commissioners as a holiday.

The holiday shall be the day recognized by the Board as the holiday and shall be from Midnight to Midnight on that day.

One floating holiday shall be granted to each employee each calendar year. However, if not used by December 31, the holiday will be lost. New employees, who qualify for paid holidays, are eligible for a floating holiday after 90 calendar days of employment. Unbroken service in the same position for the County immediately before the employee receives regular status shall count toward the 90 day requirement.

While on the Four Day Work Week, all employees shall receive ten (10) hours of holiday pay for the floating holiday.

For employees on the four (4) day work week, whenever the holiday falls on a Friday or Saturday, the preceding Thursday shall be observed as a holiday. If the holiday falls in a Sunday, the following Monday shall be observed as a holiday.

Holidays will be paid as follows for regular and alternative schedules;

- 1) Employees on a 4 day 37.5 hour work week: 9.5 hours
- 2) Employees on a 5 day 40 hour work week: 8 hours
- 3) Employees on a 5 day 37.5 hour work week: 7.5 hours
- 4) Employees on a 4 day 40 hour work week: 10 hours

Holiday pay while working a flexible schedule shall be paid as determined by the employee's regular base work week schedule.

If a holiday falls on a flex work day that is shorter than the holiday, the employee must make up the time with vacation, compensatory time or work the hours in the same week as the holiday.

If the holiday falls on a flex work day that is longer than the holiday, the employee shall work with the supervisors to flex their schedule within the work week to avoid overtime.

# 2. Holidays for Employees working a Four-Day Work Week.

For employees in non-continuous operations, whenever a holiday falls on the first of the three (3) days not included in the employee's regularly scheduled work week, the preceding day in their regular work week shall be observed as the holiday. Whenever a holiday falls on the second or third of the three (3) days not included in the employee's regularly scheduled work week, the following day in the employee's regular work week shall be observed as a holiday.

### 3. Holidays for Employees Working a Five-Day Work Week.

If any such holidays fall on Sunday, the succeeding Monday shall be deemed to be the holiday that year. Whenever the holiday shall fall on a Saturday, the preceding Friday shall be the holiday for that year.

### 4. Holiday During Leave.

Should an employee be on approved sick or vacation leave when a holiday occurs, no sick or vacation hours will be charged for that day.

### 5. Holiday Work.

If an employee works on any of the holidays listed above, as approved by the supervisor, the employee shall, in addition to their holiday pay, be paid for all hours worked at the rate of time and one-half (1.5) their regular rate of pay. The employee may have the option, with the approval of their supervisor, of accruing compensatory leave in lieu of the holiday pay, but shall still be paid at the rate of time and one-half (1.5) their regular rate of pay.

# 6. Less than Full Time Employees Holiday.

Regular status part-time employees working half-time (18.75 or 20 hours per week) or greater will be paid for holidays on a prorated basis in the month in which the holiday occurs without regard to the work schedule.

# **ARTICLE 6 - SICK LEAVE**

# 1. Accrual.

Each employee shall accrue unlimited sick leave at the rate of eight (8) hours for each month worked, to be used in the event of illness or illness of another person in the immediate family (as defined in Article 8, Section (10).

Absences due to sickness in excess of three (3) consecutive days must be verified by a physician's certificate at the request of the Authority. Appropriate documentation may be required for absence of less than three (3) days if the Authority has reasonable documented suspicion that misuse or abuse of sick leave exists. Reasonable documented suspicion may include, but is not limited to, a pattern of absences or a report that an employee engaged in activities not related to the appropriate use of sick leave. Employees shall make a reasonable effort to schedule doctor's appointments occurring during their work shift at times that will minimize their time away from the office.

Employees in a paid status for any month as outlined below will accrue sick leave for the next month, on the first of that month:

- 1) 88 hours (prorated for FTE status) for a work day of 8 hours or more in a 40 hour work week; or
- 2) 82.5 hours (prorated for FTE status) for a work day of 7.5 hours or more in a 37.5 hour work week.

### 2. Conversion to Retirement Benefit.

Pursuant to ORS 237.350, the Authority shall report all allowable sick leave hours to PERS upon separation from Housing Authority employment.

# 3. Vacation Option.

Employees who are absent on sick leave for a period in excess of their accrued sick leave may use accrued vacation leave to cover such time off provided, however, the Executive Director may deny such request in specific circumstances where an employee has reoccurring short term absences beyond their accrual. At the option of the employee on approved FMLA/OFLA, forty (40) hours of vacation may be retained prior to being placed on leave without pay.

Vacation or other paid leaves will not be periodically substituted as a means to continue eligibility for employer paid benefit coverage.

# 4. Hours Charged.

Employees shall be charged for sick leave in an amount equal to the time they are absent

from work.

# 5. Less than Full Time Employees.

Regular status, part-time employees working half-time (18.75 or 20 hours per week) or greater will accrue sick leave on a prorated basis.

# **ARTICLE 7 - VACATION LEAVE**

# 1. Accrual.

A. Employees hired prior to January 1, 2001 who have elected not to participate in the Vacation Sell-Back Program shall accrue vacation as provided in Section A below:

Employees having served in the Authority's regular status service for six (6) consecutive fullcalendar months shall be credited with fifty-two and two tenths (52.2) hours of vacation leave, and thereafter, vacation leave shall be accrued in accordance with the following:

- (a) Less than five (5) years of regular service, 104.4 hours per year, accrued at the rate of 8.7 hours per month. Vacation leave not to accumulate beyond 250 hours.
- (b) Five (5) to ten (10) years, but less than ten (10) years of regular service, 128.4 hours per year, accrued at the rate of 10.7 hours per month. Vacation leave not to accumulate beyond 250 hours.
- (c) Ten (10) years to fifteen (15) years, but less than fifteen (15) years of regular service, 152.4 hours per year, accrued at the rate of 12.7 hours per month. Vacation leave not to accumulate beyond 250 hours.
- (d) Fifteen (15) to twenty (20) years, but less than twenty (20) years of regular service, 176.4 hours per year, accrued at the rate of 14.7 hours per month. Vacation leave not to accumulate beyond 250 hours.
- (e) After twenty (20) years of regular service, 200.4 hours per year, accrued at the rate of 16.7 hours per month. Vacation leave not to accumulate beyond 250 hours.

B. All employees hired on or after January 1, 2001 or employees hired prior to January 1, 2001 who have elected to enroll in the Vacation Sell Back program accrue vacation in the following manner:

- 1. Employees having served in the County service one (1) full-calendar month, shall be credited with twelve (12) hours of vacation leave, and thereafter, vacation leave shall be accrued at the rate of twelve (12) hours vacation leave per month regardless of years of service. Vacation leave not to accumulate beyond 250 hours.
- Employees who have used at least forty (40) hours of vacation time in a calendar year may elect to sell back 40 hours vacation during that same calendar year. To receive compensation in lieu of time off, the employee must submit a completed Request to Sell Vacation form to Payroll no later than December 31<sup>st</sup> of that calendar year.

3. Employees hired prior to January 1, 2001 may make a one-time election to enroll in the vacation sell back program by submitting a written request to Payroll no later than February 1, 2001. Once enrolled in this program, an employee may not return to the employee's previous accrual schedule.

C. Employees in a paid status for any month as outlined below will accrue vacation leave for the next month, on the first of that month:

- 1) 88 hours (prorated for FTE status) for a work day of 8 hours or more in a 40 hour work week; or
- 2) 82.5 hours (prorated for FTE status) for a work day of 7.5 hours or more in a 37.5 hour work week.

# 2. Vacation Times.

Employees shall be permitted to choose either a split or entire vacation. Whenever possible, consistent with the needs of the Authority and any requirement for vacation relief, employees shall have the right to determine vacation times provided the employee gives reasonable notice of their vacation requests.

Vacation requests submitted more than 90 days in advance will be posted by the requesting employee in a place designated by the department for 10 calendar days before they are approved. Other employees may submit requests for vacation during that same time frame during the 10-day posting period. In the event of more requests than the Authority can allow, vacation time shall be approved on the basis of seniority provided the requests are made during the posting period. Otherwise, requests will be approved on the basis of time of receipt of the written request for time off first. All vacation must be approved by the supervisor with as much written notice as possible given.

Employees may be allowed to use vacation with short-term notice for the purpose of attending school functions of a child, with twenty-four (24) hours advance notice and approval of the employee's supervisor. In the event where twenty-four (24) hours advance notice is not practicable, such as an emergency, employees may be allowed to use vacation or floating holiday with approval of the employee's supervisor.

### 3. Termination or Death.

After six (6) months of regular status service, upon termination of an employee for any reason, or in the event of death of an employee, all accumulated vacation shall be paid to the employee or his heirs, whichever the case may be.

# 4. Hours Charged.

Each full day of vacation leave taken shall be equal to the work day of the employee. For partial day absences, employees shall be charged for vacation leave in an amount equal to the time they are absent from work.

# 5. Less Than Full Time Employees.

Part-time regular status employees working half-time (18.75 or 20 hours per week) or greater will accrue vacation leave on a prorated basis.

# **ARTICLE 8 - OTHER LEAVES**

# 1. Leave of Absence.

Leaves of absence without pay for a period, not to exceed ninety (90) days, may be granted for any reasonable purpose, consistent with the needs of the Authority, and such leaves may be renewed or extended for any reasonable period. A leave of absence in excess of ninety (90) days must be approved by the Board of Commissioners. No leave will be granted to an employee to accept other employment. Seniority and credit toward longevity, salary increases, sick leave and vacation will not accrue during such leave except during any month when the employee is in paid status for at least eleven working days. Benefits will not be paid by the Authority during such leave except when the employee is in paid status for at least eleven working days.

# 2. Jury Duty.

Employees shall be granted leave with full pay any time they are required to report for jury duty or jury service, in lieu of jury fees. If an employee is excused or dismissed so as to reasonably be able to report to work with at least two (2) hours of work time left, the employee shall return to work. All jury duty and witness fees, other than mileage reimbursement, shall be surrendered to the Housing Authority. Employees scheduled to work on shifts other than day shift shall be considered to be on day shift for the duration of jury duty.

### 3. Educational Leave.

After completing three (3) years of regular status service, an employee, upon request, may be granted a leave of absence without pay for educational purposes at an accredited school when it is related to their employment. The period of such leave of absence shall not exceed one (1) year, but it may be renewed or extended at the request of the employee when necessary.

Such a leave of absence will not be provided more than once in any three (3) year period. Seniority and credit toward longevity, salary increases, sick leave and vacation shall not accrue during such leave, nor will benefits be paid by the Authority, except during any month when the employee is in paid status for at least eleven working days.

### 4. Inclement Weather.

When an employee is excused by their supervisor from reporting to work because of inclement weather, the employee will have the option of either making up the missed time with the approval of the supervisor (provided there is no overtime obligation to the Authority), or using vacation, compensatory time, or leave without pay.

### 5. Military Leave.

Employees will be allowed two (2) calendar weeks leave of absence when required to fulfill

military obligations in accordance with the Employment Policy and Practice on Military Leave.

# 6. Parental Leave.

Parental leave will be granted in accordance with the Employment Policy and Practice on Parental Leave.

# 7. Maternity Leave.

Maternity leave shall be granted in accordance with the Employment Policy and Practice on Maternity Leave.

### 8. Compassionate Leave.

Exclusive of regular sick leave, an employee shall be granted not more than three (3) work days leave in the event of a death in the immediate family of the employee, to make household adjustments and/or to attend funeral services. For compassionate leave, stepparents, stepchildren and the children of domestic partners, are included whether or not they live with the employee. The use of compassionate leave must be used within three months of the death of the family member, unless approved otherwise by the appointing authority.

Consistent with the needs of the Housing Authority and as approved by the Executive Director, an employee shall be granted not more than three (3) hours of compassionate leave to attend the funeral or memorial services for a current Housing Authority or Clackamas County employee or retiree.

Compassionate leave may be requested in other appropriate circumstances. A request to use compassionate leave for the death of an individual outside of the immediate family is subject to approval by the Executive Director, who shall also have discretion to limit the length of the leave in such situations.

### 9. Family/Medical Leave.

Family medical leave will be granted in accordance with the Employment Policy and Practice on Family/Medical Leave.

### 10. Immediate Family Defined.

Immediate family is defined as spouse, domestic partner (as defined by the Benefit Review Committee), parents, spouse's parents, domestic partner parents, children, brother, sister, grandparents (of either employee or spouse), grandchildren, sister-in-law and brother-in-law. Stepparents, stepchildren or children of domestic partner residing in the employee's household shall also be included in the definition of immediate family. Sick leave may also be used as approved by the appointing authority, in the event of an illness of a member of the employee's household who lives in the actual home of the employee but who is not included in the relationships outlined above. In relationships other than those set forth above, under exceptional circumstances, such leave may be granted by the Authority upon the request of the employee.

All leaves referenced by this Article shall be authorized by the Executive Director or

designee. Such authorization shall be in writing and signed by the Executive Director or designee.

# **ARTICLE 9 - HEALTH AND WELFARE**

# 1. Medical Coverage.

The Housing Authority agrees to contribute toward the monthly composite premium for each medical plan for eligible employees and their eligible family members, effective on the first day of the month following the benefit-waiting period described in Section 11. The design of the medical plans and eligibility of family members shall be determined by the Benefits Review Committee as described in Section 12.

Effective January 1, 2019, the Authority agrees to contribute an amount equivalent to 95% of the monthly composite premium for each medical plan up to a maximum of 105% of the 2018 Authority contribution.

Effective January 1, 2020, the Authority agrees to contribute an amount equivalent to 95% of the monthly composite premium for each medical plan up to a maximum of 105% of the 2019 Authority contribution.

Effective January 1, 2021, the Authority agrees to contribute an amount equivalent to 95% of the monthly composite premium for each medical plan up to a maximum of 105% of the 2020 Authority contribution.

Employees will pay any remaining insurance premium cost share through payroll deduction.

Medical Insurance Opt-Out: Employees who provide proof of other medical coverage and who opt out of medical coverage provided by the Authority will receive cash back on a monthly basis as provided by the yearly Benefits Summary, subject to applicable withholdings. Employees may only rejoin County coverage with qualifying status change subject to carrier rules.

The Authority and the Association will make an assertive effort to make plan design changes through the Benefits Review Committee as may be needed to keep the total annual renewal increase at or below eight percent (8.0%) each year.

# 2. Flexible Benefits.

The Authority agrees to provide a Clackamas County Full Flexible Benefit program to employees who are working in a position regularly scheduled for thirty (30) hours or more per week. Bargaining unit employees agree to cooperate fully with the County's Benefits and Wellness Division regarding participation and administration of the program.

# 3. Life Insurance.

The Authority agrees to provide life insurance coverage to fulltime employees, effective on the first day of the month following the benefit-waiting period described in Section 11. The

design of the life insurance plan shall be determined by the Benefits Review Committee as described in Section 12.

The Authority agrees to contribute up to the full premium amount for life insurance coverage with a face value of \$50,000.

# 4. Dental Insurance.

The Authority agrees to pay 100% of the dental premium for coverage agreed to by the Benefits Review Committee for fulltime employees and their eligible family members, effective on the first day of the month following the benefit-waiting period described in Section 11. The design of the dental plans and eligibility of family members shall be determined by the Benefits Review Committee as described in Section 12.

Dental Insurance Opt-Out: Employees who opt out of a dental coverage or opt down to a less expensive plan provided by the County will receive cash back on a monthly basis as provided by the yearly Benefits Summary, subject to applicable withholdings. Employees may only rejoin County coverage with a qualifying status change subject to carrier rules.

# 5. Disability Income Insurance.

The Authority agrees to provide non-duty disability insurance coverage to fulltime employees, effective on the first day of the month following the benefit waiting period described in Section 11. The design of the disability plan shall be determined by the Benefits Review Committee as described in Section 12.

The Authority agrees to contribute an amount equal to the premium for a Long Term Disability Program for the term of this Agreement. Benefits, including those from other sources, will equal sixty percent (60%) of an employee base salary, including longevity, up to a maximum monthly salary of \$3,333. Employees must serve an elimination period of the first thirty (30) calendar days of each disability period or the exhaustion of accumulated sick leave, whichever occurs later.

# 6. Reinstatement from Medical Layoff.

An employee who is reinstated to employment within six months from medical layoff will have the benefit waiting period waived. An employee who has continuously participated in COBRA during a medical layoff will have the benefit waiting period waived for up to eighteen (18) months.

# 7. Workers' Compensation.

All Authority employees shall be insured under the provisions of the Oregon State Workers' Compensation Act for injuries and illnesses as defined in the Act. Both parties agree to the principle that the employee shall suffer no financial disadvantage, nor shall the employee have a financial advantage by being in disability status. The Authority shall compensate the employee from the compensation carrier for on-the-job injuries where the claim has been accepted in an amount to ensure the injured employee one hundred percent (100%) of the employee's normal monthly take-home pay, for up to six (6) full months, subject to the following conditions:

- (a) The day of injury shall be considered a work day and the employee shall receive their normal salary for that day.
- (b) In most instances, the waiting period, as described in ORS 656.210, will be charged to sick leave unless total temporary disability exceeds 14 consecutive days. Then, Workers' Compensation covers from the first day.

# 8. Full-Time Employees.

For the purpose of eligibility for benefits, full-time employees are those employees regularly working thirty (30) or more hours per week.

# 9. Benefits for Regular Part-Time Employees.

Regular part-time employees working at least twenty (20) hours per week, shall be entitled to Authority-paid medical insurance as described in Section 1 and shall be entitled to purchase dental insurance as described in Section 4.

### 10. Insurance After Termination.

Health insurance coverage will not be continued for any employee who is in an unpaid status the first working day of the month due to leave, layoff, termination or reduced working hours. Continuation of benefits for employees and their eligible dependents will be administered as determined by COBRA regulations.

# 11. Benefit Waiting Period.

Benefits shall become effective on the first day of the calendar month following two (2) months of continuous employment. Two (2) full calendar months of continuous employment shall be defined as being in a paid status on the first working day of the month and continuously thereafter for two full calendar months, except that an employee may take an approved leave without pay not to exceed ten (10) working days, or eight (8) working days for employees on a four-day work week, or the prorated equivalent for part-time employees.

### 12. Benefits Review Committee.

A Labor-Management Benefits Review Committee shall have the responsibility for deciding the level, scope, and design of benefit plans offered to employees for medical and vision coverage, dental coverage, and for disability and life insurance. The primary emphasis in plan design shall be to provide a comprehensive, competitive benefit program at a reasonable cost.

The Committee shall be comprised of members from management and from County bargaining units. Each bargaining unit adopting the provision of the Article shall be entitled to appoint one voting member to the Committee for every two hundred (200) members in their bargaining unit with a minimum of one (1) member. It is understood that bargaining units which do not adopt the provisions of this Article will be entitled to appoint one nonvoting member to the Committee. Management membership will consist of voting members in a number equal to the voting bargaining unit membership. However, a bargaining unit or the County may appoint fewer members than it is entitled but retain the same number of votes as described above. The Committee shall meet at least quarterly, or more frequently as

required. Decisions of the Committee will be made by a majority of votes.

The Committee shall make plan design decisions for medical, vision, dental, disability, and life insurance plans at least 120 days prior to the beginning of the following plan year, unless the County waives such requirement.

Payment for and funding of benefit plans selected by the Committee shall be in a proportion and manner determined through collective bargaining with each separate bargaining unit.

The County shall provide administrative coordination and support for the Committee. The Committee, at its request, shall be provided all financial information and related reports as may be available.

The County will make decisions on the following issues after consideration of Committee recommendations: carrier selection, third party administrator selection, employee benefits consultant selection, selection of alternate funding arrangements, and other optional benefit programs.

### 13. Job Share.

- (a) "Job sharing position" means a full-time position that may be held by two individuals on a shared time basis whereby the individuals holding the position work less than full time.
- (b) Job sharing is a voluntary program. An employee who wishes to participate in job sharing may submit a written request to the Executive Director to be considered for job share positions. The Executive Director shall determine if job sharing is appropriate for a specific position. Determination of job sharing in a new position is the exclusive right of the Executive Director.
- (c) Job sharing employees shall accrue vacation leave and sick leave on a prorated share of the normal accrual rate for a full-time position.
- (d) Job sharing employees shall be entitled to share the benefit dollars associated with one full-time position. Job share employees must work a minimum of 18.75 hours per week (half-time) to be eligible for medical, dental and life insurance.

The employer contribution for each job share employee shall be equivalent to one-half of the amount for medical, dental, and life insurance coverage stated in Sections 1, 3, and 4 of this Article. Medical and dental insurance employer contribution shall be provided for the employee only. The life insurance benefit shall be equivalent to one-half the face value of the life insurance provided to a full time employee. Each job share employee has the right to obtain medical, dental and life insurance for their eligible dependents by paying the difference of the employer contribution and the applicable premium through payroll deduction. The Housing Authority shall allow payroll deductions on a before tax basis for medical and dental insurance only. Job share employees shall receive holiday pay prorated based on the full time equivalency status. Job share employees shall receive sick and vacation accruals on a prorated basis with regard to the hours worked per month; subject to the appropriate waiting periods defined in current Employee Policy and Practice.

- (e) For purposes of layoff, individuals filling a job share position which totals a fulltime equivalent shall be considered as one full-time equivalent. Seniority for layoff order and bumping as one position shall be determined by averaging the two individual seniority dates and the two individuals treated as one.
- (f) If one job sharing partner is removed, dismissed, resigns or otherwise is separated from the job, the Executive Director has the right to determine if job sharing is still appropriate for the position. If the Executive Director determines that job sharing is not appropriate for the position or the Appointing Authority is unable to recruit qualified employees for the job share position, the remaining employee shall have the right to assume the position on a full-time basis.

# 14. Plan Changes Required by Law or Insurance Carrier.

The County shall act to update any mandated coverage or changes caused by Federal or State laws, rules and regulations, or required of the insurance carriers. The County does not guarantee against unilateral changes in benefits initiated solely by the insurance carriers.

# 15. Health Reimbursement Account

The Authority shall provide each employee covered by this agreement the opportunity to enroll in a health reimbursement account (HRA).

The Authority shall pay the account fee up to \$1.50 per account per month for each active employee enrolled in a HRA/VEBA. The participating employee shall be responsible for the third party annualized investment fee.

Participating employees who have used at least forty (40) hours of vacation in the prior twelve (12) months shall have all vacation time up to eighty (80) hours in excess of the annual cap of 250 hours paid into their HRA/VEBA account.

Participating employees shall have all vacation hours over the annual cap paid to their HRA/VEBA account at retirement.

Participating employees who are enrolled in the HRA/VEBA plan as of December 31 of each year shall receive an annual contribution of \$50 paid into their HRA/VEBA account by the second payroll period of January each year.

### 16. Deferred Compensation Plan.

Subject to applicable federal regulations, the Authority agrees to provide an employee-paid deferred compensation plan that provides for payments at a future date for services currently rendered by the eligible employee. Each new employee will be enrolled automatically in the

Authority's Deferred Compensation program, at the rate of five percent (5%) of their base compensation as defined in the deferred compensation plan document, unless the employee chooses to opt out of the program or change the rate of the contribution. New employees include newly hired employees, rehired employees, and employees changing employment status from temporary to regular. This provision will become effective no later than 60 days following the final approval of this agreement by both parties.

### **ARTICLE 10 - WAGES**

### 1. Wages and Classification Schedule.

(a) After ratification by both parties, employees shall receive a 2.8% cost of living increase effective the first day of the pay period after the ratification date. In lieu of retroactive pay, employees shall receive a lump sum payment based on an employee's gross pay earnings (base pay, overtime, longevity, and incentives) from July 1, 2018. The lump sum payment would appear in the paycheck 3 full pay periods after the effective date of the cost of living.

Effective July 1, 2019, employees shall receive a cost of living increase equal to the percentage increase in the US Consumer Price Index, CPI-W: West Urban Annual Average, as reported by the U.S. Department of Labor, with a minimum of 0% and a maximum of 4.5%.

Effective July 1, 2020, employees shall receive a cost of living increase equal to the percentage increase in the US Consumer Price Index, CPI-W: West Urban Annual Average, as reported by the U.S. Department of Labor, with a minimum of 0% and a maximum of 4.5%.

- (b) When any position not listed on the Wage Schedule is established, which shall be published on the Department of Human Resources website, the Authority shall designate a pay rate for the position and notify the Association. In the event the Association does not agree that the rate is proper, the Association shall have the right to submit the issue as a grievance at Step 4 of the grievance procedure.
- (c) Whenever an administrative employee is assigned in writing by their supervisor the duties of a higher paid classification for more than ten (10) consecutive working days, or for more than a total of twenty (20) working days within a calendar year, the employee shall be paid for such work an additional 5% of the base hourly rate added to the employee's regular salary or at the beginning of the range of the higher paid classification, whichever is higher.

For employees assigned duties of a higher paid classification that is sporadic in nature (two or more hours) or includes non-consecutive working days, the employee shall be paid for those hours an additional 5% of base hourly rate or at the beginning of the range of the higher paid classification, whichever is higher, via the payroll system. For these "Shift-out-of-Class" situations, the employee's supervisor will prepare a memorandum stating the need for such out-of-class-work, how the employee is qualified to perform such higher classification work

and that authorization has been received from the Executive Director.

For maintenance employees, any work assigned by their supervisor done at a higher classification shall result in the employee being paid for such work an additional 5% of the base hourly rate added to the employee's regular salary or at the beginning of the range of the higher paid classification, whichever is higher, for the entire period they perform the approved higher level work.

In no case shall the TOC rate exceed the maximum rate of the higher classification's salary range.

 (d) Effective July 1, 2013, salary grades will no longer identify steps/pay rates. Salary grades will identify a pay range to include a minimum pay rate, (previously Step 1), midpoint pay rate and a maximum pay rate (previously Step 6.) Employees' classification, salary grades, and pay rates will not change.

### 2. Overtime.

One and one-half (1.5) times the employee's regular hourly rate of pay shall be paid for work under any of the following conditions (except as modified by Article 4, Section 2), but compensation shall not be paid twice for the same hours:

All authorized work in any work day performed in excess of the employees work day schedule for employees on a regular schedule as defined in Article 4, Section 3.

- a) Daily overtime is equal to 7.5 for a thirty-seven (37.5) work week, 8 for a five (5) day forty (40) work week, or ten (10) (for a four (4) day work week) hours.
- b) All authorized work performed in excess of thirty-seven and one-half (37-1/2) hours or forty (40) in any work week based on the employees regular or alternative schedule as defined in Article 4, Section 3.
- c) Employees who are on a flexible schedule as defined in Article, 4 Section 3 will retain the overtime schedule based on their assigned regular or alternative schedule.
- d) All authorized work performed on Saturday or Sunday.

If agreed to by an employee and the employee's supervisor and approved by the Executive Director, compensatory leave in the amount of time and one-half (1.5) may be accrued in lieu of pay for overtime. Such leave shall not accrue beyond forty (40) hours.

e) Authorized work includes regular hours performing regular job duties, compensatory time paid, and call-in/stand-by pay.

### 3. Longevity.

Beginning July 1, 1997, employees covered by the bargaining unit shall be eligible for longevity

pay as a percentage of gross salary for number of continuous years of regular status Authority/County service in the following amounts based upon accumulation of the established time employed in a paid status.

<u>Years</u>	Percent
5-9	1.0
10-14	1.5
15-19	2.0
20-24	2.5
25-29	3.5
30 +	4.0

Continuous service for the purpose of determining eligibility for longevity accrual rates shall be service unbroken by separation from Authority/County employment that results in a new date of hire. The effective hire date, as of 7/1/97, will not be modified for breaks in service except for those occurring after that date.

The calculation for longevity shall be based on the employee's service date minus thirty days. For example, if the service date is 5/15, for purposes of calculating longevity the date shall be 4/15.

### 4. Bilingual Skills Pay.

When an employee is required to use a second (or more) language, including American Sign Language (ASL), as a condition for holding a particular position, the employee will receive an additional 5% of the base hourly rate to be added to the employee's regular salary. "Required use" shall be documented by an approved Position Classification Questionnaire or "Certification of Bilingual Requirement" Form.

It is not the intent of the parties that the re-designation of a position to "bilingual required" status would be done for the sole purpose of superseding the layoff provisions of this Agreement.

When an employee is authorized by their supervisor to utilize their bilingual skills in a sporadic nature, the employee will receive an additional 5% of their base hourly rate for actual time, rounded up to the nearest hour, for performing bilingual duties.

### 5. Retirement Contributions.

PERS eligibility is subject to ORS 238.015. The Housing Authority agrees to pay employee's share of contribution on behalf of employees as set by Oregon legislature.

In the event that during the life of this agreement it becomes impossible for reasons of law, regulation or decisions for the Authority to pay the six percent (6%) employee contribution to PERS, then that sum shall be contributed on behalf of the employee to a retirement benefit, such as a transition account, state retirement account, Authority deferred compensation plan, or other individual retirement account. The intent of the parties is that the employees will be made whole in terms of the six percent (6%) retirement contribution by the Authority.

### 6. U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD)

The parties recognize that during the life of this agreement, job duties and functions may change. Therefore, the parties agree that either has the right, during the life of the agreement, to propose salary changes due to comparability surveys which are required by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). Should the parties fail to reach agreement on any such request, the matter may be placed on the bargaining table at the next negotiation period.

### **ARTICLE 11 - SETTLEMENT OF DISPUTES**

### 1. Grievance and Arbitration Procedure.

1. Any grievance or dispute which may arise between the parties involving the application, meaning or interpretation of this Agreement, except oral reprimands, shall be settled in the following manner:

Step 1. An Association representative, with or without the employee, may take up the grievance or dispute with the Executive Director within ten (10) working days of its occurrence. The Executive Director, an Association representative, and the employee, shall meet within ten (10) working days of the appeal to Step 1 to discuss the grievance. If the grievance remains unresolved, the Executive Director shall respond to the representative within ten (10) working days of such meeting.

Step 2. If the grievance has not been settled, it may be presented in writing by the Association representative to the H3S Director within ten (10) working days after the Executive Director's response is due. The H3S Director shall respond to the Association representative within ten (10) working days of such meeting.

Step 3. If the grievance has not been settled, it may be presented to the Board of the Housing Authority or its designee(s) within ten (10) working days after the response of the H3S Director is due. The Board of the Housing Authority or its designee(s), an Association representative, and the employee, shall meet within ten (10) working days of the appeal to Step 3 to discuss the grievance. If the grievance remains unresolved, the Board of Housing Authority or its designee(s) shall respond in writing to the representative within ten (10) working days.

Step 4. If the grievance is still unsettled, either party may request arbitration within thirty (30)calendar days after the reply of the Board of Housing Authority is due, by written notice to the other.

<u>Arbitration</u>. If arbitration is requested, the parties shall forthwith agree upon an arbitrator who shall act as sole arbitrator of the dispute. The parties agree that any decision of the arbitrator which is within the scope of this Agreement shall be final and binding upon them. In the event that the parties fail to agree upon the selection of an arbitrator, a list of seven (7) arbitrators who charge from the Oregon border or only for travel within Oregon, which includes Oregon arbitrators as well as arbitrators who are not Oregon residents and charge from the Oregon border shall be requested from the

Employment Relations Board of the State of Oregon. After the flip of a coin has determined which party shall strike first, each party shall, in turn, strike one arbitrator at a time from the list until one name remains. The arbitrator whose name remains shall act as the arbitrator of the dispute. The arbitrator shall not have the authority to modify, add to, alter or detract from the provisions of this Agreement. The arbitrator shall exercise all powers relating to admissibility of evidence, conduct of the hearing and arbitration procedures, provided that in so doing, shall not contravene any provisions of this Agreement. The compensation of the arbitrator and all expenses incurred by the arbitrator shall be borne by the party against whom the arbitrator's decision is adverse. However, the arbitrator shall have the power to require the parties to share in the expense of the arbitration proceeding in any proportion that the arbitrator deems reasonable.

2. "Working days" for the purposed of this Article shall be defined as Monday through Thursday excluding holidays recognized and observed by the Board of the Housing Authority.

3. Steps 1 and 2 may be skipped by mutual agreement.

4. The grievance must be submitted on the official Grievance From as contained in the Appendix A. In the grievance process and arbitration, the Association is limited to the facts and contract violations as stated in the grievance.

5. When the Board of the Housing Authority has denied a grievance and arbitration is requested, the parties must, within one year of the date the Board of the Housing Authority denies the grievance, select an arbitrator and request a date for the arbitration hearing, or the grievance is considered closed without prejudice to the issues presented by the grievance.

6. The time limits as described herein may be waived by mutual agreement of the parties. This includes paragraph 5 above.

7. The Association Representative shall be allowed reasonable time and opportunity to assist an employee to pursue a grievance or dispute through the steps of the grievance procedure as outlined above. Such time away from work, if on Authority paid time, shall be in compliance with the rules governing conducting Association business as contained in Article 14- Association Rights.

8. When an employee voluntarily separates from Housing Authority employment, all pending grievances filed on behalf of such employee shall be considered withdrawn with prejudice.

# **ARTICLE 12 - DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE**

1. Regular employees may, in good faith for just cause, be subject to disciplinary action by oral reprimand, written reprimand, unpaid suspension, demotion, or discharge. Such action shall take effect only after the supervisor gives prior written notice of the action and cause to the regular employee, except in the case of oral or written reprimand. Oral or written reprimands may be given at the initial meeting with the employee regarding discipline, if the Authority has already determined such discipline is warranted after the investigation. An employee has the right to have union representation at any investigatory interview of the employee which the employee reasonably believes could lead to disciplinary action against the employee. The role of the union representative shall be limited to those as outlined by the Employee Relations Board in Washington County Peace Officers Association vs. Washington County, which are:

1) Inquire about the purpose and subject of the meeting;

2) Asking clarifying questions;

3) Ask clarifying questions at the end of the interview; and

4) Suggest any other witnesses; describe other practices or mitigating factors

Performance improvement plans, works plans or other similar performance management tools are not discipline. An employee does not have the right to have a union representative present during meetings regarding a performance improvement plan, work plan, or other similar performance management related tool. Performance Improvement Plans shall not be placed in an employee's personnel file.

Any regular employee who is disciplined (except for oral reprimands) will receive a written statement of the charges and allegations that the Authority will rely on to support the decision to discipline. The Association shall be notified that the regular employee has been disciplined and sent a copy of the charge at the time the regular employee is notified unless the regular employee objects. Notification to the Association shall include sending copies of all such notices to the Association President and the Service Representative.

2. Any regular employee in the bargaining unit who is disciplined in writing, suspended, demoted or discharged shall have the right to appeal the action through the Grievance Procedure. Oral reprimands are not subject to grievance. The Association shall submit such grievance at Step 1 of the procedure no later than ten (10) working days after the effective date of disciplinary action. Working days for the grievance procedure shall be defined as Monday through Thursday excluding holidays recognized and observed by the Authority. The Grievance Procedure shall be the sole and exclusive procedure for the resolution of discipline and discharge disputes.

3. If the Authority has reason to counsel, reprimand or discuss a regular employee's need to correct deficiencies, every reasonable effort will be made to accomplish this in a manner that will not embarrass the regular employee before other employees or the public.

4. When the employer believes there is just cause for discharge, the regular employee and the Association will be notified in writing at the time the action is taken that the regular employee is subject to discharge. In instances of proposed discharge, the employee should be given ten (10) calendar days advance notice of the discharge date as required by the Housing authority Policy. Such notification shall state the reasons for which the employee is being discharged. The employer shall provide the regular employee with an opportunity to respond to the charges at an informal pre-dismissal hearing, which may be recorded, with the person or persons having the authority to impose or revoke the disciplinary action. The

regular employee shall be entitled to have a representative of their own choosing at the predismissal hearing for the purpose of providing advice and counsel to the regular employee.

The regular employee may be granted additional time, at the discretion of the employer, to prepare for the pre-dismissal hearing.

## **ARTICLE 13 - UNION DUES**

- All employees covered by the terms and conditions of this Agreement may become members of the Association. The Authority agrees to deduct dues in the amount determined by the Association from the wages of each employee who chooses to become a member of the Association and provides the Authority with written authorization to deduct dues. The Authority agrees to deposit the total amount deducted from all members into an established account designated by the Association, on a monthly basis.
- 2. The Authority will not be held liable for errors but will make proper adjustments with the Association for errors as soon as is practicable if notified within ten (10) days of the error. In no case shall such an adjustment extend beyond the following pay period. In order for the Association to have adequate information on dues, Payroll will, upon request, provide an updated list of employees who have paid union dues.
- Association representatives shall be provided with a reasonable opportunity and fifteen (15) minutes of Authority paid time to inform new employees about the Association and to provide the new employee with a signature card in order to register for membership in the Association.

### **ARTICLE 14 - ASSOCIATION RIGHTS**

### 1. Association Representatives.

The Association may designate CCEA-represented employees of the County to serve as Association representatives.

There shall be no more than four (4) Association representatives assigned to assist with the administration of this agreement.

The Association shall advise the County in writing of the names of employees who are serving as Association representatives. The County shall recognize only employees designated as Association representatives, CCEA officers, and the CCEA Service Representative as official representatives in the administration of this agreement. Said list shall be updated as necessary.

### 1. Access to Workers.

Authorized representatives of the Association may visit the work locations of employees covered by this agreement at reasonable times, provided that such visitations will not interfere with the work of the employees.

# 3. Association Negotiators.

Employees selected by the Association to act as Association representatives for the purpose of negotiating amendments or modifications to this agreement shall be known as the Housing Authority Employees Association Negotiating Committee. The names of employees so designated shall be certified in writing to the Authority by the Association. The Housing Authority and County shall provide release time for three (3) members to attend negotiation sessions as members of the Negotiating Committee. One of the three (3) members may be an employee of the regular CCEA bargaining unit. The Association may also appoint an alternate to attend negotiation sessions on release time if one of the other Negotiation committee members is unable to attend one or more negotiation session(s).

# 4. No Discrimination.

The provisions of this Agreement shall be applied equally to all employees in the bargaining unit without discrimination as to age, sex, marital status, race, color, creed, national origin, disability or political affiliation. The Association shall share equally with the Authority the responsibility for applying this provision of the Agreement. The Authority agrees not to interfere with the rights of employees to become members of the Association and there shall be no discrimination, interference, restraint, or coercion by the Authority, or any Authority representative, against any employee because of Association membership or because of any employee activity in an official capacity on behalf of the Association, or for any other cause. Nothing in this section shall be construed to limit the Authority's right to effectively and efficiently run the Authority's operations.

## 5. Association Business on Authority Paid Time.

An Association representative or CCEA officer may use up to forty (40) hours per calendar year of County paid time to assist with the following matters under this contract:

- 1. Representing an employee in an investigatory interview/meeting which may result in the employee receiving discipline (unless the employee objects);
- 2. Representing an employee in a pre-disciplinary meeting (unless the employee objects);
- 3. Providing an employee with reasonable assistance with a grievance or dispute pursuant to Article 11 of the collective bargaining agreement.

Authority paid time spent by Association representatives and CCEA officers under this provision will be designated as union business and recorded on their department's timekeeping system and reported to the immediate supervisor by the Association representative or CCEA officer as the time is incurred with the exception of time spent less than 15 minutes, approved vacation or compensatory time and with the exception of lunch or breaks, depending on department policy. If the Association fails to provide current Association representative or CCEA officer names, no Authority paid time shall be granted for unnamed Association representatives CCEA-HA officers. Association representatives and first–level managers are encouraged to resolve problems before the problem becomes a grievance.

Time spent by the Association representatives and CCEA officers participating in Union Presidents Meeting with Authority/County management staff; participating in a labormanagement meeting with County labor relations staff; participating in a meeting with management at management's request; attending layoff/bumping/placement meetings and the Qualifications Review Committee meetings; attending arbitration hearings; or providing new hire Association membership orientation as defined in Article 13, Section 3, shall be on Authority paid time and not count toward the forty (40) hours of Authority paid time described in this provision.

Association hours will be non-transferable. Once the time is exhausted, no additional County paid time will be provided in the remainder of the calendar year. Any hours remaining at the end of the calendar year will be lost and will not roll over to the subsequent calendar year.

These guidelines do not relieve the CCEA Association representative or CCEA officer from the responsibility of arranging for the time away from work with their supervisor, including notifying the supervisor when they are leaving and when they return. The time away cannot unreasonably interfere with the employee's work duties. Arranging time away from work may be done through a request in a discussion with the supervisor or by requesting time away from their duties through the time keeping system.

If the CCEA Association Representative wishes to engage in other Association business during paid Authority time, other than what is listed above, they should arrange to take vacation or compensatory time with their supervisor consistent with the procedures in the collective bargaining agreement and for the department.

The Association is entitled to have one Authority/County employee representative to attend investigatory meetings with employees which may result in that employee receiving discipline; and during pre-disciplinary meetings. On occasion, the Association Service Representative may attend such meetings in addition to the Authority/County employee representative or in lieu of the Association representative.

# **ARTICLE 15 - LAYOFF AND RECALL**

# 1. Reason for Layoff / Layoff Order.

In case of a reduction in force, or the elimination of a function, employees shall be laid off within a department in accordance with qualifications to perform the remaining required work without further training. When qualifications, skills and abilities to perform the duties of the position(s) remaining are equal, seniority will prevail.

The Executive Director may request an exception to the order of layoff in writing to the H3S Director when the retention of employees with needed skills or performance abilities are necessary for the efficient operation of the department. Such actions shall be taken only for articulated, job-related reasons and substantiated by written documentation. A position that has been identified as an exception to layoff cannot be subject to bumping unless an employee can demonstrate they possess the needed skills or performance abilities of the specific excepted position. If an employee believes they are qualified to bump into a position on their bumping list that has been excepted, they may request a review of their skills and

experience in writing to the H3S Director. The judgment of the H3S Director shall be final unless such judgment is shown to be arbitrary or capricious.

The H3S Director shall inform the Association in writing when an exception has been requested and a copy of the documentation supporting the request. The Association may timely present any additional information it would like the director to consider.

# 2. Notice of Layoff and Bumping Options.

Employees and Association president shall be given in writing a minimum of 10 working days notice of layoff. Those employees who wish to participate in the bumping process must notify the Authority in writing by 4:00 p.m. of the 5th working day after receiving their notice. Those employees who do not notify the Authority will automatically be placed on layoff status. Within a classification and department, temporary, probationary and other employees who do not have regular status will be laid off before employees with regular status. Employees who have never attained regular status with the Authority and who are laid off, will not be placed on layoff registers and do not have displacement rights.

# 3. Layoff and Bumping Process.

If an employee elects to participate in the bumping process, then the employee has five (5) working days from the employee's initial notification of layoff to submit a complete list of the employee's qualifications, skills and abilities to the Authority.

If the employee exercises the employee's right to bump, the Authority will:

- (1) Provide the employee with a list of <u>all</u> positions in the department at or below the employee's current pay grade with the same or lower seniority date.
- (2) A current seniority list will be provided to the Association president at time of action for all affected classes by the Authority.
- (3) The employee would, through consultation with the supervisor, identify those positions that the employee believes the employee is qualified to perform.
- (4) The list of positions so identified will be submitted to the department for bumping consideration. If the Authority finds that the employee is qualified to bump into a position at the employee's current grade, that position will be offered to the employee. The bumping process will then end, and the Qualifications Review Committee (QRC) will not be involved.
- (5) If the Authority believes the employee is not qualified to bump into a position at the employee's current grade, the employee will be offered a position (if qualified) in the next lower grade that the employee is qualified to work. The employee does have a right to appeal disagreement about placement at a lower grade to the QRC.
- (6) If an employee bumps into a classification with a lower salary range, the

employee's salary will remain the same if it falls within the lower range. If the employee's salary exceeds the top of the lower range the employee will be placed at the top step of the lower range.

### 4. Qualifications Review Committee.

The QRC will be formed only when an appeal is made. The QRC will be appointed at that time for a particular employee or employees if appropriate. The QRC will not be appointed as a standing committee.

- (a) Upon request, the QRC shall then determine the employee's ability to "bump". The QRC may call upon the supervisor of the position in question or any other person they feel would be appropriate to assist them in understanding the required duties. After the QRC has received the list of qualifications, skills, and abilities from the bumping employee, it shall review positions in the same job area that are less senior and equal to or below the grade level of the bumping employee.
- (b) The QRC shall be a five member committee made up of two Association members recommended by the Association president, two management employees recommended by the Human Resources Director, and a mutually appointed fifth member selected from current Authority employees. The QRC's decisions shall be based on comparisons with the job description, established qualification, and the ability of the individual to perform the remaining required work without further training. It is understood that the QRC must make their determination on the assumption that the "bumping" employee will be able to perform the duties of the position within ten (10) working days. The QRC's decision shall be final and binding unless a supervisor can demonstrate to the QRC that after fifteen (15) working days the "bumping" employee shall be returned to the employee's original position.
- (c) Any decisions regarding layoff and recall made by the QRC shall be final and not be subject to arbitration.

### 5. Layoff Status.

Employees on layoff must notify the Authority in writing as to their present address and telephone number. This notice shall be updated quarterly or when there is any change, whichever is sooner. In addition, the employee shall advise the Authority when the employee is no longer available for recall. Failure to notify terminates any and all relationships with the Authority. Layoff status will automatically terminate after two (2) years.

- (a) Employees shall be recalled to work in accordance with skills and ability to perform the required work as determined by the Authority without loss of seniority or benefits, subject to contract limitations.
- (b) The employee does have a right to appeal disagreement over recall to the QRC.
- (c) Employees shall be recalled from layoff according to their length of service (more senior first, etc.). No new employees shall be hired by the Authority until all employees on layoff status desiring to return to work have been recalled or there are no qualified laid off employees who can fill the position.
- (d) Failure to report within ten (10) working days will terminate any and all relationships with the Authority.

# 6. Seniority.

- (a) Seniority will be terminated when the employee quits employment or is dismissed.
- (b) Seniority shall be prorated for periods of part-time employment based on the employee's FTE (full-time equivalency).
- (c) If an employee leaves a bargaining unit position for another non-bargaining unit position in the County, and then returns to a bargaining unit position, their seniority will only include time spent in a bargaining unit (including time in any County bargaining unit). It will not be the responsibility of the Authority to track this information. Should the Association believe that a particular employee has "non-bargaining unit" work time, the Authority will calculate the employee's bargaining unit seniority only when requested to do so in writing by the Association. Once a calculation is made, then the Association and the employee for which the calculation is made will be notified of the employee's bargaining unit time, which will then be used for determining the employee's layoff and recall seniority.
- (d) For the purpose of computing seniority, all authorized leave shall be considered as time worked. Unauthorized leave includes absences without proper approval and time off suspensions for disciplinary reasons.
- (e) For purposes of bumping into the bargaining unit, seniority is defined as continuous service in the bargaining unit (subject to Section 6a). If an employee has no time in the bargaining unit, the employee cannot bump into the bargaining unit. For all other purposes, including layoff and bumping within the bargaining unit, seniority is defined as length of service with the Authority (subject to Section 6(a), (b), (c) and (d) and Article 20).

# **ARTICLE 16 - RECLASSIFICATION**

### 1. Request for Reclassification.

When an employee believes that there has been a significant change in duties and responsibilities of their position, they may submit a Position Classification Questionnaire (PCQ) to request a position review to determine proper classification placement. The PCQ shall first go to the employee's immediate supervisor and then the Executive Director for review and comment. The Housing Authority shall forward the completed PCQ to the Department of Human Resources or another outside independent Personnel contractor within 30 days of the initial request. If the Housing Authority does not forward the request within 30 days, the employee may submit the request directly to the Department of Human Resources. The Department of Human Resources will notify the employee within 14 working days of the disposition of the request as provided under County Code.

When a position is reclassified to a classification that carries a higher salary grade, if in the opinion of the Executive Director, the incumbent employee has been performing the duties of the higher classification for a period of six months, and meets the requirements of the classification, the incumbent employee shall be reclassified to the higher classification. When reclassified to a higher classification, employees receive a five percent (5%) increase over their current salary or to the minimum of the new grade, whichever is greater. A reclassification increase will not exceed the maximum of the higher classification's salary grade.

The eligibility for salary increases changes to the first of the month following six (6) full months from the date of reclassification and thereafter every twelve (12) months of continuous service until reaching the maximum of the salary grade. If the employee has been working out-of-class for a period of 6 months or more and not paid temporary out-of-class pay (TOC), the determination and reclassification shall justify retroactive TOC pay for six (6) months. If an employee is reclassified and has not been in a TOC status during the reclassification study, the employee shall serve a six (6) month probationary period beginning on the effective date of reclassification. Employees who are reclassified and have been in a TOC status for six (6) months prior to reclassification shall not serve a probationary period. In cases of reclassification where an employee had been in a TOC status during the reclassification study and whose base rate was at the maximum of their classification's salary grade (topped out), the employee shall receive retroactive TOC adjustments (increases). Such an employee's reclassification increase can be higher than the standard amount (approximately 5%). These TOC adjustments will follow these criteria:

- awarded on the employee's base merit month,
- increases of 5% increments,
- TOC rate will not exceed maximum rate of higher classification's salary grade,
- No TOC adjustment within the first six (6) months of TOC status.

If there are special circumstances that affect completion of a reclassification, the Director of Human Resources may authorize retroactive (TOC) pay which exceeds 6 months and is not limited to the current fiscal year.

Under special circumstances, with the approval of the Executive Director, the Director of Human Resources may adjust the effective date of reclassification and may waive all or part of the probationary period.

If an employee disagrees with a classification recommendation, the employee may appeal such disagreement as described in Section 2, below.

# 2. Classification/Compensation Review Panel.

The Classification/Compensation Review Panel (CCRP) shall be made up of three members. One member shall be selected by the Employees Association, one member shall be selected by the Human Resources Director, and the third member shall be mutually appointed from current County or Housing Authority employees, either from management or the bargaining unit. Within ten (10) calendar days from the date the written notice referred to above or notice from the Human Resources Director denying appeal on a classification recommendation is received, the Association will submit a written request to the Director of Health, Housing and Human Services to have the matter forwarded to the CCRP. The Association and the Housing Authority management staff may present information to the panel in support of their respective positions. The meeting shall take place during regularly scheduled business hours but shall be limited to three (3) hours (two [2] hours for presentation of information and one [1] hour for the panel to deliberate). The CCRP shall review the reasons for the classification allocation and/or the salary range recommendation and may ask questions of the parties presenting information. Following the collection of information, the panel shall discuss their opinions with the Human Resources Director. The Director shall consider the opinions of the CCRP when recommending the final salary range recommendation to the Housing Authority Board of Commissioners. The Human Resources Director shall include in this recommendation a summary of issues raised during the request for review process and the opinions of the panel. The Housing Authority Board of Commissioners, or designee, shall have the final authority for all salary range determinations.

### **ARTICLE 17 - HEALTH AND SAFETY**

- 1. The Housing Authority shall provide personal safety training and education for all employees.
- 2. The Housing Authority shall maintain an incident log of all activities perceived by the employee or employer to pose a danger to personal safety. Employees shall submit written incident reports to the Housing Authority.
- 3. The Housing Authority safety committee shall meet on paid time or during regular working hours.

### **ARTICLE 18 - STAFF DEVELOPMENT**

In order to facilitate staff development and improve employee training opportunities, the Authority will implement a tuition reimbursement policy effective July 1, 1989. This covers job related courses at an educational institution or attendance of job related conferences, workshops or seminars. At the discretion of the Executive Director, an employee may be eligible for reimbursement of job-related courses outlined above that relate to the current career path of that employee. The guidelines for this program are as follows:

1. Employees will be reimbursed 100% of tuition costs up to nine quarter hours or six semester hours per fiscal year. Applications will be considered only for full time employees who have completed their probationary period.

Employees who receive training funds from the G.I. Bill or other scholarship programs are not eligible.

Reimbursement is for tuition, costs of conference and seminar fees only and does not include books or other course materials or other fees such as parking.

- 2. A request for reimbursement must be submitted in writing prior to registration. If the employee does not attend or complete the course or, in the case of a graded course, receive a grade of C or better, the tuition will be repaid by the employee with payroll deduction. If the employee leaves employment within 60 days of course completion, tuition will be repaid by the employee either directly or through deduction of final paycheck.
- 3. Attendance must be during other than working hours unless the sequences is not available during these hours. If classes are taken during normal working hours, the absences shall be made up hour by hour with the supervisor's authorization.

### **ARTICLE 19 - MISCELLANEOUS**

### 1. Uniforms.

The Housing Authority will provide three (3) uniforms [defined as (3) shirts embroidered with Housing authority insignia, (3) work pants, and (1) pair of all leather, slip and oil-resistant work boots], one (1) jacket and required personal protective equipment to every new maintenance employee. A \$250.00 work clothing reimbursement allowance will be issued to each maintenance employee annually on July 1 thereafter. Maintenance employees will have sixty (60) days from this date to purchase replacement personal protective wear limited to work pants, work boots, or coveralls worn or damaged through the scope of their work. All employees will be responsible for keeping uniforms in fit condition. Any required protective equipment or safety equipment, i.e., rubber boots, overalls, hearing protection, safety glasses, helmets, etc., or replacement uniform shirts or jacket, or required addition of Housing Authority insignia and employee name to uniforms will be provided to the employee at no cost to the employee by the Housing Authority.

### 2. Change in Working Conditions.

Matters of employment relations including but not limited to: direct or indirect monetary benefits, hours, vacations, sick leave, grievance procedures and other conditions of employment shall be continued at not less than the level in effect at the time of the signing of this Agreement. The Housing Authority agrees to furnish the Association President copies of all changes in work rules and benefits and matters of employment relations. Any changes in existing employment relations shall first be negotiated with the Association.

### 3. Travel Pay.

- (a) An employee shall be paid at the current Housing Authority Travel policy rate per mile for reimbursement of personal auto expense where required in an employee's regular work.
- (b) Subsistence. Meal costs will be reimbursed at actual expenses not exceeding the maximum granted to employees of Housing Authority. Other costs (including ground transportation) will be reimbursed upon receipt and approval by the Executive Director. Or, the employee may request a flat per diem rate not to exceed the maximum allowed for employees of Housing Authority.
- (c) Expense Vouchers and Reimbursement. Whenever travel becomes necessary by employees for and on behalf of the Authority, they shall keep accounts for said travel. An individual travel expense voucher shall be prepared and presented to the Executive Director either in advance of the travel or for reimbursement of travel expenses. Supporting documentation for prepayment of travel expenses must be submitted to the Executive Director within ten (10) working days of the return of the employee to work. Supporting receipts for the reimbursement of expenses must be submitted to the Executive Director within thirty (30) days of the return of the employee to work.

### 4. Use of Authority-Owned Motor Vehicles.

Use of Authority-owned motor vehicles for other than official purposes shall be prohibited.

The Executive Director shall determine whether the nature of an employee's duties require the use of an Authority-owned vehicle between the employee's residence and place of employment. Approval may be revoked at the discretion of the Executive Director, for cause, depending on the needs of the Authority.

# 5. Workload.

Workload expectations will be reasonable. No employee will be regularly expected to maintain a job assignment that cannot be reasonably performed in the time allowed for the job assigned.

# 6. Employment Policies and Practices.

The Association will have a chance to review and input on Employment Policies and Practices (EPPs) referenced in the Housing Authority contract prior to implementation.

# 7. Limited-Term Appointments.

Defined as an employee appointed to a position designated by mutual agreement between the Authority and the Association as a "limited term" position. Limited term appointments shall not exceed one consecutive two year period in the same position. Limited term employees are covered by all provisions of this bargaining agreement except they shall have no rights to layoff and recall. The Authority will notify the Association at least fifteen (15) days prior to making any such appointment. If such notification is not given, the employee will not be considered on limited-term appointment.

A current employee may apply for a limited term position. If the employee is selected to fill such position the employee shall be entitled to return to their former position and classification when the term expires at an equivalent rate of pay or a step that causes the least reduction in pay within their previous salary grade. The position vacated by the employee shall be backfilled by a limited term position of equivalent time.

# 8. Personnel Files.

- (a) A personnel file shall be maintained for every employee and shall contain complete information pertinent to the employee's employment, including dates of employment and pay changes.
- (b) Employees shall have access to their individual personnel file. Upon receipt of an employee's <u>written</u> request to review their file, the Executive Director or designee will schedule an appointment for the viewing of the file. The Executive Director, the H3S Director and persons specifically directed by the H3S Director shall be the only persons authorized to view any personnel file other than their own.
- (c) Letters of recommendation for persons seeking employment at the Housing Authority will be destroyed as soon as the position is filled. The subject of such letters will not be allowed to view them.
- (d) To place any information in a personnel file, a copy must be sent to the employee.
- (e) An employee shall have an opportunity to submit written comment on material placed in the employee's file by the Housing Authority. This shall be done by sending such comment to the Executive Director with a copy to the employee's supervisor, and a copy to the employee's personnel file.

# 9. Electronic Mail

1. Association representatives (those persons holding positions as officers within the Association) may use the County email system to communicate concerning collective bargaining matters.

- 2. "Collective bargaining matters" means any of the following:
  - (a) Official Association announcements to the Association membership (such as meeting subjects, dates and times);
  - (b) The meaning, interpretation or application of this Agreement;
  - (c) The presentation and adjustment of grievances under Article 11 of this Agreement;
  - (d) Matters directly related to the collective bargaining relationship between the County and the Association.

3. Association members may use the County email system to contact Association representatives regarding collective bargaining matters, including any of the following purposes:

- (a) To arrange a date, time and location for a meeting concerning the meaning, interpretation or application of this Agreement;
- (b) To ask a question regarding meaning, interpretation, or application of this Agreement;
- (c) To present a grievance regarding the meaning, interpretation or application of this Agreement;
- (d) To request Association representation in matters concerning the meaning, application or interpretation of this Agreement.

4. It is understood that there is no expectation of confidentiality or privacy concerning communications sent over the County email system, and that the County reserves the right to access and disclose all messages sent over the County email system for any purpose.

5. The County email system will not be used for political purposes at any time, and this limitation shall override any of the permissible uses of the email system listed above. "Political purposes" shall include matters related to support or opposition to candidates or measures in any election (County elections, union candidate elections, or otherwise).

### 10. Interview/Testing Time

The Housing Authority supports advancement and new job opportunities for the employees and will allow three (3) hours on a calendar year basis for an employee to test or to attend job interviews for a different position in Clackamas County or the Housing Authority other than the position currently held by the employee.

### 11. Over/Under Payments

Any employee receiving unauthorized payments has the obligation to call such error to the

attention of their supervisor.

(a) Underpayments.

When an error occurs resulting in a negative impact on the employee, upon notification by the employee, in writing to the Payroll Supervisor, and verification by the payroll division, payment in correction of the error shall be made in the employee's paycheck for the current pay period.

(b) Payments in Error.

When an employee receives payments due to a clerical, technical, or computer error, through no fault of the employee and where the employee did not and could not reasonably have known that the error occurred, the employee will only be liable for, and the Authority/County shall only recover, the overpayment for a period of one-hundred and eight (180) days preceding the date of discovery of the error. If the discovery of the error is made by the employee who notifies the Payroll Supervisor in writing within ten (10) working days of discovery of the error that they believe their pay is incorrect and the Authority/County does not subsequently make a correction to stop the overpayment by the next payroll period after notification, the employee will not be liable for additional overpayments that occur following the date of notification.

(c) Repayment to the County.

As soon as the overpayment is known, the Authority/County will make every effort to recover overpayments by payroll deduction over a reasonable period of time.

- 1. The County Payroll Supervisor shall notify the employee in writing of the overpayment which will include information supporting that an overpayment exists, and the amount of wages and/or benefits to be repaid. For purposes of recovering the overpayments by payroll deduction, the following shall apply:
- 2. The employee and the Authority/County shall meet and attempt to reach mutual agreement on a repayment schedule within thirty (30) calendar days following the written notification.
- If there is not mutual agreement at the end of thirty (30) calendar days, the Authority/County shall implement the repayment schedule stated in subsection (7) below.
- 4. If the overpayment amount to be repaid is more than twenty-five (\$25) dollars, the overpayment shall be recovered in amounts not to exceed twenty-five (\$25) dollars per payroll period. If an overpayment is less than twenty-five (\$25) dollars, the overpayment shall be recovered in a lump sum deduction from the employee's paycheck.
- 5. An employee who has a factual disagreement with the Authority/County's determination that the overpayment has been made to the employee may grieve the determination through the grievance procedure.
- 6. This article/section does not waive the Authority/County's right to pursue other legal procedures and processes to recoup an overpayment made to former employees.

7. Employees can elect to either establish a payment plan through payroll deductions as described under 19(C)(4) or may elect to pay overpayment in one lump sum. In the event the employee chooses to make a lump sum payment to the Authority/County, the Authority/County will adjust the amount owed for any tax paid, and will reduce the amount of employees' wages for the year on the employee's W-2 form by the amount repaid.

### 12. New Hires

New employees shall be provided a copy of the contract at the time of new hire orientation.

### 13. Video Cameras and GPS Data.

- A. Video camera recordings and/or GPS data may be accessed, reviewed and preserved as by the County for business reasons. Video recordings and GPS data will not be used for yearly performance evaluations, unless disciplinary action has been imposed from evidence derived from a specific video recording and/or GPS data. In the event the County elects to review video and/or GPS data as part of an investigation, the County shall notify the Association and provide the Association with an opportunity to view the video and/or GPS data.
- **B.** In the event information revealed on video camera and/or GPS data raises concerns regarding employee conduct, the County will retain the video recording and/or GPS data and agrees to provide a copy of the video recording and/or GPS data to the Association and the employee in advance of any pre-disciplinary meetings.

# **ARTICLE 20 - TRANSFERS**

### 1. Interdepartmental Transfers:

Any Clackamas County Employees' Association member that transfers into a regular position in the Housing Authority shall retain full credit for service in the County in accordance with the Personnel Ordinance.

### 2. Intradepartmental Transfers:

An intradepartmental transfer may be either voluntary or involuntary. An appointing authority may transfer employees within their department without the employee's consent, but must give the employees ten (10) working days' notice of this action.

### **ARTICLE 21 – PERFORMANCE EVALUATION**

At least once a year, the Executive Director shall review and rate the work performance of each employee using established performance evaluation forms as a basis for the rating. The Human Resources Director or designee(s) shall receive a copy of the evaluation, which shall be jointly completed by the employee and the employee's immediate supervisor.

The parties agree that performance evaluation is not a disciplinary process. Therefore,

discussions and/or administration of discipline for performance related issues shall not occur during a performance evaluation meeting. However, any delay or denial of a merit increase is not discipline.

Performance evaluations become a part of the employee's work history and are kept in the employee personnel file. If substantial disagreement exists between the employee and the supervisor's evaluation of the employee's work performance, the employee may submit a statement in writing to the Executive Director stating the reasons for the disagreement in as specific detail as possible. A copy of the statement by the employee must be filed with the Human Resources Department. When signing the evaluation form, the employee may add "in disagreement" next to the employee's signature.

It is the responsibility of the Executive Director to ensure that the supervisors administer performance evaluations to all of their immediate subordinates within two months of each employee's anniversary date.

### **ARTICLE 22 - SAVINGS CLAUSE**

Should any article, section, or portion thereof, of this agreement be held unlawful and unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision of the Court shall apply only to the specific article, section or portion thereof, directly specified in the decision. Upon the issuance of such a decision, the parties agree immediately to negotiate a substitute, if possible, for the invalidated article, section or portion thereof.

### **ARTICLE 23 - TERMINATION**

This Agreement shall become effective upon execution, except as otherwise agreed (e.g. implementation of WFS) and shall remain in full force and effect through June 30, 2021, or the date of a subsequent agreement, whichever last occurs. This agreement shall be automatically renewed on July 1, 2021 and each year thereafter unless either party shall notify the other in writing no later than January 1, 2021, that it desires to either terminate or modify this agreement. In the event that notification of termination is given, it shall become effective thirty (30) days after the date the notice is received.

This Agreement may be amended at any time by mutual agreement of the Association and the Authority. Such amendments shall be in writing and signed by both parties.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have set their hand

this \_\_\_\_\_\_, 2019

FOR THE ASSOCIATION:

FOR THE AUTHORITY:

Bob Escudero, CCEA-HA President

Chair, Board of Commissioners for the Housing Authority of Clackamas County

Kevin Keaney, CCEA-HA Chief Negotiator Eric Sarha, Chief Negotiator

Don Miller, CCEA-HA Vice-President

Charles Robbins, Executive Director, Housing Authority

Joshua Teigen, Negotiating Team Member Krista Weatherford, Negotiating Team Member

Erin Kwasniewski, Negotiating Team Member

# Addendum 1

While the County is on the Four Day Work Week the terms of the October 2008 Four Day Work Week MOU shall remain in effect.

For Employees' Association

For Clackamas County



Evelyn Minor-Lawrence Director

DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN RESOURCES

PUBLIC SERVICES BUILDING 2051 Kaen Road | Oregon City, OR 97045

March 14, 2019

Board of County Commissioners Clackamas County

Members of the Board:

### Approval of the Labor Contract Between The County of Clackamas and the Clackamas County Employees' Association – Part-time/Temporary (CCEA-EAT)

Purpose/Outcomes	Settlement of labor contract
Dollar Amount and Fiscal Impact	\$ 1,703,936.60
Funding Source	General Fund
Duration	July 1, 2018 – June 30, 2021
Previous Board Action	February 7, 2019 – Executive Session
Strategic Plan Alignment	Build public trust through good government.
Contact Person	Eric Sarha, HR Deputy Director 503-655-8292
Contract No.	N/A

### BACKGROUND:

Clackamas County and CCEA entered into bargaining for a new contract on February 6, 2018. The County and CCEA held twelve (12) bargaining sessions and three (3) mediation sessions. On February 7, 2019, the County and CCEA reached full tentative agreement on a new three (3) year contract. On March 5, 2019, CCEA's ratification vote successfully passed.

The significant wage and other economic changes are outlined below:

#### Cost of Living Adjustment (COLA)

In years two and three, the floor of the cost of living increase was reduced from 2% to 0%. The ceiling remains the same.

- For fiscal year 2018-19, 2.8%. In lieu of retroactive pay, employees will receive a one-time lump sum payment based on gross earnings for the period of July 1, 2018 to the first full pay period after the effective date of ratification.
- For fiscal year 2019-20, 0%-4.5% based on CPI-W: West Urban Annual Average effective July 1, 2019. For fiscal year 2019-20 (year 2) the Index has published a 3.5% cost of living increase and has been factored into the fiscal impact.

• For fiscal year 2020-21, 0%-4.5% based on CPI-W: West Urban Annual Average effective July 1, 2020. *Projected 3.0% cost of living increase for year three has been assumed and factored into the fiscal impact.* 

### **Other Wage Increases**

- Bilingual Pay (new): When a second language is required as a condition for holding a
  particular position, employee will receive an additional 5% of base hourly rate to be added to
  employee's regular salary.
- Association Rights (new cap to County paid time): There shall be no more than twenty-five (25) Association representatives assigned to assist with the administration of CCEA-Main and the CCEA Part-time/Temporary Agreements. An Association representative or CCEA officer may use up to eighty (80) hours of County paid time per calendar year. (Cost included in CCEA-Main Impact Report)

### **RECOMMENDATION:**

Staff recommends the Board approve the attached contracts for the Clackamas County Employees' Association.

Respectfully submitted,

Evelyn Minor Lawrence, HR Director

# CLACKAMAS COUNTY EMPLOYEES' ASSOCIATION PART-TIME/TEMPORARY





# 2018-2021 AGREEMENT

# **Table of Contents**

PR	REAMBLE	3	
AF	ARTICLE 1 - RECOGNITION		
AF	RTICLE 2 - PRESERVATION OF PUBLIC RIGHTS	3	
AF	RTICLE 3 - UNION DUES	4	
AF	RTICLE 4 - ASSOCIATION RIGHTS	4	
1.	Access to Workers.	4	
2.	Notification to County.	4	
3.	Association Negotiators.	4	
4.	No Discrimination.	4	
5.	Electronic Mail.	5	
AF	RTICLE 5 - PAID TIME OFF	6	
1. F	Paid Time Off	6	
2. \$	Sick Leave	7	
AF	RTICLE 6- CLASSIFICATIONS	7	
1.	Regular Classifications.	7	
2.	Special Title Jobs.	7	
AF	RTICLE 7 - WAGES	8	
1.	General County and North Clackamas Parks and Recreation District (NCPRD).	8	
2.	General County Departments Merit Schedule and North Clackamas Parks and Recreation District (NCPRD).	8	
3.	North Clackamas Parks & Recreation District Work-Related Additional Certification Pay.	9	
4.	Overtime/Compensatory Time.	9	
5.	Bilingual Pay.	9	
6.	Juvenile Relief Worker, Juvenile Relief Worker, Lead and Juvenile Counselor 1 for the Juvenile Division.	9	
7.	Afterhours Mobile Crisis Services for Behavioral Health Crisis Program.	10	
AF	RTICLE 8 - DISCIPLINE	12	

AR	ARTICLE 9- SETTLEMENT OF DISPUTES 12		
1.	Grievance Procedure.	12	
AR	TICLE 10 - WORKERS' COMPENSATION	13	
AR	TICLE 11 - BENEFITS	13	
1.	Employee's Assistance Plan.	13	
2.	Retirement Contributions.	13	
AR	TICLE 12 - HOURS OF WORK	13	
1.	Work Schedules.	13	
2.	Meal and Rest Breaks.	13	
REST BREAK AND MEAL PERIODS REQUIRED BASED ON LENGTH OF WORK PERIOD (CHART TAKENFROM 13			
3.	Employee Reporting Expectations.	14	
AR	ARTICLE 13- DURATION OF EMPLOYMENT 14		
1.	Definitions.	14	
2.	Unallocated Employees Annual Work Hours Limits.	14	
AR	ARTICLE 14 - MISCELLANEOUS 16		
1.	Labor/Management.	16	
2.	Drug and Alcohol Testing.	16	
3.	Uniform Policy – NCP&RD Aquatic Park.	16	
4.	Over/Under Payments	16	
5.	Video Cameras and GPS Data.	17	
AR	TICLE 15 - SAVINGS CLAUSE	18	

### 2018-2021 AGREEMENT Between CLACKAMAS COUNTY AND CLACKAMAS COUNTY EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION – TEMPORARIES AND PART-TIME

### PREAMBLE

This agreement is entered into by Clackamas County, Oregon, hereinafter referred to as the County, and the Clackamas County Employees Association - Temporaries and Part-Time, hereinafter referred to as the Association.

The parties agree as follows:

### **ARTICLE 1 - RECOGNITION**

The County recognizes the Association as the exclusive bargaining agent for the purpose of establishing salaries, wages, hours and other conditions of employment for allocated employees (regular part-time employees working less than 18.75 hours per week for 37.5-hour schedules and 19.75 hours per week for 40-hour schedules), and unallocated employees that are employed in County departments and divisions which are covered by the general agreement between the Clackamas County Employees' Association -Temporaries and Part-Time, and Clackamas County. Please refer to Article 13 for duration of employment and work hours limitations. Said allocated and unallocated employees that are supervisory or confidential or are exempt employees or elected officials under the County's Personnel Ordinance are not covered by this agreement.

### **ARTICLE 2 - PRESERVATION OF PUBLIC RIGHTS**

The Association recognizes that an area of responsibility must be reserved to the County if County government is to effectively serve the public. Therefore, the County shall have the full and complete right to manage and direct its business and it is recognized that the following responsibilities of management are exclusively functions to be exercised by the County and are not subject to negotiation insofar as this right does not affect the meaning, interpretation or application of any other terms of this Agreement:

- 1. The determination of the governmental services to be rendered to the citizens of Clackamas County.
- 2. The determination of the County's financial, budgetary and accounting procedures.
- 3. The management and direction of the work force including, but not limited to, the right to determine the methods, processes and manner of performing work; the right to hire, promote, transfer within the same pay range and retain employees; the right to discipline or discharge for proper cause; the right to lay off for lack of funds; the right to establish or abolish positions or reorganize the departments or division; the right to determine schedules of work; the right to purchase, dispose and assign equipment or supplies, and the right to contract or subcontract any work.

# **ARTICLE 3 - UNION DUES**

1. All employees covered by the terms and conditions of this Agreement may become members of the Association. The County agrees to deduct dues in the amount determined by the Association from the wages of each employee who chooses to become a member of the Association and provides the County with written authorization to deduct dues. The County agrees to deposit the total amount deducted from all members into an established account designated by the Association, on a monthly basis.

2. The County will not be held liable for errors but will make proper adjustments with the Association for errors as soon as is practicable if notified within ten (10) days of the error. In no case shall such an adjustment extend beyond the following pay period. In order for both parties to have adequate information on dues, an updated list of eligible members who have union dues deducted from their pay will be delivered to the Association.

3. Association representatives shall be provided with a reasonable opportunity and fifteen (15) minutes of County paid time to inform new employees about the Association and to provide the new employee with a signature card in order to register for membership in the Association.

# **ARTICLE 4 - ASSOCIATION RIGHTS**

# 1. Access to Workers.

Authorized representatives of the Association may visit the work locations of employees covered by this agreement at reasonable times, provided that such visitations will not interfere with the work of the employees.

# 2. Notification to County.

The Association shall advise the County in writing of the names of employees who are serving as Association representatives and shall also designate the departments/program(s) the Association representative represents. The County shall recognize only employees designated as Association representatives, officers of the Clackamas County Employees' Association (CCEA), and the CCEA Service Representative as official representatives in the administration of this agreement. Said list shall be updated as necessary.

# 3. Association Negotiators.

Employees selected by the Association to act as Association representatives for the purpose of negotiating amendments or modifications to this agreement shall be employees so designated and shall be certified in writing to the County by the Association. The Negotiating Committee shall consist of two members, the CCEA President or their appointed representative, and a Chief Negotiator. All negotiation meetings with the Board of County Commissioners or its representatives shall be held during working hours, on the County's premises without loss of pay.

# 4. No Discrimination.

The provisions of this Agreement shall be applied equally to all employees in the bargaining unit without discrimination as to age, sex, marital status, race, color, creed, national origin, or political affiliation. The Association shall share equally with the County the responsibility for applying this provision of the Agreement. The County agrees not to interfere with the rights of employees to become members of the Association, and there shall be no discrimination, interference, restraint, or coercion by the County, or any County representative against any employee because of

Association membership or because of any employee activity in an official capacity on behalf of the Association, or for any other cause. Nothing in this section shall be construed to limit the County's right to effectively and efficiently run the County's operations.

## 5. Electronic Mail.

a. Association representatives (those persons holding positions as officers within the Association) may use the County email system to communicate concerning collective bargaining matters.

- b. "Collective bargaining matters" means any of the following:
  - 1. official Association announcements to the Association membership (such as meeting subjects, dates and times);
  - 2. the meaning, interpretation or application of this Agreement;
  - 3. the presentation and adjustment of grievances under Article 9 of this Agreement;
  - 4. matters directly related to the collective bargaining relationship between the County and the Association.

c. Association members may use the County email system to contact Association representatives regarding collective bargaining matters, including any of the following purposes:

- 1. to arrange a date, time and location for a meeting concerning the meaning, interpretation or application of this Agreement;
- 2. to ask a question regarding meaning, interpretation, or application of this Agreement;
- to present a grievance regarding the meaning, interpretation or application of this Agreement;
- 4. to request Association representation in matters concerning the meaning, application or interpretation of this Agreement.

d. It is understood that there is no expectation of confidentiality or privacy concerning communications sent over the County email system, and that the County reserves the right to access and disclose all messages sent over the County email system for any purpose.

e. The County email system will not be used for political purposes at any time, and this limitation shall override any of the permissible uses of the email system listed above. "Political purposes"

shall include matters related to support or opposition to candidates or measures in any election (County elections, union officer candidate elections, or otherwise).

### 1. Paid Time Off

### **ARTICLE 5 - PAID TIME OFF**

- a. Employees may earn a bank of 28 hours per year under the following criteria:
  - i.The employee must be employed continuously for two years with no breaks in service.
    - ii. The employee must have worked at least 520 hours during the last year.
    - iii. The employee will be credited with a 28 hour paid time off bank beginning the first of the calendar year following the year that the employee has met the requirements one and two listed above.
    - iv. There is no accumulation of hours that may be carried from one calendar year to another.
    - v. This paid time off can be used for sick, vacation, holiday, or bereavement leave.
    - vi. The employee will be paid for any paid time the employee has not used if that employee is laid off or terminated during the fiscal year.
- b. Employees may earn a bank of 52 hours per year under the following criteria:
   i.The employee must be employed continuously for six years with no breaks in service.
  - ii. The employee must have worked at least 520 hours during the last year.
  - iii. The employee will be credited with a 52 hour paid time off bank beginning the first of the calendar year following the year that the employee has met the requirements one and two listed above.
  - iv. There is no accumulation of hours that may be carried from one calendar year to another.
  - v. This paid time off can be used for sick, vacation, holiday, or bereavement leave.
  - vi. The employee will be paid for any paid time the employee has not used if that employee is laid off or terminated during the fiscal year.
- c. Employees may earn a bank of 64 hours per year under the following criteria:
  - i. The employee must be employed continuously for nine years with no breaks in service.
  - ii. The employee must have worked at least 520 hours during the last year.
  - iii. The employee will be credited with a 64 hour paid time off bank beginning the first of the calendar year following the year that the employee has met the requirements one and two listed above.
  - iv. There is no accumulation of hours that may be carried from one calendar year to another.
  - v. This paid time off can be used for sick, vacation, holiday, or bereavement leave.

- vi. The employee will be paid for any paid time the employee has not used if that employee is laid off or terminated during the fiscal year.
- d. Employees may earn a bank of 76 hours per year under the following criteria:
  - i. The employee must be employed continuously for twelve years with no breaks in service.
  - ii. The employee must have worked at least 520 hours during the last year.
  - iii. The employee will be credited with a 76 hour paid time off bank beginning the first of the calendar year following the year that the employee has met the requirements one and two listed above.
  - iv. There is no accumulation of hours that may be carried from one calendar year to another.
  - v. This paid time off can be used for sick, vacation, holiday, or bereavement leave.
  - vi. The employee will be paid for any paid time the employee has not used if that employee is laid off or terminated during the fiscal year.

### 2. Sick Leave

- a) Effective January 1, 2016, the County will provide sick leave benefits to allocated (regular part-time employees working less than 18.75 hours per week for 37.5-hour schedules and 19.75 hours per week for 40-hour schedules) and unallocated employees.
- b) Employees will accrue one (1) hour of sick leave for every thirty (30) hours worked with a maximum accrual of eighty (80) hours per year.
- c) Employees may use sick leave in the event of illness or to care for a member of the employee's immediate family who is ill.
- d) Employees may take up to forty (40) hours of sick leave in a calendar year.
- e) Employees who separate from County employment and are rehired within 180 days will have their sick days restored upon rehire.

# ARTICLE 6- CLASSIFICATIONS

### 1. Regular Classifications.

When new classifications are created or adjustments are made to existing salary grades or steps for regular Employees' Association classifications, these changes will automatically be implemented for the Part-Time/Temporary contract when there is an agreement. These changes will be implemented for the Part-Time/Temporary employees the first of the month after the Board of County Commissioners approve the new classification or grade change.

### 2. Special Title Jobs.

The Association will approve any new special title jobs that need to be created. These new special title jobs will be implemented for the Part-Time/Temporary employees the first of the next month following approval from the Association.

# ARTICLE 7 - WAGES

### 1. General County and North Clackamas Parks and Recreation District (NCPRD).

After ratification by both parties, employees shall receive a 2.8% cost of living increase effective the first day of the pay period after the ratification date. In lieu of retroactive pay, employees shall receive a lump sum payment based on an employee's gross pay earnings (base pay, overtime, longevity and incentives) from July 1, 2018. The lump sum payment would appear in the paycheck 3 full pay periods after the effective date of the cost of living.

Effective July 1, 2019, employees shall receive a cost of living increase equal to the percentage increase in the US Consumer Price Index, CPI-W: West Urban Annual Average, as reported by the U.S. Department of Labor, with a minimum of 0% and a maximum of 4.5%.

Effective July 1, 2020, employees shall receive a cost of living increase equal to the percentage increase in the US Consumer Price Index, CPI-W: West Urban Annual Average, as reported by the U.S. Department of Labor, with a minimum of 0% and a maximum of 4.5%.

All less than half time regular part time employees and temporary employees in regular classifications in general-county positions will be paid at the same salary schedule as the regular Employees Associations counterparts.

# 2. General County Departments Merit Schedule and North Clackamas Parks and Recreation District (NCPRD).

This is a merit increase schedule based on two full years of employment with no breaks in service. Employee must be evaluated as demonstrating satisfactory performance of duties every two years in order to receive increase to next available step. It is effective July 1, 2000.

The first two-year period will start July 1, 2000. However, if an employee can demonstrate no break in service and have worked a regular schedule or all hours offered from July 1, 1998 to July 1, 2000, they are immediately eligible for this merit increase. Employees are eligible for additional merit reviews within their job's salary grade after every two years of employment with no break in service following their last merit review.

For NCPRD employees, the first two-year period will start January 1, 2015. Employees who have worked since January 1, 2015 with no break in service shall be eligible for a merit review effective January 1, 2017. Employees are eligible for additional merit reviews within their job's salary grade every two years of employment with no break in service following their last merit review.

Current Juvenile Counselor 1's who are on-call relief temporaries in salary grade EAT 20, will not be eligible for merit increases until such time as the Juvenile Relief Worker and/or Juvenile Relief Worker, Lead steps fall within their current salary grade.

Effective July 1, 2013, salary grades will no longer identify steps/pay rates Salary grades will identify a pay range to include a minimum pay rate (previously Step 1), midpoint pay rate, and a maximum pay rate (previously Step 6). Employee's classifications, salary grades, and pay rates will not change. Employees are eligible for additional merit reviews within their job's salary grade after every two years of employment with no break in service following their last merit review. Merit increase shall be 3.5%

# 3. North Clackamas Parks & Recreation District Work-Related Additional Certification Pay.

Employees are responsible for maintaining their own current certifications. The District shallpay for the cost of renewal of certifications (CPR/PR, Lifeguard, Foodhandlers) for current employees when it is required for their current job. Inservice training for the purpose of renewal will be done on the North Clackamas Park and Recreation District's time when possible. If an employee is unable to attend a scheduled in-service training for the purpose of renewal, that employee will be responsible for obtaining the information on the employee's own time. Additional books or materials are the responsibility of each individual staff member.

# 4. Overtime/Compensatory Time.

The parties agree that all references to overtime or compensatory time pay shall be based on the scheduled hours of work for the affected employee. Employees normally scheduled for 37.5 hours per week, all work in excess of 7.5 hours per day or 37.5 hours per week shall be compensated at the overtime rate; for employees normally scheduled for 8 hours per day and five days per week, all work in excess of 8 hours per day or forty hours per week shall be compensated at the overtime rate; and in the case of employees normally scheduled to work ten hours per day and four days per week, all work in excess of 10 hours per day or forty hours per week shall be compensated at the overtime rate.

Employees in the classification of Dentist, Psychiatrist and Public Health Physician would be exempt from all overtime payments per Fair Labor Standards Act regulations. However, these employees will receive straight hour-for-hour pay for hours worked.

Employees covered by this contract may accrue up to 40 hours of compensatory time with the approval of the department head.

### 5. Bilingual Pay.

When an employee is required to use a second (or more) language, including American Sign Language (ASL), as a condition for holding a particular position in a classification that does not include a second language as an essential requirement, the employee will receive 5% of their base hourly rate which will be added to the employee's regular pay. The term "Required Use" shall be documented on the Personnel Action form. The Personnel Action form will be returned with a "Certification of Bilingual Requirement" form to Department of Human Resources.

When an employee is authorized by their supervisor to utilize their bilingual skills in a sporadic nature, the employee will receive an additional 5% of their base hourly rate for actual time, rounded up to the nearest hour, performing bilingual duties.

# 6. Juvenile Relief Worker, Juvenile Relief Worker, Lead and Juvenile Counselor 1 for the Juvenile Division.

The Juvenile Relief Worker is an entry level on call position established to provide 24-hour coverage at the Juvenile Intake and Assessment Center. The Relief Worker position covers vacations or sick hours and has no regular scheduled hours.

The Juvenile Relief Worker Lead performs some of the duties of the Juvenile Counselor 1 such as accepting custody of the youth from police, assessing the medical, emotional, or crisis needs of the youth, and answering emergency/crisis phone calls. The Juvenile Relief Worker, Lead would be used when the employee is required to act as a primary lead shift worker when a regular staff

member is not available. However, the Juvenile Relief Worker Lead does not manage a caseload or have overall responsibility for the work shift.

Current Juvenile Relief Workers hired prior to July 1, 2000 will be paid at the same range as a Juvenile Counselor I. Juvenile Relief Workers hired after July 1, 2000 will be paid at the current rates for Juvenile Relief Worker and Juvenile Relief Worker, Lead. When two (2) or more Juvenile Relief Worker Lead employees are working the same shift, no premium shall be paid.

Juvenile Counselor 1's who are on-call relief temporaries will not be eligible for merit increases until such time the Juvenile Relief Worker's and/or Juvenile Relief Worker-Lead's compensation steps fall within their classification's current salary grade.

a. Lead Worker Criteria: The JRC Supervisor will decide who is qualified to be designated as a Juvenile Relief Worker, Lead.

b. Monthly Scheduling: When the Division is establishing the monthly schedule, employees will be called in order of hire-date seniority to choose shifts for that month's schedule. Every attempt will be made by the Division to schedule each employee for at least one shift a month. During this scheduling, employees will also notify the Division on availability for on-call shifts for sick coverage. Employees will then be called for sick coverage shifts based on availability notification.

# 7. Afterhours Mobile Crisis Services for Behavioral Health Crisis Program.

Clackamas County is required by Oregon Administrative Rule (OAR) to provide 24-hour Mobile Crisis Services to the residents of Clackamas County. OAR 309-019-0100 defines Mobile Crisis Services as: "mental health services for individuals in crisis provided by mental health practitioners who respond to behavioral health crises onsite at the location in the community where the crisis arises and who provide a face-to-face therapeutic response" with the goal of avoiding "unnecessary hospitalization, inpatient psychiatric treatment, involuntary commitment and arrest or incarceration. OAR 309-019-0151 and 309-019-0152 outline response time, service provision and reporting requirements. Mobile Crisis Services may be provided by a QMHP [Qualified Mental Health Professional as defined in OAR 309-019-0125 (9)] or a QMHA [Qualified Mental Health Associate as defined in OAR 309-019-0125 (8)] under the supervision of a Qualified Mental Health Professional.

The provisions of this Section apply to on-call status and work performed while on-call <u>after</u> the employee's regular workday shift ends, including holidays and weekends. It is acknowledged that this is in addition to their regular workday's responsibilities and employees designated on an on-call shift are required to answer any calls/pages. It is recognized that the County may contract with other than County employees for any such shifts.

Qualified Behavioral Health Division employees may volunteer for these shifts. The Mental Health Program Manager will choose the most qualified clinicians from the volunteer pool. Assignments from the volunteer pool will be based on the Manager's discretion, not on seniority. It is recognized that management has the right to assign on-call duties to qualified Behavioral Health Division staff.

# A. <u>SHIFTS:</u>

1. THE WEEKDAY SHIFT begins at 6:30 p.m. Sunday through Thursday and ends at 8:30 a.m. of the following day.

2. THE WEEKEND FRIDAY shift begins on Friday at 6:30 p.m. and ends at 6:30 p.m. on Saturday.

3. THE WEEKEND SATURDAY shift begins on Saturday at 6:30 p.m. and ends at 6:30 p.m. on Sunday.

Employees may split this weekend shift among themselves with the approval of their supervisor, provided that the total cost of the weekend shift cannot exceed what it would cost for one employee to take the shift.

4. A HOLIDAY SHIFT will begin at 6:30 pm on the evening before any holiday recognized and observed by the County and end at 6:30 pm the following day.

5. A HOLIDAY CLOSING SHIFT begins at 6:30 pm the evening of any holiday recognized and observed by the County and ends at 8:30 am the following day. For the purpose of After-Hours Mobile Crisis coverage, the following shall be considered Holiday closing shifts:

- New Year's Day (the shift beginning at 6:30 pm on January 1st)
- Martin Luther King's birthday (the shift beginning at 6:30 pm on the third Monday of January)
- President's Day (the shift beginning at 6:30 pm on the third Monday in February)
- Memorial Day (the shift beginning at 6:30 pm on the last Monday in May)
- Independence Day (the shift beginning at 6:30 pm on July 4<sup>rd</sup>)
- Labor Day (the shift beginning at 6:30 pm on the first Monday in September)
- Veteran's Day (the shift beginning at 6:30 pm on November 11<sup>th</sup>)
- Thanksgiving Day (the shift beginning at 6:30 pm on the fourth Thursday in November)
- Christmas Day (the shift beginning at 6:30 pm on December 25th)
- B. <u>COMPENSATION:</u> After Hours assignments will be paid as follows:
  - 1. Weekday Shift: Three (3) hours of straight time for carrying a phone/pager and/or laptop for the shift. In addition, time and one-half for any hours actually worked triaging or conducting a mobile crisis response in the community.
  - 2. Holiday Shift: Eight (8) hours straight time pay for carrying a phone/pager and/or laptop. In addition, time and one-half for any hours actually worked triaging or conducting a mobile crisis response in the community.
  - 3. Holiday Closing Shift: Five (5) Eight (8) hours of straight time for carrying a phone/pager and/or laptop. In addition, time and one-half for any hours actually worked triaging or conducting a mobile crisis response in the community
  - 4. Weekend Shifts (Fridays and Saturdays): Five (5) hours straight time for carrying a phone/pager and/or laptop. In addition, time and a half for any hours actually worked triaging or conducting a mobile crisis response in the community.
  - 5. A QMHP classified as a Case Manager in their regular county position and who performs After Hours Mobile Crisis Services, will be placed Temporarily Out of Class as a Mental Health Specialist 1. Compensation during the Temporary Out of Class period shall include 5% of base salary added to the employee's regular rate or the beginning of the range for Mental Health Specialist 1, whichever is higher.

6. Mileage will be paid at the current County Travel Policy rate per mile for reimbursement of personal auto expense where required in an employee's regular work.

Time spent carrying a phone/pager and/or laptop when not actually responding to a call shall be considered on-call time, and shall not be considered time worked. Time spent responding to client emergencies, whether on the phone or while providing mobile crisis response, and travel time to such sites shall be considered time worked. Employees whose regular shifts overlap with their on-call shift will be paid as a regular employee until their regular shift ends in the evening, or when their shift begins in the morning. After-hours mobile crisis staff may elect to forgo mileage reimbursement and drive a county car to the site of the mobile crisis response but must be able to retrieve the county car and respond to the crisis within the response time requirement.

### C. <u>RESPONSE TIME REQUIREMENTS:</u>

- 1. On-call staff are expected to respond to phone requests for mobile crisis service within 10 minutes of being paged.
- 2. On-call staff are expected to prioritize requests for mobile crisis over non-emergent personal schedule conflicts and to respond to requests for mobile crisis as soon as is practical.
- 3. On-call staff are expected to respond on-site with a mobile crisis response within timelines consistent with OAR 309-019-0151, if not sooner. If unable to respond as outlined in statue, an explanation for the barrier in meeting that response time will be provided to the appropriate supervisor by the following day.

## **ARTICLE 8 - DISCIPLINE**

If the County has reason to counsel, reprimand or discuss an employee's need to correct deficiencies, every reasonable effort will be made to accomplish this in a manner that will not embarrass the employee before other employees or the public

All documented discipline shall be signed by the appropriate manager.

# **ARTICLE 9- SETTLEMENT OF DISPUTES**

### 1. Grievance Procedure.

Any grievance or dispute which may arise between the parties involving the application, meaning or interpretation of this Agreement, except oral reprimands, shall be settled in the following manner:

STEP 1. An Association representative, with or without the employee, may take up the grievance or dispute with the employee's divisional supervisor within ten (10) working days of its occurrence. The divisional supervisor, an Association representative, and the employee, shall meet within seven (7) working days of the appeal to Step 1 to discuss the grievance. If the grievance remains unresolved, the department head shall respond to the grievance within seven (7) working days.

STEP 2. If the grievance has not been settled, it may be presented in writing by the Association representative, or the Association grievance committee, to the department head within seven (7) working days after the divisional supervisor's response is due. The department head, an Association representative, and the employee, shall meet within seven (7) working days of the appeal to Step 2 to discuss the grievance. If the grievance remains unresolved, the department head shall respond to the grievance within seven (7) working days.

The grievance procedure ends at this step.

2. "Working days" for the purposes of this article shall be defined as Monday through Thursday excluding holidays recognized and observed by the County.

3. Step I may be skipped by mutual agreement.

4. When an employee voluntarily separates from County employment, all pending grievances filed on behalf of such employee shall be considered withdrawn with prejudice.

# **ARTICLE 10 - WORKERS' COMPENSATION**

All part-time and temporary employees covered by this Agreement will be insured underprovisions of the Oregon State Workers' Compensation Act for injuries and illness as defined in the Act.

# **ARTICLE 11 - BENEFITS**

Except as otherwise provided herein or by County policy, part-time and temporary employees are not provided benefits such as layoff and recall, holidays, sick leave, vacation leave or medical/dental coverage.

# 1. Employee's Assistance Plan.

Full Employee's Assistance benefits are available to all employees. The County will provide EAP services through the selected provider.

# 2. Retirement Contributions.

PERS eligibility is subject to ORS 238.015. The County agrees to pay employee's share of the contribution on behalf of employees as set by Oregon Legislature.

In the event that during the life of this agreement it becomes impossible for reasons of law, regulation, or decisions for the County to pay the six percent (6%) employee contribution to PERS, then that sum shall be contributed on behalf of the employee to a retirement benefit, such as a state retirement account, County deferred compensation plan, or other individual retirement transitional account. The intent of the parties is that the employees will be made whole in terms of the six percent (6%) retirement contribution by the County.

# **ARTICLE 12 - HOURS OF WORK**

# 1. Work Schedules.

Employees in this group shall be employed in work schedules consistent with the needs of the County. Regular work schedules may be arranged with approval of management.

# 2. Meal and Rest Breaks.

A minimum of one fifteen (15) minute break shall be taken if an employee works greater than 2 hours at the mid-point of their shift. One fifteen (15)-minute break shall be taken at the approximate mid-point of both the first half and the second half of the shift. Two fifteen (15)-minute breaks shall be provided for each shift greater than six hours. A minimum of a one-half-hour unpaid lunch break shall be taken at the approximate mid-point of the shift if an employee works a minimum of six hours.

**Rest Break and Meal Periods Required Based on Length of Work Period** (chart taken from Bureau of Labor and Industries -OAR 839-020-0050)

Length of work period	Number of rest breaks required	Number of meal periods required
2 hrs or less	0	0
2 hrs, 1 min-5 hrs, 59 mins	1	0
6 hrs	1	1
6 hrs, 1 min-10 hrs	2	1
10 hrs, 1 min-13 hrs 59 mins	3	1

# 3. Employee Reporting Expectations.

The County anticipates needing every available employee to effectively respond to the impact of a declared major emergency or disaster, whether it strikes during normal work hours, at night, on a weekend or a holiday. In a major emergency or disaster, employees should be prepared to report for work at any time and can expect to work non-regular extended hours under challenging conditions. Employees may be asked to temporarily perform work that is not normally in their regular classification.

If the major emergency or disaster occurs during non-work hours, employees are expected to ensure the safety and welfare of their families. If the employees are available for work, they should make every effort to contact their supervisor for reporting instructions. Employees can also check the Employee Hotline at 503.655.8468. If unable to establish contact with a department representative, employees should assume they are needed and report to the Public Service Building (PSB) or other reporting station as identified on the Employee Hotline as soon as practical.

If the major emergency or disaster occurs during work hours, employees are expected to remain on the job unless specifically released by their supervisor. The County will assist in checking on the status of immediate family members of on-duty-employees and report that status to the employee.

Employees will be compensated for hours worked as provided in Article 7. Wages.

# **ARTICLE 13- DURATION OF EMPLOYMENT**

### 1. Definitions.

<u>Allocated employees</u>: Allocated employees are those employees that occupy a regular budgeted position and work less than 18.75 hours for 37.5 hour schedules and 19.75 for 40 hour schedules. These employees are also known as regular less than 1/2 time part-time employees. These employees are limited to working 975 hours per calendar year for 37.5 hour schedules and 1027 hours per calendar year for 40 hour schedules.

<u>Unallocated employees</u>: Unallocated employees are those employees who do not occupy a regular budgeted position.

# 2. Unallocated Employees Annual Work Hours Limits.

Unallocated employees are limited to working 1502.5 hours for employees in positions normally worked 37.5 hours per week on a full time equivalent or 1600 for employees in positions normally

worked 40 hours per week on a full time equivalent in a twelve month period based on the County's Affordable Care Act (ACA) look back period of November 1 through October 31 and every twelve months thereafter. When an unallocated employee has used the allotted amount of hours for their cycle, they will be terminated. Unallocated employees who have been terminated due to exhausting their annual allotment of hours cannot be rehired until after the following November 1st. Work hours will be calculated based on the ACA look back cycle and include regular and overtime hours worked.

Transitioning to the new period: All unallocated employees will start their work year over on November 1<sup>st</sup>, 2018.

# **ARTICLE 14 - MISCELLANEOUS**

# 1. Labor/Management.

The County and the Association have agreed to form a labor management committee with the following guidelines:

a. <u>Membership</u>. The parties agree to the establishment of a joint labor management committee. The committee will be comprised of two temporary or part-time members and one alternate representing the Association and two representatives and one alternate representing the County.

b. <u>Meeting Time</u>. The committee shall meet at least once each quarter if there are agenda items and upon agreement may meet at any other time. Each party will submit items for the agenda at least three days prior to the scheduled date of the meeting.

c. <u>Purpose</u>. The committee is a vehicle for communication and will have as its purpose, the promotion of harmonious labor/management relations.

# 2. Drug and Alcohol Testing.

The County and the union agree to jointly develop and implement a drug and alcohol testing program for employees involved in life/safety activities in the Aquatics Park of the North Clackamas Parks and Recreation District. The labor and management committee will develop the standards for this program.

# 3. Uniform Policy – NCP&RD Aquatic Park.

- a. Part time temporary lifeguards will receive one (1) guard swim suit. If the employee chooses to obtain additional swim suits, they may purchase them at cost.
- b. Swim Instructors will receive one (1) instructor swim suit. If employees choose to obtain additional swim suits, they may purchase them at cost.
- c. Dry employees will receive one (1) staff shirt. If the employee chooses to obtain additional staff shirts, they may purchase them at cost.
- d. Uniform standards (cleanliness, condition) will be determined by management. In the event that uniforms are damaged at work by accident, the North Clackamas Parks and Recreation District will replace the uniform at no additional cost.

# 4. Over/Under Payments

Any employee receiving unauthorized payments has the obligation to call such error to the attention of their supervisor.

### A. Underpayments

When an error occurs resulting in a negative impact on the employee, upon notification by the employee, in writing to the Payroll Manager, and verification by the payroll division, payment in correction of the error shall be made in the employee's paycheck for the current pay period.

### B. Payments in Error

When an employee receives payments due to a clerical, technical, or computer error, through no fault of the employee and where the employee did not and could not reasonably have known that

the error occurred, the employee will only be liable for, and the County shall only recover, the overpayment for a period of one-hundred and eight (180) days preceding the date of discovery of the error. If the discovery of the error is made by the employee who notifies the Payroll Manager in writing within ten (10) working days of discovery of the error that they believe their pay is incorrect and the County does not subsequently make a correction to stop the overpayment by the next payroll period after notification, the employee will not be liable for additional overpayments that occur following the date of notification.

C. Repayment to the County

As soon as the overpayment is known, the County will make every effort to recover overpayments by payroll deduction over a reasonable period of time.

- 1. The County Payroll Supervisor shall notify the employee in writing of the overpayment which will include information supporting that an overpayment exists, and the amount of wages and/or benefits to be repaid. For purposes of recovering the overpayments by payroll deduction, the following shall apply:
- 2. The employee and the County shall meet and attempt to reach mutual agreement on a repayment schedule within thirty (30) calendar days following the written notification.
- 3. If there is not mutual agreement at the end of thirty (30) calendar days, the County shall implement the repayment schedule stated in subsection (7) below.
- 4. If the overpayment amount to be repaid is more than twenty-five (\$25) dollars, the overpayment shall be recovered in amounts not to exceed twenty-five (\$25) dollars per payroll period. The employee may elect a higher repayment amount. If an overpayment is less than twenty-five (\$25) dollars, the overpayment shall be recovered in a lump sum deduction from the employee's paycheck.
- 5. An employee who has a factual disagreement with the County's determination that the overpayment has been made to the employee may grieve the determination through the grievance procedure.
- 6. This article/section does not waive the County's right to pursue other legal procedures and processes to recoup an overpayment made to former employees.
- 7. Employees can elect to either establish a payment plan through payroll deductions as described under 14(C)(4) or may elect to pay overpayment in one lump sum. In the event the employee chooses to make a lump sum payment to the County, the County will adjust the amount owed for any tax paid, and will reduce the amount of employees' wages for the year on the employee's W-2 form by the amount repaid.

# 5. Video Cameras and GPS Data.

- A. Video camera recordings and/or GPS data may be accessed, reviewed and preserved as by the County for business reasons. Video recordings and GPS data will not be used for yearly performance evaluations, unless disciplinary action has been imposed from evidence derived from a specific video recording and/or GPS data. In the event the County elects to review video and/or GPS data as part of an investigation, the County shall notify the Association and provide the Association with an opportunity to view the video and/or GPS data.
- B. In the event information revealed on camera and/or GPS data raises concerns regarding employee conduct, the County will retain the video recording and/or GPS data and agrees to provide a copy of the recording and/or GPS data to the Association and the employee in advance of any pre-disciplinary meetings.

# **ARTICLE 15 - SAVINGS CLAUSE**

Should any Article, Section, or portion thereof, of this Agreement be held unlawful and unenforceable by any Court of competent jurisdiction, such decision of the Court shall apply onlyto the specific Article, Section or portion thereof, directly specified in the decision; upon the issuance of such a decision, the parties agree immediately to negotiate a substitute, if possible, for the invalidated Article, Section or portion thereof.

### **ARTICLE16 - TERMINATION**

1. This Agreement shall become effective July 1, 2018 or upon ratification, whichever occurs later, except as otherwise agreed, and shall remain in full force and effect through June 30, 2021, or the date of signing a subsequent Agreement, whichever last occurs. This agreement shall be automatically renewed on July 1, 2021, and each year thereafter unless either party shall notify the other in writing no later than January 1st that it desires to either terminate or modify this Agreement. In the event notice to modify is given, negotiations shall begin no later than February 1st. In the event that notification of termination is given, it shall become effective thirty (30) days after the date of notice is received.

2. This Agreement may be amended at any time by mutual agreement of the Association and County; such amendments shall be in writing and signed by both parties.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have set their hands this day of, <u>2021</u>.

For the Association - Temporaries & Part-Time:	For the County:
Bob Escudero, CCEA President	Chair, Board of County Commissioners
Kevin Keaney, Chief Negotiator	Eric Sarha, Chief Negotiator
Karen Hedden, Negotiating Team Member	Deborah Cockrell, Negotiating Team Member

Johanna Johnson, Negotiating Team Member

Maria Magallon, Negotiating Team Member Brian Imdieke, Negotiating Team Member

Vicky Anderson, Negotiating Team Member

Krista Weatherford, Negotiating Team Member

Gary Schmidt, Negotiating Team Member